FY 2024 Room, Board and Watchful Oversight

Minimum Standards for Child Placing Agencies, Child Caring Institutions and Independent Living Programs

The FY 2024 RBWO Minimum Standards are effective July 1, 2023.

The Office of Provider Management recognizes that certain standards will require time for providers to come into full compliance. For example, providers may need planning time to create new policies or protocols. New standards only apply to new placements starting after August 1st. Please be assured that all reasonable allowances will be made during monitoring reviews and support provided to ensure that providers understand and can adhere to the standards, particularly newly created or revised standards.

Thank you for your continued service to children and families.

Please direct any questions, comments or requests for technical assistance to the appropriate OPM Monitoring Team Manager. A staff contact list is located in the Appendix.

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION TO RBWO MINIMUM STANDARDS	5
<u>SAFETY</u>	7
STANDARD 1: SAFETY OF CHILDREN IN CARE	7
STANDARD 2: SAFE AND APPROPRIATE BEHAVIOR MANAGEMENT	11
QUALITY OF CARE	16
STANDARD 3: COMPREHENSIVE AND FAMILY-CENTERED SERVICES	16
STANDARD 4: APPROPRIATENESS OF ADMISSIONS	18
STANDARD 5: PLACEMENT STABILITY	22
STANDARD 6: MEETING WELL-BEING NEEDS	
STANDARD 7: LEAST RESTRICTIVE AND MOST APPROPRIATE PLACEMENTS	
PERMANENCY SUPPORT	31
STANDARD 8: ACHIEVING PERMANENCY	31
STANDARD 9: PLANNED DISCHARGES AND CONTINUITY OF CARE	32
STANDARD 10: PREPARATION FOR INDEPENDENT LIVING	32
FAMILY FOSTER HOMES	
STANDARD 11: CPA FAMILY FOSTER HOMES MEET DFCS MINIMUM STANDARDS	34
CHILD CARING INSTITUTIONS	
STANDARD 12: CHILD CARING INSTITUTIONS	
GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS	
STANDARD 13: PROVIDER OPERATIONS	45
INDEPENDENT LIVING AND TRANSITIONAL LIVING PROGRAMS	51
TRANSITIONAL LIVING MINIMUM STANDARDS	54
STANDARD 14: TLP ADMISSIONS	54
STANDARD 15: TLP SUPERVISION AND INDEPENDENCE	54
STANDARD 16: TRANSITIONAL INDEPENDENT LIVING SKILL BUILDING	55
STANDARD 17: PERMANENCY PLANNING	56
STANDARD 18: LIFE COACHING	57
STANDARD 19: TLP OUTCOME MEASURES	57
STANDARD 20: TLP HOUSING OPTIONS	
INDEPENDENT LIVING PROGRAM MINIMUM STANDARDS	58
STANDARD 21: PRE-PLACEMENT ASSESSMENT	59
STANDARD 22: GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS	64
STANDARD 23: HEALTH CARE MANAGEMENT	66
STANDARD 24: ILP SUPERVISION AND INDEPENDENCE	72
STANDARD 25: INDEPENDENT LIVING SKILL BUILDING	74
STANDARD 26: COMMUNITY CONNECTIONS	76
STANDARD 27: HOME MANAGEMENT/PERSONAL HYGIENE	76
STANDARD 28: LIFE COACHING	77
MATERNITY AND PARENTING SUPPORT PROGRAMS	78

MATERNITY PROGRAM MINIMUM STANDARDS	79
STANDARD 29: MP ADMISSIONS	79
STANDARD 30: MP SUPERVISION AND OVERSIGHT	80
STANDARD 31: MP STAFF AND CAREGIVER REQUIREMENTS	80
STANDARD 32: MP STAFF TRAINING	81
STANDARD 33: MP PARENTING PREPARATION & LIFE SKILLS PLAN	822
STANDARD 34: MP MEDICAL SERVICES	83
STANDARD 35: MP LIFE COACHING.	85
STANDARD 36: MATERNITY PROGRAM OUTCOME MEASURES	86
PARENTING SUPPORT PROGRAM MINIMUM STANDARDS	86
STANDARD 37: PSP ADMISSIONS	86
STANDARD 38: PSP SUPERVISION AND OVERSIGHT	86
STANDARD 39: PSP STAFF AND CAREGIVER REQUIREMENTS	87
STANDARD 40: PSP STAFF TRAINING	88
STANDARD 41: PSP PARENTING PREPARATION & LIFE SKILLS PLAN	899
STANDARD 42: PSP MEDICAL SERVICES	90
STANDARD 43: PSP LIFE COACHING	92
STANDARD 44: PARENTING SUPPORT PROGRAM OUTCOME MEASURES	
CPA: PREGNANT AND/OR PARENTING YOUTH PLACEMENT	93
STANDARD 45: CHILD PLACING AGENCY FOSTER HOMES	93
MEDICALLY FRAGILE PLACEMENTS	94
STANDARD 46: MF ADMISSIONS	95
STANDARD 47: SAFETY AND SUPERVISION	
STANDARD 48: EDUCATION	
STANDARD 49: TRAINING	
PROGRAM DESIGNATIONS	
TRADITIONAL (CPA) OR BASE-BWO (CCI) CARE:	
BASE-BWO (CPA) OR ADDITIONAL WATCHFUL OVERSIGHT- AWO (CCI):	
MAXIMUM WATCHFUL OVERSIGHT- MWO (CPA & CCI)	
SPECIALTY BASE WATCHFUL OVERSIGHT- SBWO (CPA)	
SPECIALTY MAXIMUM WATCHFUL OVERSIGHT- SMWO (CPA)	
SPECIALTY MEDICALLY FRAGILE WATCHFUL OVERSIGHT-SMFWO (CPA)	
MATERNITY HOMES & PARENT SUPPORT PROGRAMS (SECOND CHANCE HOMES:	
<u>CAMP:</u>	104
TRANSITIONAL LIVING:	104
DESCRIPTION OF PROGRAM TYPES	104
CHILD CARING INSTITUTION (CCI).	104
PARENTING SUPPORT PROGRAM (SECOND CHANCE HOME) PSP	105
MATERNITY HOME (MH)	105
CHILDREN'S TRANSITION CARE CENTER (CTCC)	
OUTDOOR CHILD CARING PROGRAM - "SPECIALTY" CAMP (OCCP)	
INDEPENDENT LIVING PROGRAM:	
TRANSITIONAL LIVING PROGRAM:	
CHILD PLACING AGENCY (CPA)	106

CPA STAFFING STANDARDS	106
CCI STAFFING STANDARDS	108
ILP STAFFING STANDARDS	112
<u>APPENDIX</u>	114
APPENDIX A – DEFINITIONS	115
APPENDIX B – INDIVIDUAL SERVICE PLAN (ISP) CHECKLIST	120
APPENDIX C – INTERNET RESOURCES	121
APPENDIX D – RBWO PROGRAM DESIGNATION AND WAIVER APPLICATIONS	122
APPENDIX-E — GRIEVANCE AND APPEALS PROCESS	122
APPENDIX F – OPM STAFF CONTACT LIST	126
APPENDIX G -CARE COORDINATION TREATMENT UNIT (FORMERLY PRO) STAFF CONTACT LIST	128
APPENDIX H – INDEPENDENT LIVING PROGRAM (ILP) STAFF DIRECTORY	130
APPENDIX I – THE OFFICE OF THE CHILD ADVOCATE	130
APPENDIX J – DFCS FIELD OPERATIONS	131
APPENDIX K—FY 2023 RBWO MINIMUM STANDARDS CHANGE GUIDE	135
APPENDIX L – INFANT SAFE SLEEPING GUIDELINES AND PROTOCOL	
APPENDIX M – STAFF TRAINING RECOMMENDATIONS	148
APPENDIX N – SEXUAL HARASSMENT	149
APPENDIX O - PROGRESSIVE COMPLIANCE POLICY	
APPENDIX P- Social Media F.A.Q	

Introduction to RBWO Minimum Standards

RBWO Minimum Standards for Child Caring Institutions and Child Placing Agencies

The mission of the Division of Family and Children Services (DFCS) Foster Care program is to strengthen families, protect children from further abuse and neglect and to assure that every child has a permanent family. The private provider community is an important and integral part of DFCS's ability to achieve its mission. The DFCS Child Welfare Policy Manual (found at www.odis.dhs.ga.gov) and Room Board and Watchful Oversight (RBWO) Minimum Standards follows and support the DFCS mission and provides guidance to Child Caring Institutions (CCI) and Child Placing Agencies (CPA) contracted with DFCS. Additionally, standards for medically-fragile placements, Independent Living and Transitional Living Programs, Maternity Homes and Second Chance Homes are included.

The RBWO Minimum Standards apply to all providers, with the exception of sections which apply specifically to only CCI's or CPA's. Compliance with all Residential Child Care (RCCL) rules and regulations are required of all providers that have entered into a contract with DFCS.

RBWO Minimum Standards are focused on securing positive permanency, health and education outcomes for children and to reduce risks to their welfare and safety. Providers must aim to provide the best care possible for the children in their care; observing the Standards is an essential part, but only a part, of the overall responsibility to safeguard and promote the welfare of each individual child placed. The Standards are presented as "minimum" requirements rather than as best practices. Thus, providers should strive to exceed these minimum requirements.

Having Minimum Standards does not mean that providers must standardize their services. The Standards are designed to be applicable to a wide variety of different types of RBWO provider programs and to enable, rather than prevent, providers to develop their own particular best practice approaches to meeting the safety, permanency and well-being needs of children¹ placed.

The Standards are intended to be qualitative, in that they provide a tool for judging the quality of care provided and are also designed to be measurable. The Office of Provider Management (OPM) will monitor providers against these standards during its annual comprehensive reviews and through randomly occurring Safety Reviews. During monitoring visits, OPM will look for evidence that the requirements are being met. Provider practices which exceed the requirements of the Minimum Standards will also be identified and documented in the OPM monitoring report.

There are six broad areas comprising the Standards. They are as follows:

¹ The word child or children refers to anyone in RBWO care. The terms "youth" or "adolescent" "young adult" or "young person" refers to those aged 14 years to 21 years.

- Safety;
- Quality of Care;
- Permanency Support;
- Family Foster Homes;
- Child Caring Institutions; and
- General Administrative Matters.

Room, Board and Watchful Oversight (R.B.W.O.) is the provision of lodging, food, and attentive responsible care to children. Providers shall be responsible for the provision or acquisition of services to ensure that each child's physical, social, emotional, educational/vocational, nutritional, spiritual/cultural and permanency needs are met. These services are defined as follows:

- 1. <u>Physical</u> all health services pertaining to the body (medical and dental). Includes medication monitoring, documenting and administering by staff or foster parents trained in medication dispensing.
- 2. <u>Social</u> the provision of an environment in which the child's relationships with peers, staff, significant others, and community are improved through the use of recreational and leisure activities.
- 3. **Emotional** a support network that implements recommendations of treatment providers; provides access to treatment; and recognizes behaviors such as anger, negative and positive stress, often accompanied by physiological or psychological changes.
- 4. <u>Educational/Vocational</u> enrollment of youth in an accredited educational school system; monitoring of progress and support of the youth's education by participation in student support team (SST) meetings, Individual Education Planning (IEP) meetings, parent/teacher conferences and disciplinary meetings. Opportunities for participation in school related extra-curricular activities. For those youth who have completed high school or who have achieved a high school diploma or GED, access to academic or vocational classes/opportunities that will prepare them to lead self-sufficient lives and providing assistance with finding employment.
- 5. <u>Nutritional</u> the provision or acquisition of food services to ensure healthy physical and emotional development which is inclusive of the child's religious, cultural, and health needs in accordance with the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) guidelines for servings per child. Please refer to RCCL's policy section 290-2-6-.21 & section 290-2-5-.17 for guidelines on food consumption and preparation.
- 6. <u>Spiritual/Cultural</u> awareness, sensitivity, and competence in understanding the child and family's religious values, belief system, mores, customs, training, social growth or development.

7. <u>Permanency</u> – providing the child with continuous and guided interaction with family members and significant others for the purpose of transitioning the child back to the home and community. Where return home is not possible, working to secure another permanent option for the child. Permanency planning begins at the admission process and continues through discharge.

SAFETY

Standard 1: Safety of Children in Care

The safety of children in care is paramount; no child will be abused or neglected in foster care.

- 1.0 Providers must have policy and procedures in place to promote the safety and welfare of children and to ensure that children are protected from abuse and neglect.
- 1.1 Providers (which includes all staff, caregivers, volunteers etc.) will adhere to the requirements of the Taylor vs Ledbetter Consent Decree which prohibits the improper punishment of children in care. Improper punishment includes any physical or emotional act to deliberately inflict pain to the body or which creates undue fear, anxiety or feelings of humiliation or degradation.
- 1.2 Staff and caregivers must understand the Mandated Reporting law and procedures to report concerns about abuse and neglect.
 - a. Providers must immediately notify the DFCS Central CPS Intake Line (855-422-4453) or https://cps.dhs.ga.gov/Main/Default.aspx as well as the custodial county of any child involved when there is an allegation or suspicion of abuse, neglect, or corporal punishment of any child/children being served.
- 1.3 Providers must ensure that employees in positions or classes of positions that have direct care, treatment, custodial care, access to confidential information of clients or any combination thereof (to include administrative support staff, janitorial/housekeeping staff, maintenance/grounds keeping staff and security guards) shall undergo a criminal history investigation prior to being hired and every five years thereafter (based upon hire date anniversary). This requirement became effective July 1, 2014. Staff hired prior to July 1, 2009 but before July 1, 2014 must have their 5-year criminal records check completed by their anniversary date as they reach their fifth (5th) year of service. The criminal history investigation shall include fingerprint record check pursuant to the provisions of Section 49-2-14 of the Official Code of Georgia, Annotated (O.C.G.A). Providers shall maintain and upon request, provide DHS with evidence of a satisfactory criminal record check of any members of its staff or a subcontractor's staff assigned to or proposed to be assigned to any aspect of the performance of this contract. Providers must utilize the Georgia Applicant Processing Services (GAPS) identified vendor to comply with this requirement. Visit the GAPS website at https://fieldprintgeorgia.com/businesses for complete details on the background check process, print site locations, and to register your agency.

- a. Only RBWO Staff (Director, Case Support Supervisor, Case Support Worker, Human Service Professional, Life Coach and Child Care Worker) criminal records checks are required to be uploaded into GA+ SCORE. These checks must be uploaded by the date of hire and annually within 30 days before the staff's anniversary. (Note: The OIG check is renewed every five years at the staff's anniversary).
- b. For new hires, the OIG check can be completed no more than one year prior to the hire date. Similarly, the GASOR, PPD, DOC and CPS screenings can be completed no more than 30 days prior to the hire date.
- 1.4 Providers must identify the child's vulnerabilities and develop an individualized service plan to maintain the child safely in his/her living environment. As new vulnerabilities are identified, the plan must be reviewed and updated to ensure that emerging needs are met.
- 1.5 Providers must have a process for identifying individual triggers, coping behaviors, calming measures, interventions, and effective behavior management / prevention strategies for each child in order to de-escalate and avoid full-blown crises.
 - a. Staff and/or foster parents should be trained to identify danger signals, potential triggers, and possible medical emergencies for the child.
 - b. Decisions about the child's long-term or continued placement in the program should not be made during a crisis.
- 1.6 Providers must have two face-to-face contacts a month with each child placed. One of those contacts must be an Every Child Every Month (ECEM) contact. The other contact is called a general contact. A General Contact is a purposeful visit; however, it does not have to occur in the home. The General Contact must be conducted by the CCI Human Services Professional (HSP), Life Coach (LC) or the CPA Case Support Worker (CSW) or Case Support Supervisor (CSS) and generally focuses on safety and well-being. The General Contact will be documented in the standard narrative type in Georgia SHINES or the Safety, Permanency, and Well-being narrative type. All documentation must be entered and approved into GA SHINES within 72 hours of the contact. Some of these contacts should be unannounced visits. (For details on ECEM contacts, review RBWO Minimum Standard ECEM 6.21)
- 1.7 Children and caregivers must be visited by the provider within one week of a new placement and more frequently in the early stages of any placement or when there are particular issues which warrant more frequent contact. These visits must be documented into GA SHINES as a general contact within 72 hours.
- 1.8 Providers must ensure that children in their care are protected from bullying by staff and other youth in the placement. Providers (staff and caregivers) must create an atmosphere where bullying is known to be unacceptable.
- 1.9 Providers must have a policy on bullying which includes the following: a definition of bullying, types of bullying, an annual training plan for staff and caregivers, measures to prevent bullying, responses to and reporting of bullying. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.

- 1.10 Providers must identify an agency staff person or subcontracted agency representative to receive reports from children in R.B.W.O. placements about any concerns, grievances or complaints. The *child ombudsmen* must not have any direct care or oversight responsibility for the child (such as client advocates, clergymen, therapists, etc.). All children in the program shall receive clear communication regarding the identification of the ombudsmen and the method to be used to contact this individual. The contact process should reflect the age and developmental abilities of the children being served. The Office of the Child Advocate can be used as an Ombudsmen resource if needed, 404-656-4200.
- 1.11 Providers must notify OPM whenever there is a Significant Event relating to the provider's operation or to the care or protection of children in its care and/or supervision. Notification must be made as soon as possible but within one calendar day via GA+SCORE. Additionally, based on circumstances and the severity of situations, providers should use good judgment in determining which Significant Events should also be reported verbally to OPM.

Note: A list of significant events can be found in Appendix A. The list should not be considered an all-inclusive list of the types of significant events that should be reported.

- 1.12 Providers must notify OPM Manager or Supervisor immediately when there has been a significant injury or death of any child placed in any facility, group home, or foster home operated by the provider, whether or not the injured or deceased child is in the custody of the Division. Notification must be reported verbally to OPM followed by input into the GA+SCORE system.
- 1.13 Providers must have and follow their protocol for children who are considered runaways or otherwise absent without permission.
- 1.14 Provider's must have a policy for addressing the issue of staff or caregivers who become the subject of a CPS investigation. The policy must include an assessment of any safety or risk factors that may impact children as a result of the allegation. The policy must include what actions the provider will take when CPS investigations are initiated and a review of all CPS investigations whether the allegation was unsubstantiated or substantiated to assess the need for further action such as Corrective Action Plans. Staff who have substantiated CPS cases cannot continue working with children in the custody of the Division. (Note: DFCS Child Welfare Policy 14.21 & 14.22 addresses managing CPS allegations in foster homes.)
- 1.15 Providers must conduct and document the results of a Child Protective Services history check through the Georgia Investigation Outcome Notification System (IONS) at https://ionsrequestportal.dhs.ga.gov/General for all staff within 30 days prior to hiring and annually within 30 days prior of the staff's anniversary date. Each Contractor must have a policy on checking CPS history through IONS and if the results of the IONS check reveal a substantiated case, this individual is unable to be employed or continue employment to work with children in the custody of the Division.

1.16 Providers must conduct and document, a Pardons and Paroles (PPD) and Department of Corrections (DOC) check on all staff no more than 30 days prior to hiring. Each provider must have a policy on how your agency will regularly monitor compliance for initial hires. These checks are required to be uploaded into GA + SCORE at hire. The links for the registries are as follows:

https://papapps.pap.state.ga.us/paroleesearch/search/searchPage; and http://www.dcor.state.ga.us/GDC/Offender/Query

1.17 Providers must conduct and document the results of a Sexual Offenders Registry check (GASORC) on all staff no more than 30 days prior to hiring and annually within 30 days before the staff's anniversary date. Each provider must have a policy on how your agency will regularly monitor compliance for initial hires and annually. This check is required to be uploaded into GA+SCORE at hire and within 30 days before the annual expiration date. The link for the registry is as follows:

http://gbi.georgia.gov/georgia-sex-offender-registry

- 1.18 Providers must screen all known names initially and annually for staff and caregivers. Known names includes any name change due to marriage, divorce, etc. (Note: Refer to **DFCS Child Welfare Policy Manual 19.9 Safety Screenings** for guidance).
- 1.19 Providers must develop a Quality Assurance Plan (QAP) targeted at ensuring all required background checks are completed and uploaded no more than 30 days prior to the employee's hire or anniversary date. The QAP must include the provider's method of tracking staff background checks due within the 30-day time period and indicate which individual(s) are responsible for oversight of the QAP. The QAP must be uploaded under the provider's profile tab in GA+SCORE and updated annually.
- 1.20 Providers must develop a policy on water safety and assessment procedures. For CCIs and CPA foster homes that have swimming pools, spas, or other large bodies of water nearby, a water safety assessment must be completed. The age, special needs, and number of children in a home should guide decisions around placement in such homes. Water safety assessments must be completed annually. The water safety assessment can be found at www.gascore.com.

Guidelines include, but are not limited to:

- Caregivers must always provide direct adult supervision of children around bodies of water
- Caregivers must complete basic water rescue training to learn how to recognize, prevent, and respond to water emergencies using non-swimming rescue methods. Training for foster parents should occur within the first year of approval. Training for Childcare Workers must occur within 30 days of the employee's hire date.
- Caregivers should know or learn how to swim within the first 60 days of approval
 or within 60 days of acquiring a swimming pool. CCI providers may satisfy this
 requirement through the regular utilization of a certified lifeguard during
 swimming activities.
- Caregivers should enroll children age three years and older in a swimming/water safety course taught by a certified instructor within the first year of placement.

- Any challenges that could impact a child's ability to complete the course should assessed and discussed with DFCS.
- Fences used as a safety barrier must be at least four feet in height, surround all sides of the pool, and have a gate that locks. Fences must be constructed in such a manner that a young child cannot climb through or under the fence.
- Ladders must be removed to make above-ground pools inaccessible when not in use.
- Pool covers must be kept free of standing water and be completely removed when the pool is in use.
- Kiddie pools must be emptied and stored away when not in use.

NOTE: Additional water safety guidance for CPA providers can be found in the **DFCS Child Welfare Policy 14.1**

1.21 RBWO Providers are required to obtain a reference from any prior RBWO agency for which an applicant served as an employee. References should be obtained prior to hire and must be maintained in the employees file.

Standard 2: Safe and Appropriate Behavior Management

Use of corporal (physical or emotional) punishment is strictly prohibited.

- 2.0 Providers are prohibited from using or authorizing the use of corporal punishment with any child in the Division's custody.
- 2.1 Providers must have a behavior support and intervention policy that reinforces the banning of all physical or emotional punishment. Providers must ensure, through appropriate training, that staff and caregivers are aware of the corporal punishment prohibition and follow the policy prohibiting the use of corporal punishment with any child in the Division's custody. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
- 2.2 Providers must establish practices to manage children who exhibit difficult or aggressive behaviors and ensure that their staff and caregivers are trained to understand such behaviors and can safely respond.
- 2.3 Providers must ensure that staff and caregivers understand and have the necessary skills to carry out the agency's behavior management policies. The behavior management strategy or practice must be effective and appropriate for the types of children served, understood by staff and caregivers and explained to children.
- 2.4 If corporal punishment is used with any child in the Division's custody, the incident must be reported to county CPS and the provider must take appropriate actions to prevent a recurrence. Providers must cooperate fully with the Division in assessing alleged incidents of the use of corporal punishment.
- 2.5 If the provider is a CPA and corporal punishment has occurred in a foster home placement operated by the provider; the provider agrees that the Division may choose, in its sole discretion, to move a child from the provider's foster home and/or to

discontinue use of the foster home placement for children in the Division's custody.

- 2.6 As a result of a corporal punishment incident, if children in the Division's custody remain in the foster home, the provider must develop a corrective action plan with the foster parent, which must be signed by all parties involved and monitored to make sure the foster parents are in compliance. Children must be removed, and the home closed to DFCS placements if any of the following apply:
 - a. The foster parents are not amenable to change or correct their disciplinary practices, or to Division intervention.
 - b. The incident of corporal punishment had a direct impact on the safety and well-being of a child, or posed a serious risk to the safety of a child; or
 - c. A second incident of corporal punishment occurs in the foster home placement.
- 2.7 If the provider is a CCI and an instance of corporal punishment occurs, an organizational corrective action plan must be submitted (even if the staff person in question is terminated) and approved by OPM. In addition, a corrective action plan for an individual staff member is acceptable when:
 - a. it is the first incident involving the staff member;
 - b. the staff person is amenable to change and it is clearly documented that the individual has demonstrated a willingness to use appropriate disciplinary practices going forward; and
 - c. the incident of corporal punishment has not posed a serious risk that directly impacts the child's safety and well-being.

If one or more of the preceding conditions does not apply, the provider must ensure that the staff person in question no longer has any direct or indirect contact with the child population where DFCS is responsible for their care, custody or control.

2.8 Providers must develop and implement policies and procedures describing their Behavior Management Plan. Behavior Management is defined as those principles and techniques used to assist a child in facilitating self-control, addressing inappropriate behavior, and achieving positive outcomes in a constructive and safe manner. The policies and procedures for Behavior Management shall include a description of the principles and techniques that are approved for use, as well as any techniques that are prohibited. In addition, such policies and procedures shall set forth the types of children served in accordance with the program purpose, the anticipated problems of the children, and acceptable methods of managing such problems.

Policies and procedures must indicate that the following forms of Behavior Management are prohibited:

- a. Assignment of excessive or unreasonable work tasks that are not related to the resident's misbehavior;
- b. Denial of meals or hydration;
- c. Denial of sleep;
- d. Denial of shelter, clothing, or essential personal needs;
- e. Denial of essential program services;
- f. Verbal abuse, ridicule, or humiliation;
- g. Manual holds, chemical restraints, or mechanical restraints when not used

- appropriately by adequately trained staff in accordance with policy, RCCL rules and regulations and all applicable guidelines as emergency safety interventions;
- h. Denial of contact, communication and visits with approved family members and other visiting resources.
- Seclusion, when not used appropriately and in accordance with policy and RCCL rules and regulations and all applicable guidelines as an emergency safety intervention;
- j. Children in care shall not be permitted to participate in the behavior management of other children or to discipline other children, except as part of an organized therapeutic self-governing program in keeping with accepted standards of practice that is conducted in accordance with written policy and by designated staff.
- k. The threat of or insinuation of removing the custody of a youth's biological child should not be used as a form of behavior management. Threats of removal of custody of biological children in care or placement creates fear and anger.
- 2.9 Behavior Management shall be used in accordance with the child's Individual Service Plan (ISP), agency policies and procedures, and licensing rules and regulations.
- 2.10 Referrals to Law Enforcement, including the Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ), local police or sheriff's departments, and the juvenile court, may not be a part of the routine Behavior Management Plan. Law Enforcement should be used only for emergencies when the Behavior Management Plan is unsuccessful. Calming measures, preventive and behavior management strategies identified for the child must be utilized without success before Law Enforcement is involved. If appropriate, an emergency safety intervention must also be utilized without success before Law Enforcement is involved. Intervention by Law Enforcement is appropriate only if the child's behaviors escalate to the point of exceeding the ability of properly trained staff to manage the child safely and the issues poses a physical danger to the child, staff, or other children.
- 2.11 An emergency safety intervention (ESI) plan may not be a component of a provider's Behavior Management Plan. It is a plan for the manner in which staff will respond when the Behavior Management Plan is unsuccessful, and a child escalates to a point that requires implementation of an emergency safety intervention.
- 2.12 CPA providers must establish protocols and supports that assist foster parents in developing or strengthening their skills de-escalation techniques and managing children who exhibit difficult or aggressive behaviors. Foster parents must be trained in de-escalation techniques and be supported to safely and appropriately respond to behavioral issues. ESI manual holds or restraints of any type may not be utilized by CPA staff or foster parents.
- 2.13 CCI providers (who use ESI) must ensure that all child care workers are trained in the provider's ESI protocol within 90 days of the employment start date. ESI training must be approved by RCCL. Provider staff must be trained in the proper use of emergency safety interventions before they are allowed to use them and may be used only when a child exhibits a dangerous behavior reasonably expected to lead to immediate physical harm to the child or others and less restrictive means of dealing with the injurious behavior have not proven successful or may subject the child or others to greater risk of injury. ESI's are not to be used

as a means of preventing a youth from damaging or destroying property, or in cases in which the youth becomes non-compliant. Providers should utilize their approved behavior management plan. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.

- 2.14 Providers must have written policies for the use of any emergency safety interventions that will be authorized, a copy of which shall be provided to and discussed with each child and the child's parents/or legal guardian prior to or at the time of admission. The policies and procedures must indicate whether any form of manual holds will be a part of that emergency safety intervention plan. Policies and Procedures for emergency safety interventions shall include:
 - a. Provisions for documentation of an assessment at admission and at each annual exam by the child's physician or authorized medical professional that there are no medical issues that would be incompatible with the appropriate use of emergency safety interventions on that child. Such assessment and documentation must be re-evaluated following any significant change in the child's medical condition.
 - b. Provisions for the documentation of each use of an emergency safety intervention including:
 - i. Date and description of the precipitating incident;
 - ii. Description of the de-escalation techniques used prior to the emergency safety intervention, if applicable;
 - iii. Environmental considerations;
 - iv. Names of staff participating in the emergency safety intervention;
 - v. Any witnesses to the precipitating incident and subsequent intervention;
 - vi. Exact emergency safety intervention used;
 - vii. Documentation of the 15-minute interval visual monitoring of a child in seclusion;
 - viii. Beginning and ending time of the intervention;
 - ix. Outcome of the intervention;
 - x. Description of any injury arising from the incident or intervention;
 - xi. Summary of any medical care provided.
- 2.15 Policies and Procedures for emergency safety interventions shall include the following regarding manual holds:
 - a. Provisions for prohibiting manual hold use by any employee not trained in prevention and use of emergency safety interventions;
 - b. Provisions for assessing and monitoring the child's behavior after an emergency safety intervention has been used;
 - c. Provisions for reporting incidents of emergency safety interventions to the RCCL as required by the rules and regulations under which the provider is licensed;
 - d. Provision for review of emergency safety interventions by a staff member responsible for quality assurance and ensuring that staff are correctly using the interventions:
 - e. Provision for the use of a manual hold with any child whose primary method of communication is sign language, allowing the child to have his/her hands free from restraint sufficiently during the intervention to communicate for brief periods except when such freedom may result in physical harm to the child or others.

- f. Provisions that specify when manual holds are authorized to be used, which staff are authorized to use them, a description of the holds that are approved by the provider, the time limit allowed on any manual hold, and the policies on documenting the holds;
- g. Provision for continuous monitoring during manual holds of the child's breathing, verbal responsiveness, and motor control.
- 2.16 Policies and procedures for emergency safety interventions must include the following prohibitions:
 - a. Manual holds may not be used to prevent runaways unless the child presents an imminent threat of physical harm to self or others or is specified in the child's service plan;
 - b. Manual holds shall not be used by staff that are not trained and authorized by the provider to utilize the manual holds or by staff that are unfamiliar with the child's medical and psychological conditions;
 - c. Children in care shall not be allowed to participate in emergency safety interventions of other children in care;
 - d. Emergency safety interventions utilizing prone restraints require at least two trained staff members to carry out the hold;
 - e. Emergency safety interventions shall not include the use of any restraint or manual hold that would potentially impair the child's ability to breathe or has been determined to be inappropriate for use on a particular child due to a documented medical or psychological condition.
- 2.17 If the use of a seclusion room is a part of the provider's emergency safety intervention plan, then policies and procedures must include a description of the circumstances under which seclusion may be used and the policies and procedures governing its use. These policies and procedures must include the following:
 - a. If seclusion is used, procedures must be in place requiring seclusion of more than 30 minutes duration being approved by the Director or Designee. No child shall be placed in a seclusion room in excess of one hour within any twenty-four hour period without obtaining authorization for continuing such seclusion from the child's physician, psychiatrist, or licensed psychologist and documenting such authorization in the child's record.
 - b. A seclusion room shall only be used if a child is in danger of harming himself /herself or others.
 - c. A child placed in a seclusion room shall be visually monitored at least every 15 minutes.
 - d. A room used for the purposes of seclusion must meet the following criteria:
 - i. Room shall be constructed and used in such way that the risk of harm to the child is minimized;
 - ii. Room shall be equipped with a viewing window on the door so that staff can monitor the child;
 - iii. Room shall be lighted and well ventilated;
 - iv. Room shall be a minimum of 50 square feet in area; and
 - v. Room must be free of any item that may be used by the child to cause physical harm to himself/herself or others.

- e. No more than one child shall be placed in a seclusion room at a time.
- f. A seclusion room monitoring log shall be maintained and used to record the following information: child's name, date of seclusion, reason for seclusion, time placed in seclusion, name and signature of staff that conducted visual monitoring, signed observation notes, and time of child's removal from seclusion.
- 2.18 All forms of behavior management and Emergency Safety Intervention must be limited to the least restrictive appropriate method.
- 2.19 Provider policies and procedures will include the requirements and method of training that will be used for orientation and ongoing training of staff regarding behavior management and Emergency Safety Interventions. All training shall be clearly documented in the staff member's personnel record. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
- 2.20 Within 24 hours of an incident of restraint or seclusion or other serious behavior management issue, a staff debriefing must occur and a debriefing with the child must also occur. The debriefing, which provides an opportunity for staff and children to discuss their feelings and perceptions about the issue and establish a plan for the future must be documented and filed in the child's record. Any changes in the behavioral management plan must be documented in the service plan immediately following the debriefing.

Note: RCCL rules also require that following an incident of restraint or seclusion, the child must be assessed and monitored immediately and hourly thereafter for a period of 4 hours.

Quality of Care

Standard 3: Comprehensive and Family-Centered Services

Provider service planning and delivery is comprehensive and family-centered; children, families, DFCS and other stakeholders have the opportunity to participate in all aspects.

- 3.0 Every child must have an Individualized Service Plan (ISP) that is strength-based and reflective of assessment findings. It must promote the welfare, permanency, education, interests and health needs of the child and address emotional and psychological needs. Assessments, service plans, and service delivery must reflect and be tailored to the needs, strengths and resources of the child and family. The issue of permanency must be addressed in every service plan. All ISP's must be in accordance with recognized professional child welfare standards, shall provide for the participation of the family in the plan, shall be appropriate given the child's needs, and align with the child's DFCs case plan goals in order to support the child's permanency.
- 3.1 The provider must carefully and immediately assess the needs of all children placed and develop a 7-Day ISP within seven days of admission. The 7-Day ISP is an extension of the admissions assessment whereby immediate safety, health and placement adjustment needs are considered and a plan developed to address immediate needs. The 7-Day ISP

sets goals and objectives through the first 30 days of placement. The 7-Day should address at a minimum immediate placement issues such as:

- Increased Placement Supervision or Contacts by Case Support Worker or HSP
- Precautions or Other Safety Measures
- Immediate needs related to:
 - Health (including medication management)
 - o Behavioral Management
 - o Educational/Vocational
 - Personal/Social
 - o Family Visitation/Contact
 - Placement Adjustment
 - Scheduled Court, FTMs or other Case Related Appointments

The 7-Day ISP must be uploaded into the GA SHINES Portal within 5 business days of completion. Providers must maintain documentation verification of submission to the Case Manager. DFCS Staff are still required to sign the 7-Day ISP prior to the document being uploaded.

- 3.2 The first comprehensive ISP is due by the 30th day of the placement. Providers must update ISPs at least every six months, from the date of placement, or whenever needs assessments warrant a change in the service plan. Providers must set a timeframe for regular, periodic review of the ISP. The review must involve the child and DFCS and should include the child's family and other stakeholders as appropriate. Providers must upload all ISP's into the GA SHINES Portal within 5 business days of completion. DFCS Staff are required to sign the ISP prior to the document being uploaded.
- 3.3 General requirements of providers regarding service planning include:
 - a. Each ISP identifies the needs of the child, the steps and measures to meet those needs, and incorporate the youth's DFCS case plan goals within 6 months of the youth's placement date.
 - b. Family members are included in the development of the ISP.
 - c. Family members and the child help to define their goals and outcomes, with input from the custody holder. There are times when DFCS or the courts will require that certain issues be addressed in the service plan.
 - d. DFCS, parents or other people who are significant in the child's life are given adequate information and assistance to enable participation in service planning.
 - e. Cultural, ethnic or religious identity is taken into account when determining individual plans. Decisions are consistent with cultural, ethnic and religious values and traditions relevant to the child.
 - f. Both needs and strengths are identified and linked in the assessment and service plan.
 - g. Service plans are tailored to the needs and strengths of each child and family and are a mix of traditional and non-traditional services.
 - h. Family members, local case managers and other caring adults are included in the service plan reviews.

- i. When returning to family is not possible, the provider works with the custodial agency to pursue adoption or transition to another permanency option. For older teens the emphasis is on the development of independent living skills and achieving the optimum level of family involvement that is possible.
- 3.4 Children are given an opportunity and assistance to participate in decisions and planning that affect them, taking into account their age and understanding.
- 3.5 Decision making and planning are based on a detailed and thorough assessment and are clear in respect to the reasons for decisions or plans. Both are documented and communicated to the appropriate family members and DFCS.
- 3.6 A copy of the ISP must be provided to the child, when developmentally and age appropriate, any caregiver of the child, and DFCS.
- 3.7 The provider must maintain records to document the provision of services:
 - a. Providers must permit authorized representatives of the Division access to all records and information at any time.
 - b. The case record must contain a monthly summary of the services provided to the child and the progress being made by the child in achieving the goals as outlined in the ISP.
- 3.8 The provider must ensure that all services to the child and the family that are identified in the child's ISP are implemented and documented.
- 3.9 Each ISP is managed by a case support worker or HSP who ensures that the requirements of the plan are implemented in the day-to-day care of the child.
- 3.10 Children and young people are supported and encouraged to maintain and strengthen connections with their birth families, especially their parents and siblings. Children are provided with practical support to maintain contact with parents, family and other significant people unless expressly prohibited by DFCS.
- 3.11 If the child placed has siblings in care with whom they are not placed, the ISP must include a sibling visitation plan unless, in accordance with the DFCS case manager, a provider sibling visitation plan is not required. If sibling visitation is not required, the reason(s) why must be documented in the case record. Sibling visitation plans should be coordinated and agreed upon with the DFCS case manager.

Standard 4: Appropriateness of Admissions

Providers admit for care only those children for whom the admission evaluation indicates that the provider can meet the child's needs.

4.0 Providers must ensure that children are placed in accordance with their individual needs, taking into account the closeness of the placement to the child's home and community, sibling's location, relative resource and the least restrictive setting. Providers must ensure that siblings who enter placement at or near the same time shall be placed together unless it is not in the best interest of the child. Providers should work collaboratively with DFCS in an effort to maintain sibling connections.

- 4.1 Providers must only accept referrals for children with program designations for which they have been approved unless a waiver has been granted by OPM in advance.
- 4.2 Providers must have clear criteria for admissions and must evaluate each referral for service against those criteria. Providers must have a written intake process which includes the steps and processes used to evaluate the appropriateness of admissions and support the decision made.
- 4.3 Providers will give DFCS notice of its decision to accept or reject referrals upon receipt of completed admissions packet as soon as possible, but no longer than two calendar days. Placement of children accepted for admission should occur as soon as possible or within a timeframe negotiated with the DFCS case manager.
- 4.4 For children referred by Fulton or DeKalb County, these admission decisions must be made via written notice within 8 hours of the referral. For children admitted, they must be placed within 23 hours of the approved admission.
- 4.5 Providers must admit all children accepted for emergency admission within 23 hours of the time the provider receives the referral information.
- 4.6 Providers must ensure that CCI admissions or foster home placement matches include the following:
 - a. An assessment of the home environment to include; physical space, supervision practices, and all current household members (biological children, adoptive children, fictive kin, and adult relatives);
 - b. A safe environment for children which includes emotional, psychological, physical and environmental safety; and takes into consideration their age and any specific needs of the child.
- 4.7 Providers must have and follow their admission protocol for children placed in CCIs or in foster homes. The admissions protocol must outline the provider's process for incorporating the child into the milieu or foster family and include an introduction to the program (orientation) and such things as family rules and operations.
- 4.8 Providers must comply with the following placement conditions and requirements regarding each of the identified care settings:

A. Foster Homes

- 1. For ALL foster youth in the legal custody of Fulton and/or DeKalb county:
 - a. No child will be placed in a foster home if that placement will result in more than three (3) foster children in that home or, a total of six (6) children in the home, including the foster family's biological and/or adopted children, without the written approval of the Caregiver Coordination Section Director or designee. Note: Capacity waivers are not required for sibling groups over 3 *if* they are the only placements in the home.

- Youth with specialty program designation will still require a capacity waiver. See 11.28 for details.
- b. No child will be in a placement that will result in more than three (3) children under the age of three (3) residing in a foster home including the children of the caregiver's family.

Note: The only exception to these capacity limits shall be the placement of a sibling group in the foster home with no other children in the home.

- 2. For foster youth in the legal custody of all other counties:
 - a. Please refer to Child Welfare Policy Manual 14.1 regarding Safety and Quality Standards (SQS) which states:
 - i. The number of foster children cared for in a foster family home may exceed six for any of the following reasons:
 - 1. To allow a parenting youth in foster care to remain with the child of the parenting youth;
 - 2. To allow siblings to remain together;
 - 3. To allow a child with an established, meaningful relationship with the family to remain with the family; and
 - 4. To allow a family with special training or skills to provide care to a child who has a severe disability.

B. Group Care or CCI Settings

- a. No child younger than twelve (12) years of age (0-11) will be placed in a group care setting. EXCEPTION: An age-based waiver shall be granted before a child age 10 and under can be placed in a congregate care or group home setting. For a child age 11, the Regional Director shall make the age-based waiver approval decision. For a child age 10 and under, the Caregiver Coordination Section Director or designee shall make the age-based waiver approval decision. If the child is under the age of 10 and the child of a teen parent who is also placed in the CCI, an age-based waiver request is not required. The request should be submitted through www.gascore.com and must include a complete explanation of the supporting circumstances and concurrence from the County and Regional Director.
- b. No child under age twelve (12) that has been appropriately approved for a CCI placement will be placed in any group care setting that has a capacity in excess of twelve (12) children. This will not apply to a child who is under six (6) years of age (0-5) and who is also the son or daughter of another child placed in a group care setting.

NOTE: The Regional Director has night and weekend approval authority until the next business day for waivers requiring the Caregiver Coordination Section Director or designee's approval.

- 4.9 Where co-placement of siblings is not possible, providers must assist the Division in ensuring that regular contact between siblings in care is maintained. (Please refer to Child Welfare Policy Manual 10.20 Preserving Sibling Connections.)
- 4.10 Providers, with the exception of ILP programs, must have a plan for admissions which includes having a qualified staff on call seven days a week, 24 hours a day, to receive and assess admissions.
- 4.11 CPA providers must have a plan and policy regarding caregivers accepting evening and weekend placements.
- 4.12 Providers who offer MWO services must include Psychiatric Residential Treatment Facilities (PRTF) step-downs as part of their inclusion criteria. CPA's with MWO program designations must have a plan to develop foster homes that accept PRTF step-down placements. Children/youth stepping down from PRTF placements meet the criteria for MWO services with the appropriate supportive services to maintain the placement. If a child/youth is 1013'd or admitted for treatment in any acute hospitalization or crisis stabilization setting, providers are expected to accept the child/youth back, either for long-term placement or a 10 day assessment period upon discharge from the inpatient behavioral, psychiatric or physical health setting. If the provider determines they are unable to meet the needs of the child/youth after the 10 day assessment timeframe and a discharge is necessary, they should provide the standard 14 day discharge notice to the County effective the 10th day of the assessment period.

Note: During the 10-day assessment period, the provider, in partnership with the County, will schedule a conference call to discuss specific behaviors and concerns related to the youth, allow the Care Coordination Team time to review the case, make recommendations, and implement appropriate supportive services to maintain the placement.

- 4.13 Providers must have and follow a non-discrimination policy. CPA providers must follow the Multi-Ethnic Placement Act (MEPA) and Inter-Ethnic Placement Act (IEPA). Provider must not use race, ethnicity or religion as a basis for a delay or denial in placement of a child, either with regard to matching with a family or with regard to placing a child in a CCI. Providers must have a Foster Parent recruitment and retention plan that supports the current needs of the state. This plan should be regularly updated and must be uploaded into GA SCORE on an annual basis.
- 4.14 Providers must document in GA+SCORE all admission requests and decisions made based on referrals to the agency where an admissions application was received. Inquiries made to the provider where an admissions application was not received should not be included on the list. The list must include the requesting county name, case manager's name, child's name, child's program designation, presenting issue(s), and reason for accepting or denying admission.

- 4.15 All placement referrals must be documented within 15 business days of receipt in the GA+SCORE System.
- 4.16 Providers must provide youth with an age and developmentally appropriate orientation to their program. Orientation must include information on reporting personal boundary concerns, bullying, violence or other concerns. Orientation must also include information on the agency's child ombudsmen. (See RBWO Standard 1.10)
- 4.17 Providers must regularly assess the vulnerabilities of youth in making room and/or cottage assignments and use the assessment in making such matching decisions. Child vulnerability refers to the ability of a child to avoid, negate or modify threats. Vulnerabilities include such things as age, development, sexual stage of development, sexual orientation, disabilities, ability to communicate, provocative behaviors, and health.
- 4.18 The provider's intake process should include but is not limited to the following:
 - Ensuring that the admission criteria includes that youth up to 21 years may be served.
 - Utilization of the RBWO Universal Application and Referral Form as the sole referral documentation needed to determine whether a potential placement match exists. If a potential match exists, the provider will proceed with its own admission application package. The admission application package may not require a psychological evaluation report. However, the admission application package may ask if a psychological evaluation report exists and is available and if so, may require that the psychological evaluation report be provided as a part of the application. (NOTE: This standard does not apply to ILP placements as the Scattered Site Placement Youth Readiness Assessment is required.)

Standard 5: Placement Stability

Children in care should have placement stability through permanency; moves in care are minimized.

- 5.0 A Family Team Meeting (FTM) or PAUSE process should be conducted when potential disruption of a child's placement is threatened or imminent, including children returning from runaway or hospitalizations where they will not return to the same placement. Providers must alert DFCS of the need to hold an FTM or PAUSE when children in their care may experience a placement disruption. Providers must participate in these FTMs or PAUSE as invited by DFCS. The child should be included when deemed appropriate.
- 5.1 Providers must have a policy which addresses the importance of placement stability and how the agency will preserve placements, where the placement remains in the best interest of children, in its institutions or foster homes. Included in the policy, providers will have and follow a protocol on identifying and preserving placements that are at risk of disruption.
- 5.2 The decision for placement disruption is made only after all possible interventions to maintain the child in care have proven unsuccessful. Decisions about the child's long-term or continued placement in the program should not be made during a crisis. At best, a decision to discharge a child from a provider's placement should be made by mutual

- discussion between the provider and the Division concerning the child's situation, either in a face-to-face or telephone conference.
- 5.3 For placement disruptions that occur within 60 days of placement or admission to the provider, providers will document a review of the initial placement decision and identify any changes needed in the admissions review or placement matching process.
- 5.4 Providers will have and follow their protocol on addressing foster parents who have patterns of ejecting children within 60 days of placement or where other disruption patterns are identified.
- 5.5 DFCS must be provided with at least a 14-calendar day notice of the need to move a child from a CCI or CPA foster home unless there is an impending threat of harm to the child or others. ILP providers must provide DFCS with a 60-calendar day notice and provide the young adult with placement transition assistance.
- 5.6 In all cases where discharge is determined to be in the best interest of the child but due to safety issues a 14-day notice cannot be provided, a minimum of 72-hour notice shall be given prior to discharge. If the 72-hour notice is not possible, the reasons for the failure to notify in advance must be documented in the child's record. (NOTE: This standard applies to CCI and CPA placements only).
- 5.7 Providers must ensure that no child will be moved from one placement site or home to another without prior approval of DFCS and the execution of a new institutional placement agreement as appropriate. For children in the custody of Fulton or DeKalb counties, an FTM may be required prior to placement changes.
- 5.8 Providers must ensure that in situations where a child's discharge is the result of a determination that the placement is not safe or appropriate for the child or other children, any remaining child (ren) must be removed unless there is another written agreement with DFCS to correct the situation.
- 5.9 A Discharge Summary must be provided to the DFCS case manager at the time of notification of placement move/disruption, but no later than one (1) business day, from the provider. The Discharge Summary must include general information covering the child's placement, progress, challenges and recommendations for services and supports the child will need to be successful at home or in the next placement. If the discharge is a result of a placement disruption, the Discharge Summary must also include the following:
 - i. The circumstances leading to the disruption;
 - ii. The actions that were taken by the agency to prevent the disruption;
 - iii. The reasons for disruption decision;
 - iv. The services and supports the child will need to be successful in the next placement; and
 - v. Details of the child's transfer from the CCI or foster home to the DFCS case manager or other placement.
- 5.10 If a child is discharged because he is a threat to himself or others, the provider will accompany him to the receiving agency or person. Provider staff must remain with the

child until admission is complete or the child's custodian arrives and takes responsibility. If the police or sheriff is transporting the child, the provider must send staff to the receiving point who will remain there until the admission is complete or the child's custodian arrives.

Standard 6: Meeting Well-Being Needs

Children's social, emotional, physical, mental and educational needs are regularly assessed and needs met.

- 6.0 Providers must regularly assess the behavioral, social, emotional, psychological and physical needs of children placed and develop an initial ISP to address the child's needs. This plan should include identifying individual triggers, coping behaviors, calming measures, interventions, and effective behavior management / prevention strategies for each child in order to de-escalate and avoid full-blown crises. This plan should be regularly assessed and monitored for effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Providers must ensure that all well-being services identified in the ISP are provided and must document the frequency and results of the services.
- 6.1 Providers must ascertain the health status of children at admission and take immediate steps to address emergency health care needs. Each ISP must include a health plan component which covers health history and needs. Providers must ensure that all children under age three are/ or have already been referred to Babies Can't Wait. Reasonable efforts should be made to keep children with their previous health care provider.

Note:

- Upon admission the Amerigroup Care Coordinator assigned to the child should always be a point of contact to provide the new placement details
- A discussion surrounding the transfer of medical services/treatment for in County options should be had during the admission process, unless it is for some type of specialty service/treatment in which no in County options are available.
- If needed, Medicaid transportation services (Non-Emergency Transportation "NET") are available through DCH/Amerigroup. Youth under the age of 16 will need an escort (FP, DCW, HSP etc.).

Please visit: https://dch.georgia.gov/non-emergency-medical-transportation for more information. *Mileage is not reimbursable under the current Medicaid health plan.

6.2 The ISP must include the provision of routine medical and dental services according to Medicaid's Early Prevention and Screening Diagnostic Test (EPSDT) standards, including at a minimum, the components identified in the Georgia Health check program and any related health services required by the RCCL rules and regulations. The EPSDT is as follows:

From birth to 12 months

3-5 days old

1 month

2 months

4 months

6 months

9 months

12 months (1 year

12 months to 30 months

15 months

18 months

24 months

30 Months ($2\frac{1}{2}$ years)

Age 3 to 21

Once every year

- a. All children 3 and under must be referred to Children's 1st upon entering foster into care.
- b. Ages three years and over: All children of three years of age and older shall receive no less than one periodic EPSDT/Georgia Health Check Program health screenings performed every year.
- c. All children shall receive any follow-up treatment or care as directed by the physician who administered the periodic EPSDT/Georgia Health Check Program health screening.
- d. All children age one (1) and over shall receive a dental screening within 10 days of entry into foster care (unless the dental screening was completed within the last six months) and every six months thereafter and shall receive any and all treatment as directed by the child's assessing dentist.
- 6.3 Providers must coordinate with DFCS to ensure parents or other identified permanency resources are invited to attend all youth's medical and dental appointments, unless prohibited by court order or child safety concerns.
- 6.4 Providers must follow the DHS guidelines for Psychotropic Medication Use in Children and Adolescents and they must have and follow their own medication management policy for all prescription and non-prescription medications which include the following:
 - Providers' medication management policy must include children's right to refuse medication and a procedure for addressing and documenting medication refusals.
 - II. The provider shall designate, authorize, and train staff to hand out and supervise the administering of medications.
 - III. The providers' staff will maintain a thorough record of all medications taken by children in the program including the required documentation that

- medication was handed out by the authorized staff and taken by the children for whom it was prescribed. Medication logs should be uploaded into the SHINES Portal by the $10^{\rm th}$ day of the month.
- IV. Providers must have a medication management policy that outlines the process to be used for inventorying each child's medication. At a minimum, the process should include documented medication inventory upon admission, at least monthly and upon discharge.
- V. Medication management policy should reflect that all medications must be stored in and dispensed from the original container, which should also include the prescribing physician's instructions.
- 6.5 CPA providers must provide and document training regarding the Agency's policies and procedures for handling medical emergencies (conditions or situations which threaten life, limb, or continued functioning), and managing the use of medications by all children in care. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
- 6.6 Providers must ensure that the following apply to the dispensing of psychotropic medications and follow the Guidelines for Psychotropic Medication Use in Children and Adolescents located on GA+SCORE:
 - a. No child will be given psychotropic medication unless its use is in accordance with the goals and objectives of the child's service plan.
 - b. Staff and/or foster parents shall be trained in detecting the side effects of any medication prescribed for use by children in care.
 - c. Psychotropic medications shall be prescribed by the physician who has responsibility for the diagnosis and treatment of the child's condition necessitating the medication. The prescribing physician shall review continued use of psychotropic medications every sixty days.
 - d. Providers must follow the principles for Informed Consent Informed Consent refers to agreement to undergo or obtain treatment after being informed of and having an understanding of risks and benefits involved.
 - e. Psychotropic medications shall be used in concert with other interventions that will contribute to remediation of the problem and reduce the reliance on medication alone.
 - f. Psychotropic medication shall only be given to a child as ordered in the child's prescription. A provider shall not permit medications prescribed for one child to be given to another child.
 - g. All medications must be stored in and dispensed from the original container, which should also include the prescribing physician's instructions.
 - h. All providers must upload the child's medication log into the SHINES Portal by the 10th day of the following month.
 - * Note* Providers should obtain authorization from the County Director prior to administering psychotropic medication to children in foster care,

except in emergency situations. Authorization shall be provided to the prescribing physician within two business days of request. EXCEPTION: When children are receiving in-patient treatment (e.g. Crisis Stabilization Unit, Psychiatric Residential Treatment Facility), the consent decision is to be provided within 24 hours of the request from the facility.

- 6.7 Providers must maintain a first aid kit and instructions manual in each unit, cottage, and/or foster home. The first aid kit shall contain scissors, tweezers, gauze pads, adhesive tape, thermometer, assorted band-aids, antiseptic cleaning solution, and bandages.
- 6.8 Providers must not admit a child unless an educational program commensurate with the educational and vocational needs of the child can be provided.
- 6.9 Clear educational objectives should be developed for every child and should be a part of the ISP.
- 6.10 Providers must ensure that children are enrolled in a public-school system or a GaDOE/LEA approved residential facility school within 2 days of placement. Providers must ensure that children have no more than five (5) unexcused absences per school year.
- 6.11 Providers will ensure that appropriate educational services and academic supports are provided to youth who are required to be enrolled in K-12 or GED programs. Services shall include the following:
 - a. Documentation of the child's academic progress;
 - b. Documentation of each child's attendance, courses and grades at the time of withdrawal from school;
 - c. Immediate referral by the R.B.W.O. provider of the child to the appropriate educational agency, with the goal of placing each child in the educational program appropriate for his/her needs within 48 hours of admission to the R.B.W.O. provider;
 - d. Monitoring of the child's educational progress through regular contact with the local school personnel;
 - e. Participation in the annual Individualized Educational Plan (IEP) review and ensuring that any child determined to be eligible for special education has an IEP;
 - f. Ensuring that every child age 14 and older receiving special education services has an IEP that includes a section on Transition Services and that those services are being provided;
 - g. Notifying and inviting parents/guardians to attend any school-related conferences;
 - h. Ensuring that any child who is experiencing difficulty in school is considered for assistance through the Student Support Team (SST);
 - i. Providing and/or accessing vocational course work for each child determined to be eligible for vocational education and training;
 - j. Providing and/or accessing GED preparation classes for each child who meets the state and local eligibility standards in order to qualify for GED testing; and
 - k. For providers with on-grounds schools, the school programs must be operated in accordance with all requirements of the State Department of Education (see

- state law O.C.G.A. Section 20-2-133) and all applicable state and federal guidelines.
- Documentation of at least two provider facilitated academic supports per month. Documentation should reflect how the educational activity, service, or resource assists the child with meeting learning standards, accelerates their learning process, and/or encourages and promotes the child's overall academic success.
- 6.12 For youth not enrolled in secondary education, providers will ensure that the youth has programming that focuses on the development of life skills, basic academic skills, GED preparation, and/or vocational skills. Vocational Services include provision or access to the following menu of services:
 - a. Counseling and guidance.
 - b. Referral and assistance to obtain services from other agencies.
 - c. Job search and placement assistance.
 - d. Vocational and other training services.
 - e. Transportation, if needed.
 - f. On-the-job or personal assistance services to teach good work habits.
 - g. Interpreter services.
 - h. Occupational licenses, tools, equipment, initial stocks and supplies.
 - i. Technical assistance for self-employment.
 - j. Rehabilitation assistive technology.
 - k. Supportive employment services.
 - l. For those youth who are not job-ready, opportunities to do structured and regular volunteer work.
- 6. 13 For youth who are considering dropping out of school or pursuing a GED, providers must follow the policy outlined in the DFCS Child Welfare Policy Manual 10.13, Educational Needs (see appendix for link to DFCS Child Welfare Policy Manual).
- 6.14 Providers must provide or arrange for tutoring or other academic assistance for children who are not achieving academically (i.e. performing below grade level, failing one or more classes and/or standardize test reveal deficiencies in any academic subject).
- 6.15 Providers must facilitate the provision of psychiatric services appropriate for the needs of all children.
- 6. 16 Providers must coordinate community supports and service/treatment elements needed by the children served. This includes the provision or arrangement of transportation.
- 6.17 Providers must use Medicaid Rehab Option (MRO) providers and/or private providers who have been pre-approved by the Division.
- 6.18 Whether or not the RBWO provider is an MRO provider, there may not be any rules implied or stated that require the use of any particular MRO as a condition of admission or continuing placement.
- 6.19 Providers must maintain up to date records on all MRO services provided to children.

- 6.20 Providers must coordinate with the External Review Organization (ERO) for short-term placements in PRTFs.
- 6.21 Providers must conduct Every Child Every Month (ECEM) contact every month (starting the first full month of placement) for each child placed. The ECEM contact must occur in the child's residence (foster home or CCI). The ECEM visit must be conducted by the CCI Human Services Professional or the CPA Case Support Worker or Case Support Supervisor. Prior to conducting any ECEM visits, the staff person must have completed the ECEM webinar training which is posted on www.gascore.com. A copy of the completion certificate must be maintained in the staff's personnel and/or training file.

The documentation of the visit must be uploaded and approved via the SHINES Portal within 72 hours of the contact. ECEM documentation includes the following:

- a. Developmental, social, emotional progress and challenges
- b. Progress on Individual Service Plan goals
- c. Child's involvement in the permanency case plan
- d. Issues pertinent to safety, permanency and well-being
- e. Any concerns or red flags
- f. Any need for follow-up and next steps.

Additional information on conducting and documenting ECEM contacts is posted at www.gascore.com.

- 6.22 Providers must incorporate the principles of trauma informed knowledge into the daily living environments in CCIs and provide trauma informed training to CPA staff and caregivers. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
- 6.23 In partnership with DFCS, providers should make reasonable efforts to ensure e that children remain in the same school they were attending prior to removal and at any change in placement, unless continuation in that school is contrary to their best interest. (See Child Welfare Policy Manual 10.13)
- 6.24 CCI staff are required to maintain First Aid and CPR certification. Initial training must be obtained within the first 30 days of employment, if the employee is not already certified. First Aid and CPR certification does not count toward annual training requirements. CPA providers must verify that caregivers maintain current certification in Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (CPR) and First Aid throughout the approval period for their foster home.
- 6.25 Providers may not restrict for any reason or purpose approved contacts for children with siblings, family or other permanency individuals at any time during placement. (See also Standard 2.8)
- 6.26 Providers must develop and implement a policy on providing age and development appropriate sex education geared toward empowering youth to self-protect and report personal boundary violations. The policy must include a protocol for addressing incidents of sexual activity, violence, and coercion. (P.R.E.P. program information in the Definitions appendix may be of assistance to providers.)

- 6.27 CPAs and CCIs must follow the Reasonable and Prudent Parenting Standard (RPPS).
 - a. CCI must have a staff person identified as the caregiver who will be responsible for such decisions.
 - b. At least one agency staff (HSP or higher) must attend the OPM RPPS "Train-the-Trainer" course. Providers must ensure that this trained staff member in turn provides RPPS training to all other staff. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
 - c. Providers must have a RPPS policy; however, this provider policy shall in no way diminish or circumvent DFCS RPPS policy. Caregivers must also be trained in RPPS. The curriculum is available on www.gascore.com. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
 - d. Each youth has regular and ongoing opportunities to engage in developmentally appropriate activities.
 - e. Providers must have a routine process of consulting with children to determine if the children's input regarding having regular opportunities to participate in age appropriate activities.
 - f. Providers must mark an annual check box in GA+SCORE that indicates that the RPPS policy is operating as intended.
- 6.28 Providers servicing youth ages 14 years and over must adhere to the Youth Rights and Responsibilities (Child Welfare Policy 13.7). Providers must have a Youth Rights and Responsibilities policy, consistent with Child Welfare Policy, and are required to train the agency's employees, volunteers, and caregivers on this policy. Curriculum is available on www.gascore.com for facilitators that have attended a train the trainer session.

Standard 7: Least Restrictive and Most Appropriate Placements

Children should be placed in the most appropriate and least restrictive living arrangement.

- 7.0 Providers must initiate the step-down process for children to less restrictive placements as they meet their service goals and their needs change. Providers must notify the DFCS case manager and the Care Coordination Team Unit (CCTU) at www.gascore.com for a review of the child's program designation as indicated. Step-downs may occur within a provider's own service continuum or to other providers who offer the less restrictive and/or less intensive services.
- 7.1 CCI providers must re-assess the appropriateness of restrictive placements at least every three months but as frequently as assessments warrant and initiate step-downs as indicated.
- 7.2 Providers must ensure that children in their care are placed appropriately based upon their current needs.
- 7.3 In partnership with DFCS, providers must make reasonable efforts to place siblings together in the same placement. All siblings in foster care must be placed together, except under specific circumstances when such a joint placement would be contrary to the safety or well-being of any of the siblings. If siblings must be placed separately, efforts must be made to ensure frequent visitation unless visitation is contrary to the safety and well-being of any of the siblings as documented by a licensed professional and approved by

the custodial county's director/designee. (See Child Welfare Policy Manual 10.20 and Standards 3.10 and 8.0)

Permanency Support

Standard 8: Achieving Permanency

Providers will assist DFCS in achieving permanency for children.

- 8.0 Providers must work in partnership with DFCS to facilitate visits between the child and their family, as well as between the child and their siblings. This includes providing transportation of the child placed with the provider, as practical. Providers will also work in conjunction with DFCS to provide transportation to court.
- 8.1 Providers role in permanency is to provide supportive services to assist DFCS in achieving permanency for children. Permanency support services include identifying, documenting and partnering with DFCS to address the following:
 - Defining and linking interventions to barriers to achieving permanency;
 - Teaching the child and family the skills to live successfully in a family setting;
 - Assertively reaching out to "hard-to-reach" or "resistant" families;
 - Helping siblings maintain or reconstitute their relationship through phone contact and visitation;
 - Identifying extended family or other caring adult connections who may be able to provide permanency or support for the child and family;
 - Providing the parents and guardians with strategies to manage their own stress, as well as manage their child's challenging behaviors;
 - Working with DFCS to arrange for family therapy, family support and skill-building activities for the family;
 - Operating on the principle that family contact is a right, not a privilege;
 - Supervising family visitation, coordinating unsupervised transitional family visitation, coordinating and monitoring visiting schedule and plan;
 - When reunification is not possible, working with DFCS to pursue adoption or transition to another permanency option;
 - Helping children who will not be returning home to have the optimal level of involvement with their families; and
 - Providers must coordinate with DFCS to ensure parents or other identified
 permanency resources are invited to attend all youth's medical and dental
 appointments, unless prohibited by court order or other identified safety concerns; and
 - Other strategies as dictated by individual cases.
- 8.2 When adoption has been identified as the youth's permanency plan, providers must provide the requested documents to DFCS within fifteen (15) days of the request from DFCS.
- 8.3 When permanency is achieved, the provider must work with DFCS, families, treatment providers and other stakeholders to transition children into the permanent placement.

- 8.4 Providers must attend/participate when invited to an FTM, Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) meetings, Juvenile Court Reviews, Citizen Panel hearings, and transitional discharge planning meetings as requested by the Division.
- 8.5 Within the first 30 days of placement, providers must communicate with DFCS to understand each individual child's permanency plan, the DFCS Every Parent Every Month (EPEM) plan, and to establish the provider's EPEM plan. The frequency, type, mode, and purpose of the contacts must be negotiated with the DFCS case manager. If the provider is not required to conduct EPEM contacts it must be documented in the child's case record. Providers must have contact with the child's birth parents, guardian, or other permanency person in order to support the DFCS case plan unless, in accordance with the DFCS case manager, the provider is not expected to conduct EPEM contacts. The provider's EPEM plan should be updated when the ISP is updated, when the DFCS case plan or EPEM plan is changed, or when events dictate.

Standard 9: Planned Discharges and Continuity of Care

Discharges are planned and coordinated with families, DFCS and other stakeholders.

- 9.0 Discharge planning must begin at the beginning of admission to the provider and is reflected in the initial ISP. Placement disruptions are unplanned changes whereas discharges are planned transitions to less restrictive placements, more appropriate placements or to permanency.
- 9.1 The DFCS case manager and the provider including any subcontractors must participate in a team meeting prior to discharge for all children placed by Fulton or DeKalb County.
- 9.2 The Discharge Summary must be provided to the DFCS case manager at the time of notification but no later than one business day. The Discharge Summary must include general information covering the child's placement, progress, efforts to preserve the placement, challenges, and recommendations for services and supports the child will need to be successful at home or in the next placement.
- 9.3 The Division may, in its sole discretion, remove a child from a placement at any time.
- 9.4 Providers must discharge all young persons from their program by the young person's 21st birthday.
- 9.5 For youth exiting a placement to enter college or other long term learning facilities, providers must discharge the youth from the placement. If the youth desires to return to the placement during breaks (e.g. Christmas or summer) the provider must add the youth back into the placement. If capacity does not permit the youth to be added to the home, permission may be granted by the Office of Provider Management to ensure the youth can maintain their permanency connection with the caregiver(s).

Standard 10: Preparation for Independent Living

Adolescents receive independent living skills in preparation for self-sufficiency.

10.0 Providers who care for youth ages 14 years and up will develop an Individualized Skills Plan based upon the Casey Life Skills Assessment (CLSA). The Individualized Skills

Plan is a supportive component to the DFCS Written Transitional Living Plan (WTLP). The Individualized Skills Plan must be updated every six months.

10.1 Providers must ensure that youth complete the CLSA annually beginning at age 14 through 21 years of age. The CLSA should be completed within 15 days of the youth's birthday or intake date based on the identified age requirements. The CLSA is required to develop the Individualized Skill Plan. Providers should review assessment findings with the youth in a strength-based conversation that actively engages them in the process of developing their goals. The Caregiver Assessment portion of the CLSA should be completed in conjunction with the youth's assessment and included in the youth's skills plan. When administering the CLSA, providers must use the appropriate code (which is based on the child's custodial county region).

Note: This requirement can be satisfied at initial placement if a current CLSA has been provided from DFCS or the youth's previous placement.

- 10.2 Providers must upload a monthly Independent Living report on each youth's progress on their Individualized Skills Plan, into the SHINES portal, by the 10th day of the following month.
- 10.3 Providers must provide adolescents ages 14 years and older with daily living skills that include such things as menu planning, grocery shopping, meal preparation, dining decorum, kitchen cleanup, food storage, home management and home safety.
- 10.4 Providers must provide independent living services to support the youth's Individualized Skills Plan directly and/or ensure that youth participate in county or other independent living services. Independent Living programming includes:
 - Housing and community resources to assist youth in making a positive transition to the community, including housing, transportation and community resources.
 - Money management to help youth make sound decisions, both now and in the future. This includes exploring beliefs about money, information about savings, income tax, banking, credit, budgeting, spending plans and consumer skills.
 - Self-care to include skills to promote a youth's physical and emotional development: personal hygiene, health, drugs and tobacco education, and information about human sexuality and making safe choices.
 - Social development focusing on relating to others now and in the future. This
 includes personal development, cultural awareness, communication,
 relationship education and training.
 - Work and study skills to address the skills needed to help youth complete their educational programs and pursue careers of interest. This includes career planning, employment, decision making and study skills.
- 10.5 The provider must develop, amend, or revise with the youth a special Individualized Skills Plan (a supportive component to the WTLP) within 90 days of a youth turning 18

years. DFCS is required to facilitate a Transitional Round Table (TRT) within this same timeframe to develop, amend or revise the WTLP. If the provider has not already been invited to the TRT, with 180 days of the youth turning 18 years, the provider should inquire as to the TRT plan with the DFCS case manager and IL Specialist. The provider's ISP can be developed with DFCS at the TRT (preferred) or independently if necessary. (See **DFCS Child Welfare Manual Policy 13.3**)

- 10.6 Providers serving youth age 14 years and older must be familiar with the policies that govern DFCS Independent Living Services. These policies are covered in DFCS Child Welfare Policy Manual Chapter 13. Note: DFCS Independent Living policies refer to services available to all youth ages 14 years and up. Such policies refer to all age eligible youth regardless of whether or not they reside in Specialty RBWO Independent Living or Transitional Living programs. Questions regarding DFCS Independent Living policy and practice should be directed to your IL Specialist in the provider's region or OPM.
- 10.7 Provider and young person must participate in a transition planning meeting with DFCS every six months beginning at age 16. Within 90 days of the young person's 18th birthday, another transition planning meeting must occur. (refer to Child Welfare Policy 13.4 Independent Living Program: Transition from Foster Care)

Family Foster Homes

Standard 11: CPA Family Foster Homes Meet DFCS Minimum Standards² All family foster homes must meet safety, well-being and quality of care standards.

- 11.0 CPA foster homes must meet the minimum approval standards for fostering as outlined in DFCS Child Welfare Policy Manual Chapter 14. Foster homes may not receive placements prior to complete and approved family information being entered into GA SHINES.
- 11.1 CPAs must approve and re-approve foster homes using the standards and requirements outlined in DFCS Child Welfare Policy Manual Chapter 14 and Child Welfare Policy 19.08. Only foster parents in full approval status, which includes all criminal history and child protective services safety checks, may receive new and additional placements of foster children in DFCS custody.
- 11.2 CPAs must ensure that prospective caregivers are drug screened per DFCS Child Welfare Policy Manual Chapter 14.1 & 19.25 using a qualified drug testing laboratory.
- 11.3 CPAs must have a written description of their pre-service and on-going training program for caregivers. The training program should be reviewed and updated periodically to reflect the changing needs of children and families. The pre-service training program

² Providers may use DFCS forms or their own comparable forms to meet requirements.

- must be approved by DFCS. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
- 11.4 Providers must ensure that caregivers participate in relevant annual training that at least meets the requirements of DFCS Child Welfare Policy Manual Chapter 14. CPAs must have a standard format for approving independent study and for measuring and documenting the learning that has taken place. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
- 11.5 Caregivers must complete a pre-service training and a provider orientation to foster parenting as a part of the initial approval process.
- 11.6 Providers must incorporate the principles of trauma-informed practice into foster parent on-going training (A free trauma curriculum for foster parents can be obtained at The National Child Traumatic Stress Network www.nctsnet.org). Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
- 11.7 Foster parent homes must be located close enough to the agency to allow for their involvement in all aspects of the program including pre-service and in-service training, formal and informal support networks, home visits by the case support worker both planned and in emergencies, and participation in all activities related to the development and implementation of the child and family plan.
- 11.8 Each foster home record must include a copy of the notification to the caregiver (letter, memo, etc.) that indicates the period that the home is approved. Each successive approval period must have such a notification in the record; there should be no gaps in the dates from approval period to approval period. This letter must include the approval period; age range; gender; capacity; agency's case support worker's contact information and include the after-hours contact information.
- 11.9 Providers must maintain a placement log for each caregiver's home in their respective files. This log must include the child's name, date of birth, date of placement and program designation.
- 11.10 CPAs must ensure that caregivers have a copy of the Foster Parent Bill of Rights and receive an explanation of the grievance process.
- 11.11 CPAs must ensure that caregivers are provided with information on their Right To Be Heard during court reviews, hearings and other information in accordance with O.C.G.A. 15-11-58 (p). Such information must be provided during pre-service training and annually during on-going training. It must be documented in the foster parent's training record.
- 11.12 CPAs must ensure that their foster parents, who provide services to foster children in the custody of DFCS, are paid timely. CPA providers must have a written policy regarding foster parent payments that outline these payment dates. CPA providers must pay the foster parent the total amount of the foster parent supplemental per diem as outlined in the child's RBWO program designation memo.

- 11.13 CPAs must ensure that children are removed from foster homes and will not be placed in foster homes where there has been a finding by the Division that the foster parent is the perpetrator of substantiated abuse or neglect or whose violation of a DFCS policy has threatened the safety of the child. The only exception is where the home has been determined by the DFCS state office review to be in the best interest of the child/children in the home. A written waiver must be in the case file as well as a plan of correction to alleviate the safety concerns.
- 11.14 CPAs must ensure that the number of children placed in their foster homes complies with the following requirements:
 - a. The number of foster children cared for in a foster family home may exceed six for any of the following reasons:
 - 1. To allow a parenting youth in foster care to remain with the child of the parenting youth.
 - 2. To allow siblings to remain together.
 - 3. To allow a child with an established meaningful relationship with the family to remain with the family.
 - 4. To allow a family with special training or skills to provide care to a child who has a severe disability.

Note: For youth in the custody of Fulton or DeKalb county refer to Standard 4.8 - 1 (a).

For ALL foster youth in the legal custody of Fulton and/or DeKalb county:

- 11.15 CPAs must ensure that the number of children placed or approved to be placed in a foster home will not displace the foster family's children or other members living in the household from reasonable and expected accommodations (i.e., bed, personal space and privacy). CPAs must ensure that placements also comply with the following requirements:
 - a. Only bedrooms shall be used as sleeping space for children.
 - b. Each non-related child must have a separate bed.
 - c. Any collapsible (pack and play), sofas, cots or other such temporary sleeping structures may not be used as the planned bed space for children.
 - d. A maximum of two (2) children may sleep in a double or larger bed if they are siblings, the same sex and under age 5 years. Preferably all children will have separate beds, however, infants must always be in a separate bed or crib.
 - e. No child shall sleep in a bed with an adult. Infants may not sleep in a bed with anyone.
 - f. Preferably, a maximum of three (3) children will share a bedroom. The suitability of children sharing a room must be thoroughly assessed and based on the background/history of the children and the space.
 - g. Children age five (5) years and older and of different sexes shall not share a bedroom.
 - h. Cameras should not be used in a manner that violates privacy of youth. Cameras in bedrooms and bathrooms are prohibited.

In all instances, the suitability of children sharing rooms or beds (as in item C) must be thoroughly assessed and re-assessed as circumstances dictate.

For foster youth in the legal custody of all other counties:

- 11.15(a) CPAs must ensure that placements also comply with the following requirements:
 - a. Caregivers must provide a safe sleeping space including sleeping supplies, such as a mattress, a set of linen, and comforter/quilt for each individual child, as appropriate for the child's needs and age.
 - b. All children in the home must be treated equitably, meaning each child has sleeping arrangements similar to other household members.
 - c. Caregivers must not co-sleep or bed-share with children in foster care.
 - d. Caregivers with infants must adhere to the infant safe sleeping practices outlined in the Infant Safe to Sleep Guidelines and Protocol. Any collapsible (pack and play), sofas, cots or other such temporary sleeping structures may not be used as the planned bed space for children.
 - e. Cameras should not be used in a manner that violates privacy of youth. Cameras in bedrooms and bathrooms are prohibited.
- 11.16 Placements should be made after careful consideration of how well the prospective foster family will meet the child and family's needs. CPAs must document the process for making the decisions regarding foster home placements, including discussions with DFCS and the families of children already in the home, in the foster family's file. Proximity to family, including siblings, and home community must be considered in the placement matching decision. Placements must provide nurturing homes, which promote the abilities, contribution and competencies of children and young people in everyday life taking into consideration their age and development. Documentation of the placement decision must be recorded in the case file of the child being placed, as well as that of the child or children already in the home.
- 11.17 A caregiver must be provided the right to refuse placement of any child the parent feels is inappropriate for the home or presents a potential safety risk for other children in the home. A record of placement presentations made to caregivers and the result (accepted, declined) should be maintained for each home.
- 11.18 During the first 30 days of placement, providers must assess with the caregivers the necessity of safety gates, safety locks, outlet covers, securing sharps, medications, cleaning supplies or other items that may pose a hazard or danger based upon the individual child's needs. The outcome of the assessment must be documented in the child's record. Alternatively, providers may have a blanket policy that requires that all sharps, cleaning supplies and other items that may pose hazard or danger to the safety or well-being of children be locked up and inaccessible to children and youth. Providers will also assess household items to ensure that Tip-Over hazards are properly secured to prevent harm or injury to children.
- 11.19 The provider, including the caregiver, must be willing to work with the child's family, when applicable, and other caring adults in the child's life (e.g. extended family,

- former foster parents, CASA's, etc.) including assisting with, arranging, or providing transportation for visits and helping the child maintain sibling ties as well as court.
- 11.20 CPAs must conduct an in-home visit within the first week of placement. CPAs must increase visitation during the first thirty days of placement to ensure the adequacy of the placement match, monitor the in-home implementation of the case plan and to develop strategies to assist the child in being successful in the home, school and community. Some of this time should be spent interacting with the child alone and meeting with the child and the foster parent.
- 11.21 During home visits, the case support worker must talk privately with each child placed to ascertain the child's individual perspective, safety, well-being and any concerns. Information gathered must be documented in the case record
- 11.22 Caregivers must have 24-hour access to the provider. Foster parents must know how to contact the provider during nights and weekends.
- 11.23 Caregivers must have access to respite care, both planned and crisis. Foster homes only serving respite placements must be entered as fully approved foster homes in SHINES by the OPM Resource Development Staff. Respite foster homes must be in approval status prior to accepting respite placements.
- 11.24 Prior to the child being placed, providers must ensure that their caregivers receive available information concerning children placed including family history, medical, dental, physical, mental health and educational needs. Providers must ensure that complete and accurate updated information is provided to the caregivers as information becomes available.
- 11.25 Caregivers must be provided with a foster parent manual which outlines standards, policies and expectations of caregivers. The DFCS Foster Parent Manual which is available on the DFCS website (see appendix for link) may be used or the provider may create a comparable version.
- 11.26 If a CPA suspects or is notified that a caregiver may have violated a safety, behavior management, quality of care, well-being or other such policy, the suspected violation must be reported to and screened by the CPS Centralized Intake Call Center. Whether or not the report is investigated by CPS, providers must complete a Policy Violation Assessment (PVA) related to the issue and develop a Corrective Action Plan (CAP) with the caregiver as appropriate following the policy outlined in DFCS Child Welfare Policy Manual Chapter 14.22. Care should be taken to avoid interfering with any related CPS and/or law enforcement investigations. For violations that the Office of Provider Management becomes aware of, providers will be notified via a GA+SCORE generated e-mail of the need to complete a PVA. Providers must make face to face contact with the foster family and youth within 24 hours of receiving a PVA request notification via GA+SCORE. Completed PVAs must be uploaded into GA SCORE by the provider within 8 days of receiving the CPS notification. OPM will in turn review the PVA and provide feedback to the provider within 10 days. Any required CAPs must be uploaded into the Corrective Action tab in GA+SCORE within 3 days of notification. The provider must satisfy all action items in the CAP within six (6)

- months of submission. Appeals to OPM's PVA determinations should be directed to the OPM Director by the provider within 10 days of notification. The OPM Director will review the appeal and reply to the provider within 15 days. Providers who display a pattern of not submitting PVA's and CAP's by the designated deadline are subject to an admission suspension.
- 11.27 CPAs must ensure that foster parents who accept placements of infants are informed about the general dangers of infant co-sleeping (with adults or other children) and the DFCS policy which prohibits infants in care from sleeping in the same bed with anyone. CPAs should regularly inquire about infant sleep arrangements including naptimes during home visits and remind caregivers about taking precautions to prevent infant sleep related deaths and injuries. Please refer to the DFCS Infant Safe Sleeping Guidelines and Protocol, Appendix J.
- 11.28 Children with a Specialty program designation have intensive needs and require significant levels of care and supervision. Therefore, children who have a Specialty Watchful Oversight program designation -- Specialty Base (SBWO), Specialty Maximum (SMWO) and Specialty Medically Fragile (SMFWO)—must be the only placement in the foster home. This includes respite for the Specialty designation child or another child coming into the Specialty home for respite. If a home is considered to provide care for more than one youth with a specialty program designation, the foster home must meet the following requirements: The foster home must be a two parent foster home in which at least one of the foster parents is a stay at home parent. At least one of the foster parents must have a clinical or nursing background or have professional experience in caring for children and youth with specialty specified medical diagnoses and/or disabilities. Any exceptions to this standard (whether for respite or placement) must be approved in advance of the placement by the Office of Provider Management. Waiver requests should be sent to www.gascore.com and include a complete explanation of the supporting circumstances and concurrence from all children's DFCS Case Manager(s).
- 11.29 Any previous fostering or adopting experience must be documented in the initial home evaluation and used in making the approval decision. Providers must review any previous home evaluations, training history, policy violations history, corrective action plans history, reasons for closure and any other pertinent information that would assist in making an approval decision. A recommendation must be requested from the previous agency(ies). If a previous agency is closed, no longer has the caregiver's records or for other reasons is unable or refuses to comply with the request, this must be documented in the home evaluation.
 - a. CPA providers must work in partnership with other CPA's and DFCS when foster parents desire to transfer from one CPA to another CPA or local DFCS County. CPA Providers should be expeditious in forwarding trainings, home evaluations, references and other documents to the new CPA or DFCS as requested.
- 11.30 CPA providers must ensure that all children in care are given all medication as prescribed.

- I. Providers must have a medication management policy that includes managing medication refusal and securing of medication. Medication management policy should reflect that all medications must be stored in and dispensed from the original container, which should also include the prescribing physician's instructions.
- II. The foster parent will maintain a medication log in the home for all medications taken by children in their care that includes (child's name, foster parent name and signature, name of the medication, medication dosage, administration time and date, log start and end date as well as foster parent initials). Providers may use the DFCS Medication log or create an equivalent document to be used by foster parents.
- III. Provider will review and retrieve the original medication log from the foster parent monthly and file in the child's record.
- IV. Providers must upload a copy of the medication log into the SHINES portal by the 10th of the month.
- 11.31 CPA providers must keep a log of all Corrective Action Plans (CAP) or policy violations on foster homes.
- 11.32 CPA provider should assist the caregiver with integrating new children placed into the foster family and with any children already placed.
- 11.33 CPA providers must regularly assess children's clothing needs. Funding for clothing is not included in the CPA per diem. The DFCS case manager should be notified when children do not have adequate, season-appropriate clothing suitable for the child's age, gender, size and individual needs, and to determine if the child is eligible for a clothing allowance. CPAs should also consider creating community or other resources to address clothing issues. CPA's requesting reimbursement must submit receipts for clothing within three (3) months of purchase.
- 11.34 Foster homes must be placed on hold to additional placements during CPS investigations. The Office of Provider Management must be notified of any CPS investigation as soon as possible. OPM will place the home on hold in GA+SCORE and GA SHINES. At the conclusion of the investigation, the provider must contact OPM so that the foster parent's continued eligibility for placements can be ascertained.
- 11.35 CPA Providers must ensure that foster parents maintain a home environment that provides for the safety and well-being of children placed in their care. Foster parents are required to comply with the following safety requirements for children in foster care placement.
 - a. The foster home and surrounding property must be kept reasonably clean and uncluttered, properly maintained, and free of safety and health hazards, and uncontrolled rodents and insects.
 - b. All hazardous substances including, but not limited to, flammable and poisonous substances, medications, industrial cleaning supplies and alcoholic beverages are stored out of the reach of children.

- c. Ceilings, walls, and floors will be maintained and kept clean and free from graffiti, dirt, or stain buildup.
- d. Foster parents must have a plan for regular maintenance and upkeep of the living environment, furniture, and grounds.
- e. Each child placed must have a suitable bed, bedding (i.e. set of linen, and comforter/quilt) and storage for personal items.
- f. Children must be able to personalize their bedrooms to the extent possible.
- g. Bath, showers and toilets must be of a number and standard to meet the needs of the children placed and must be free of mold, mildew and debris.
- h. Kitchen should be maintained with operable appliances and reasonably clean.
- i. The home must have proper water heater temperature.
- j. Ammunition must be removed from firearms for storage purposes. Firearms and ammunition must be stored under lock and key. Keys to locked storage devices containing firearms or ammunition must remain in the possession of an adult or be reasonably secured from children.
- k. Pets must be vaccinated in accordance with state, tribal and/or local law.

Note* Animals with any history of violence or aggressiveness toward people should be safely secured in a cage, fence, or similar enclosure.

Child Caring Institutions

Standard 12: Child Caring Institutions

CCIs provide safe, quality, appropriate and effective programming.

- 12.0 CCIs must have a procedural manual which contains its statement of purpose, programs, policies, procedures, guidance to staff and other operational information.
- 12.1 The CCIs location, design and size are in keeping with its purpose and function. The CCI must have sufficient space to meet the needs of children placed.
- 12.2 CCIs must provide home-like accommodations whenever possible. CCIs must be decorated, furnished and maintained in a home-like manner appropriate for the number, gender mix and abilities of the children placed. Pictures and posters will reflect the cultures of children and families being served and should create a home-like atmosphere. The interior and exterior of the CCI must be safe and in a good state of structural and decorative repair.
- 12.3 The building and grounds and/or campsites must be designed and maintained to meet the needs of the children and families, and to assist staff in fulfilling their responsibility to provide supervision and oversight of children.
- 12.4 The building, grounds and/or campsites must be maintained in a condition to ensure the health and safety of the children served. During the first 30 days of placement, providers must assess the necessity of securing sharps, medications, cleaning supplies or other items that may pose a hazard or danger based upon the individual child's needs. The outcome of the assessment must be documented in the child's record. Hazardous

items will not be openly accessible to children and youth. The building and grounds will be kept clean and free from trash, debris and pests. Ceilings, walls, and floors will be maintained and kept clean and free from graffiti, dirt, or stain buildup.

- a. Smoke alarms must be present and functioning on all levels of the home.
- b. Working Carbon Monoxide Detectors must be installed on the sleeping level of the home.
- c. Providers that have a pool on the grounds or that have access to a pool must have at least one water rescue trained staff present when youth are participating in water activities and must complete a water safety assessment annually.
- 12.5 Providers must have a plan for regular maintenance and upkeep of the building, furniture, and grounds. Providers will assess household items to ensure that Tip-Over hazards are properly secure to prevent harm or injury to children. Resources must be available to repair damages and unanticipated repairs to the buildings and furnishings as needed.
- 12.6 Each child placed must have a suitable bed, mattress, bedding, and furniture designed for the storage of personal items (i.e., dresser or chest of drawers). Plastic bins may be used only as additional storage. Children must be able to personalize their bedrooms to the extent possible.
- 12.7 Each child must have a space to complete homework assignments and study.
- 12.8 Bath, showers and toilets must be of a number and standard to meet the needs of the children placed.
- 12.9 Upon admission, children must be provided with an orientation about the CCI, services they can expect, information on how they will be cared for and who they are likely to share the home with and other information which would orient the child to the placement. The orientation must be documented in the child's records.
- 12.10 In the initial and subsequent ISP, it should clearly indicate the assessed needs of the child, the objectives of the placement and how these objectives will be addressed on a daily basis which includes efforts to be made by the direct care staff and HSP.
- 12.11 Providers must actively promote the involvement of all children in the placement's social group, counter isolation of individuals, nurture friendships between children and support children who for any reason do not readily "fit in" with the group.
- 12.12 Providers must have a process for ensuring that the opinions and views of children on the operations of the placement are ascertained on a regular and frequent basis and given due consideration. Children are given the opportunity to meet with staff individually and in groups to discuss the general running of the home, to plan activities and to share their views.
- 12.13 Providers must ensure that children's privacy is respected and information is handled in a confidential manner. Provider's must ensure that staff know how to deal with and share information which they are given in confidence by the child or others.

- 12. 14 CCI Providers must have a documented and posted shopping schedule. The shopping schedule interval must be sufficient to ensure that children are provided with adequate quantities of suitably prepared food and drink, with regard to their needs and wishes. As appropriate, children should have the opportunity to shop for and prepare their own food. Daily menus should be documented and posted, and the food supply should adequately reflect the daily menu.
- 12.15 Providers shall ensure that nutritional "grab and go" snacks are available and accessible to the children in the program. To the extent possible, providers will ensure that children are able to obtain and or prepare snacks and drinks for themselves at reasonable times during the day.
- 12.16 The selection, preparation, and serving of food will be guided by the nutritional, social, cultural, religious, and health needs of the children served.
 - 1. Food should be appetizing and attractively served. The dining area should be pleasant.
 - 2. Meals should occur at regularly scheduled times. The atmosphere should be relaxed with opportunities for children to engage in conversation. In small group home settings, there should be enough chairs for all the children to eat together.
 - 3. Meals should include some of the food preferences of the children of different cultural and ethnic groups
 - 4. Children may be encouraged to eat; they may not be forced.
 - 5. Snacks should be offered after school and at other times as appropriate.
 - 6. Children should have a voice in menu planning.
 - 7. Children should be given opportunities to participate, with supervision, in food shopping and preparation.
 - 8. Unless there are dietary or therapeutic restrictions, children should be allowed to have more than one helping.
 - 9. For those children with special dietary needs, a professional nutritionist or a dietitian must be available for consultation on menu planning, portions, and preparation. The dietitian or nutritionist should be aware of the particular needs of children who have experienced neglect and deprivation.
 - 10. For providers who serve more than 12 children and operate a cafeteria, the cafeteria must be inspected by the Department of Public Health annually; results should be made available when requested and should be free of any concerns.
- 12.17 Children placed in CCIs may be eligible for an initial (i.e.at entry into foster care) clothing allowance if the initial allowance has not already been expended. Providers should discuss eligibility for initial clothing allowance with the DFCS case manager. CCI providers must continually ensure that children have an adequate amount of clothing to last until the next wash cycle (wash cycle/days should be documented and posted in an area available for the child's viewing). Adequate clothing can be defined as clean and available clothing for each day of the week, season-appropriate clothing suitable for the child's age, gender, size and individual needs. Children should be involved in shopping and selecting their clothing whenever possible. Funding for clothing other than the initial allowance is included in the CCI per diem.

- 12.18 Providers must ensure that there are ample opportunities for children to participate in a range of appropriate leisure activities.
- 12.19 Providers will have a program of indoor and outdoor recreational and leisure activities.
- 12.20 In addition to providing activities on site, the provider shall utilize the community's cultural, social, and recreational resources whenever possible and appropriate. If children are participating in a community program, the provider must ensure that the program has sufficient and appropriate supervision for the children in attendance or provider staff will supplement the supervision as necessary to achieve an adequate level.
- 12.21 Leisure and recreational activities will be incorporated in each child's service plan. Children's strengths, needs, and interests should be addressed when developing recreational and leisure activities. Recreation and leisure activities must provide opportunities for children to participate in both group and individual events. Providers must ensure that all activities are appropriate for the ages of the children being served.
- 12.22 Recreational equipment must be in good condition. Games and supplies must be useable and in good condition.
- 12.23 Providers must have adequate space to allow several different activities to occur simultaneously. Examples of activities that are appropriate for inside are table tennis, reading, art (class and free expression), and board and card games. Sufficient outside space must be provided for more active games such as basketball, volleyball, badminton, and soccer.
- 12.24 Providers must ensure that children do not spend all (or most) of their leisure time watching television or playing video and computer games.
- 12.25 Provider will expose youth to various educational and career opportunities through college tours, unique careers and motivational conferences and speakers. This includes the provider developing mentorship and motivational opportunities to cultivate community resources and partnerships providing services for youth.
- 12.26 CCIs must have a family visiting room or designated areas for visits.
- 12.27 Providers must have an insured, operable vehicle adequate for the number and needs of children placed.
 - **Note:** Appropriate exceptions to the Standards will be made for "Specialty" camp programs. Campsites shall be designed to meet the needs of the children served and shall be maintained in accordance with the RCCL rules and regulations for these programs.
- 12.28 Daily routines of residents shall provide for appropriate personal care, privacy, hygiene, and grooming commensurate with age, gender, and cultural heritage. All necessary toiletry items and supplies, such as and not limited to, soap, shampoo, hair brushes, toothbrushes and paste, deodorant, lotion, and bath towels, shall be provided.
 - a. Cameras should not be used in a manner that violates privacy of youth. Cameras in bedrooms and bathrooms are prohibited

- 12.29 CCI staffing standards are based on the assumption that children placed are age 12 years or older. If providers accept children under the age of 12, an assessment of how staffing will or will not be adjusted must be documented and based on each child's individual needs at admission. Documentation must be maintained in the child's record.
- 12.30 Providers must have and implement a policy regarding the safe guarding of vehicle keys.
- 12.31 CCI providers must follow RCCL rules regarding separate sleeping areas for male and female residents. However, males and females of any age may not share a room.
- 12.32 For Child Care Worker new hires, providers must request references regarding previous employment with other CCIs and/or other employers where the applicant had a child caring role.
- 12.33 New buildings will be accessible to people with disabilities and reasonable accommodations should be made in older buildings.
- 12.34 Providers will ensure that fire drills are held and documented at least twice a year.
- 12.35 If a CCI suspects or is notified that a staff member may have violated a safety, behavior management, quality of care, well-being or other such policy, the suspected violation must be reported to and screened by the CPS Centralized Intake Call Center. Whether or not the report is investigated by CPS, providers must complete a Policy Violation Assessment (PVA) related to the issue and develop a Corrective Action Plan (CAP) with the caregiver as appropriate following the policy outlined in DFCS Child Welfare Policy Manual Chapter 14.22. Care should be taken to avoid interfering with any related CPS and/or law enforcement investigations. For violations that the Office of Provider Management becomes aware of, providers will be notified via a GA+SCORE generated e-mail of the need to complete a PVA. Completed PVAs must be uploaded into GA SCORE by the provider within 8 days of receiving the CPS notification. OPM will in turn review the PVA and provide feedback to the provider within 10 days. Any required CAPs must be uploaded into the Corrective Action tab in GA+SCORE within 3 days of notification. Appeals to OPM's PVA determinations should be directed to the OPM Director by the provider within 10 days of notification. The OPM Director will review the appeal and reply to the provider within 15 days. Providers who display a pattern of not submitting PVA's and CAP's by the designated deadline are subject to an admission suspension.

General Administrative Matters

Standard 13: Provider Operations

Provider's administrative structure, programs and policies will provide the framework for delivering quality services to children and families.

13.0 Providers must maintain all license, certifications, or accreditations in effect at the time of the approval of the R.B.W.O. provider contract or as required by federal, state or local law authorities. In addition, regulations and guidelines of the Department of

Human Services, professional associations or entities providing accreditation to include business license or occupational tax certification required by certain jurisdictions. Certification or licensing for staff, facilities and programs must maintain compliance with R.B.W.O. Requirements.

- 13.1 Providers must have computers with internet access to be used by provider staff in performing requirements. Additionally, providers must have telecommunications which ensure that the Division is able to reach the provider twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week.
- 13.2 Providers must maintain sound practice informed by literature, research, legislation, policies and procedures as well as professional ethics and values.
- 13.3 Providers must notify OPM of any change of address, telephone contacts, administrator/executive director, staff roster (including administrative assistants and part-time staff), admissions contact, GA+SCORE reporting contact and after-hours contact via the GA+SCORE system within 48 hours of the change. There must be at least two (2) distinctly identified staff with different contact information listed in GA+SCORE at all times.

Note: Contractual changes such as site address, request for approved program designations, etc. should be made in writing to OPM using the vendor request form and may result in a site review or request for additional information. All vendor request forms should be sent to the Provider Relations Manager.

- 13.4 Providers must notify OPM of changes to policies and procedures that significantly impact the delivery of services or programmatic changes (i.e. gender or ages served).
- 13.5 Providers must use contracted service vendors who possess the appropriate license, certificate, or accreditation, which may be required by OPM when providing services to children to whom services are provided pursuant to these requirements.
- 13.6 Providers must participate and comply with all requests for information and records for use in the annual Time Study and Cost Report, including, but not limited to providing OPM with a copy of the provider's Annual Independent Audit Report, and to comply with all requests made by the Division to assist it in its efforts to obtain payment or recovery of costs of R.B.W.O services from third parties.
- 13.7 Providers must provide to OPM such data and reports as it requests for use in developing baselines and other reports or review processes to promote improvement in performance under these requirements and in any other area related to the services provided to children placed by DFCS in the following areas: child health and safety, family and community involvement, permanency, functioning levels, placement stability, and reentry to care.
- 13.8 Providers must fully and accurately submit all required data into GA+SCORE. Information must be entered timely and kept up to date.

- 13.9 Providers must employ an adequate number of qualified staff to provide the necessary services (See Staffing Standards).
- 13.10 At a minimum, RBWO providers must staff the following positions:

CCIs: Director, Human Services Professional (HSP) and the Child Care Worker (CCW) to meet staffing standards.

CPAs: Director, Case Support Supervisor and Case Support Worker (CSW) to meet staffing standards.

ILPs: Director and Life Coach

- 13.11 Providers must ensure that no staff employed by the facility has an unsatisfactory determination related to his or her criminal record.
- 13.12 All provider staff must meet the minimum educational and experiential requirements based upon their position as outlined in the Staffing section of the RBWO Minimum Standards.
- 13.13 Staffing ratios must meet the minimum standards as outlined in the Staffing Section of the RBWO Minimum Standards.
- 13.14 Providers must designate a staff member to coordinate training.
- 13.15 An individual staff development plan must be developed for each service staff member and kept on file.
- 13.16 Case support workers and supervisors, child care workers and human services professionals must be supported by regular, ongoing supervision.
- 13.17 Directors must be supported by regular ongoing supervision or consultation.
- 13.18 Provider documentation should be clear, appropriate, relevant, concise, timely and up to date. This applies to electronic and/or hard copy case records. Documentation relevant to children and young people should be dated, legible, signed and should make reference to the time of occurrence. Providers must review the quality of documentation on a regular basis and continuously improve methods. Records must be fully maintained at all times. Services provided must comply with relevant regulations for the protection of confidentiality and all documentation must be kept in a secure environment.

Note: Providers must notify OPM in writing of any RCCL approved satellite offices in which records are kept. Notification must be sent to the provider's assigned Monitoring Specialist and the Provider Relations Manager.

13.19 Children in foster care cannot be photographed for newspaper articles, Facebook or any other social media outlet, or a publication where their identities may be publicized. It is the policy of the Division of Family and Children Services (DFCS) that caregivers do

- not post any pictures of a foster child in their care online. It is important to never reveal personal information about your foster child on the internet as you risk jeopardizing his/her identity, safety and right to privacy. (See State of Georgia Foster Parent Manual)
- 13.20 Providers must comply with all applicable rules and regulations of Residential Child care licensing (RCCL).
- 13.21 Providers must ensure that DFCS has access to children in its custody 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, regardless of placement in CPA foster homes or CCIs.
- 13.22 Providers will upload Monthly Summary Reports on each child to the documents tab in the SHINES Portal by the 10th day of the following month. Monthly summaries should be completed for each child regardless of duration of placement for that month. See GA SHINES Provider Portal User Guide for instructions on uploading documents.
- 13.23 CCI and CPA staff with direct child care or case support responsibilities including child care workers, human services professionals and case support workers and supervisors must participate in a minimum of twenty-four (24) clock hours of annual training in issues related to the employee's job assignment and to the types of services provided by the agency. Participation in training on confidentiality, Mandated Reporting, and Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children is required for all staff annually. ESI, First Aid, and CPR do not count toward the annual training requirement. See Appendix for a list of additional training topics. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
- 13.24 OPM must be informed in writing if providers offer placements through other agencies (such as DJJ) or via private placements for children/youth who may have greater needs than the DFCS program designations for which the provider is approved for DFCS placements. Notification to OPM may result in a special site review or request for additional information. Providers should also make this information available to county staff seeking placements to assist in making informed placement decisions.
- 13.25 All foster care records must be maintained until the child has reached age 23 years. If a provider agency closes or ceases to contract for RBWO placements in the meantime and needs assistance with record storage, OPM should be contacted for assistance.
- 13.26 No child placed in the Division's custody is allowed to go home with any staff member of the agency.
- 13.27 Providers who utilize volunteers must have a policy that governs such activities. Volunteers used to meet any RBWO staffing requirements must follow all requirements outlined for regular staff. Volunteer policy must include the following:
 - A completed application for volunteering;
 - A Fitness Determination Letter from DHS, OIG;
 - A documented assessment of the volunteer which includes a face to face interview;
 - A driving record check on any volunteer expected to transport children

- Review of at least two references; if the volunteer has previous child caring experience or fostering/adopting experience, agency/employer references must be obtained;
- Orientation and training of the volunteer (including Mandated reporter training);
- Signing of a confidentiality agreement; and
- Maintenance of a file on the volunteer to include all related volunteer documents, hours worked, and duties performed.
- 13.28 Providers who utilize volunteers must ensure that they are supervised by a qualified RBWO Staff who is responsible for planning and coordinating the volunteer's assigned duties. An appropriate training/orientation program must be conducted by a qualified staff member prior to a volunteer engaging in any activities with youth.
- 13.29 Providers must have and implement a policy on supporting children and youth's safety on the internet and use of social media. The policy must include training of staff and caregivers on internet safety and providing age-appropriate information to children and youth regarding internet safety. This policy should also include the accessibility and usage of cellphones. CCI and CPA Staff and CPA foster parents should be trained on the Agency's policy. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
- 13.30 Providers must comply with Georgia Department of Labor employment laws and rules.
- 13.31 RBWO standards and contract deliverables may only be waived by the OPM Director. Waivers from RCCL and/or county or regional DFCS directors are not valid waivers of RBWO standards or deliverables.
- 13.32 Providers should obtain references from an applicant's or volunteer's previous or current employer if the applicant is or has been employed in a job situation that involves children (e.g. school, daycare center, group residential care or intensive residential care facility, etc.), within the last 10 years, prior to hiring the prospective employee. If the applicant or volunteer has served as a previous foster or adoptive parent, obtain references from the former county/agency. Obtain additional references if conflicting, ambivalent or inadequate statements are received from those initially requested.
- 13.33 Providers (CCIs and CPA foster parents) must have a written Emergency/Disaster Plan to address large scale emergency situations, including pandemic preparation and response. Emergency situations are defined as anything that will displace children during a statewide or agency disaster. At a minimum the plan should include: Instructions for how CCI staff as well as CPA foster parents are to proceed during an emergency situation, transportation, medication and record management, ongoing communication, location for the nearest shelter, hospital, police, and fire station. This plan will be reviewed and updated at least annually and uploaded in GA+SCORE. CCI Staff and CPA foster parents should be trained on the Agency plan. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.

- 13.34 CCI and CPA Human Service Professionals, Case Support Workers and Case Support Supervisors must complete RBWO *Foundations* new hire training within 4 months from their start date. Staff must enroll in one or both components within 30 days from the date of hire. The complete *Foundations* course consists of three (3) weeks of elearning / field practice experience and one (1) week of classroom instruction for a total of four (4) weeks of instruction. The classroom component of Foundations culminates with a knowledge-based competency test based on the materials covered during the 5-day classroom experience. The test must be passed with a score of at least 80% in order to earn credit for the classroom component. (Please refer to Foundations Training and Standards Guide located on GA+SCORE)
- 13.35 If existing CSS, CSW and HSP staff members have not completed RBWO Foundations training within the four (4) month deadline, they must be reassigned to roles other than CSS, CSW or HSPs until the training is successfully completed. Agencies identified as systematically failing to ensure that staff meets training requirements are subject to admissions suspension and OPM contract termination.
- 13.36 Provider will comply with all of the contract deliverables, OPM RBWO Minimum Standards, and DFCS Child Welfare Polices. Failure to comply will result in:
 - Intervention from the OPM Risk Management Team (site visit, technical assistance, office conference, etc.),
 - Letter of Concern,
 - Admission suspensions, and/or
 - Termination of contract.
- 13.37 Providers will implement an internal continuous quality improvement process to at a minimum placement matching, placement disruptions, child protective services investigations, policy violations, services to ILP youth, staff hiring and turnover, caregiver and staff training and performance based placement performance. Continuous quality improvement (CQI) is the complete process of identifying, describing, and analyzing strengths and challenges and then testing, implementing solutions and then learning from the results, and revising solutions in a continuous process that yields optimal programmatic functioning and better outcomes for children and families. Individuals who serve in a quality assurance or compliance role must meet the minimum educational and experiential requirements of the Human Services Professional or Case Support Worker.

Note: Reference Staffing Standards for educational and experiential requirements.

- 13.38 Providers must have an agency email domain that allows staff members to have a secured email address for use when sending and receiving communication regarding all RBWO matters. (Example: Rachel@rachelsplace.com).
- 13.39 Providers must have a written policy to address appropriate staff boundaries and relationships with youth in state care. The written policy must include the process of addressing staff members who engage in inappropriate boundaries with youth.
- 13.40 RBWO staff members serving in a Case Management Role with more than one provider, must notify all employers of their outside employment. Case Management

- staff cannot exceed the maximum caseload requirement across all agencies combined, taking into account the program designations of the children served for each agency.
- 13.41 A Director shall not serve in the capacity of any RBWO role for more than one agency, site, or location that is under contract with the Department of Human Services as an R.B.W.O. provider.
- 13.42 The Division promotes respect and dignity and does not tolerate sexual harassment in the workplace. The Division is committed to providing a workplace and environment free from sexual harassment for its employees and for all persons who interact with state government officials. Providers must provide sexual harassment training for their employees, contractors, and foster parents annually. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.

NOTE: Please see Appendix L to read about the Division's sexual harassment policy which provides the definition. The failure to comply with this policy will result in the termination of your RBWO contract.

Independent Living and Transitional Living Programs

Transitional and Independent Living Programs provide youth in foster care with opportunities to prepare for adulthood and to live independently, self-sufficiently, and prepare for adulthood. The goal of transitional and independent living programs is to provide older youth in foster care with the support, instruction, and opportunities to practice the necessary independent living skills and acquire the knowledge to become productive adults.

Comprehensive and effective independent living transitional services are key to helping youth function as productive citizens and acquire skills needed for pursuing an education, finding a job, obtaining suitable housing, and protecting their health and well-being when they leave the foster care system.

Transitional and Independent Living Programs serve youth in DFCS custody and those who have agreed to Extended Youth Support Services (EYSS). Youth who participate in these programs must be at least age sixteen (16) years through age twenty-one (21) years. Placements may also be provided to youth who were formerly in foster care; and who were discharged from DHS custody on or after their 18th birthday and who have not yet attained their 21st birthday. Transitional and Independent Living Programs must be flexible in order to meet a wide variety of needs and skill levels while providing youth the opportunity to accept more responsibility with decreasing structure and adult supervision.

Transitional Living Programs (TLP) are specialized RBWO programs for youth at least age 16 years. Youth may be older than 18 years old if they have agreed to EYSS. TLP is designed for youth who are ready to enter a phase of care that will eventually transition them to independent living. Transitional living affords youth an opportunity to practice basic independent living skills in a variety of settings with decreasing degrees of supervision. This specialized RBWO placement provides youth the opportunity to experience increased personal responsibility so youth can become responsible for their own care when they exit foster care. The goal of a transitional living placement is to prepare youth to become socially, emotionally, and personally independent of social services while connecting them to life-long

permanent connections and laying the foundation for the pursuit of educational and career opportunities.

Independent Living Programs (ILP) are specialized RBWO programs for youth who are at least 18 years of age through 21 years of age. ILP is different from TLP in that youth may live in an alternative living arrangement (i.e., community-based housing) rather than a group home, or other residential type facility. ILP placements shall begin no earlier than a youth's 18th birthday. Youth in ILP will experience graduated independence regarding program expectations, skill development and levels or types of supervision provided. The goal of an independent living placement is to prepare youth to become socially, emotionally, and personally independent of social services while connecting them to life-long permanent connections and laying the foundation for the pursuit of educational and career opportunities.

Hybrid Program Models

RBWO providers who have applied for and been approved to provide Teen Development services may exclusively provide ILP, TLP or both programs under the same program/site/name. Programs who operate a combined program or hybrid model must assign youth to their ILP or TLP programs based upon age, ability, and overall assessment. Youth under the age of 18 may only participate in TLP programs whereas youth over the age of 18 years may participate in either program. Provider performance will be assessed based upon each youth's program.

TLP and ILP Program Outcomes

Overall outcomes expected from transitional and independent living programs are as follows:

- youth have an affordable and permanent place to live upon their discharge from foster care:
- youth have a permanent connection with at least one safe, stable, nurturing adult outside of the social services system;
- youth have obtained a high school diploma or GED and are pursuing secondary or technical education:
- youth are employed or have gained significant employment experience or vocational training;
- youth can demonstrate self-sufficiency and independence from social services;
- youth can demonstrate personal responsibility;
- youth are free from illegal entanglements and risky behaviors;
- youth have secure, positive peer relationships; and
- youth understand their rights and responsibilities as a citizen.

II. RBWO Providers

OPM has developed Minimum Standards for TLP and ILP placements to help provide consistency in the development and delivery of services. All agencies desiring to provide transitional and/or independent living programs through a RBWO contract must be able to meet Standards.

Providers of Transitional Living Programs, which are for youth who are at least 16 years of age must be licensed through RCCL. Providers of Independent Living Programs who only

accept youth who have already turned 18 years and who are not and cannot be licensed through RCCL, must go through a pre-approval process with OPM before submitting a request to be a contracted provider.

Difference between Provision of Independent Living Skills and Specialized RBWO Programs for Independent and Transitional Living

All RBWO providers who serve youth ages 14 years and up must incorporate independent living skills into their services. These "soft skills" may be achieved through regular and natural opportunities in family foster care or congregate care (e.g., helping with chores, cooking meals, etc.), through classes or workshops and / or participation in a county or regional Independent Living program through an Independent Living Specialist (ILS). Regardless of the administering entity (i.e., child-placing agency, residential facility or DFCS foster home), youth must be provided opportunities to learn the skills they need to live independently. These skills, at a minimum, may include: preparing meals; doing laundry; cleaning the home; living cooperatively with other housemates or neighbors; maintaining employment; paying bills; handling finances in general; washing and ironing; using public transportation; handling basic maintenance, simple repairs; creating and maintaining order in a living space; and training in basic first aid. Regardless of the skills being taught, the skills must be tailored to a youth's current level of functioning. Additional skills may be introduced as a youth progresses, achieves success in the minimum skills, and desires to learn more advanced skills.

RBWO providers who are designated as ILP or TLP providers have programs which specialize in preparing youth for independence or supporting emancipated youth who have chosen to remain in foster care. These programs have specific goals and requirements which differentiate them from other RBWO programs. Youth in RBWO TLP and ILP programs are being further prepared for adulthood by being provided a realistic living experience, through transitional or independent living placements where they can take full responsibility for themselves. Elements of living experiences include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Direct experience with the consequences of daily actions and decisions;
- Youth being involved in their skill development planning;
- Life skills practice while having access to staff for support and advice;
- Ability to determine needed areas of support before emancipation or transfer to a less supervised living arrangement;
- Daily social contacts;
- Emotional adjustment to the difference between present living situation and previous ones, and to the loneliness that may occur due to a change in living situations;
- Practice in living alone;
- Use of emergency medical procedures;
- Obtaining and using transportation to access needed resources;
- Safe use of household appliances;
- Practice in basic housekeeping;
- Negotiating a rental agreement;
- Use of leisure time;
- Practice in money management and budgeting;
- Experience in shopping, food preparation, food storage; and

• Consumer skills.

These experiences must also be tailored to a youth's current level of functioning. Additional experiences and opportunities may be introduced as a youth's skill level increases and more complex opportunities are desired.

Transitional Living Minimum Standards

RBWO providers are responsible for assuring that their transitional living programs meet the following requirements as well as applicable *RCCL rules and regulations*. TLP youth who are under the age of 18 years are still in DFCS custody and thus TLP providers of these youth must follow the RBWO Minimum Standards for all providers *and* the Standards for this specialized program. Providers with youth who are over the age of 18 years and in a TLP will be assessed using general RBWO Standards and TLP standards with exceptions made where general Standards are not applicable to youth over the age of 18 years.

Standard 14: TLP Admissions

Providers must only admit youth to a TLP for whom the admissions assessment indicates that the youth is appropriate for the program.

- 14.0 Admitted youth must be at least 16 years of age, with any permanency plan and have been assessed by the provider to be invested in and able to benefit from the TLP.
- 14.1 Providers must have defined admittance criteria, which include a youth-completed application and interview.
- 14.2 Providers must maintain an up to date roster on GA + SCORE.
- 14.3 Providers must determine whether youth will be accepted or denied admission within three business days of a completed application.
- 14.4 Youth admitted into a TLP must have an orientation to the program. Youth must be provided with a handbook or other literature describing the program. Youth must sign an acknowledgement of having participated in the orientation and having received an explanation of their rights and responsibilities as a program participant.
- 14.5 All youth entering TLP must have a staffing within the first 30 days of placement, which must include the youth, DFCS Case Manager and other supports. The ILS should be invited. The purpose of the staffing is to review expectations, the WTLP and TLP ISP.

Standard 15: TLP Supervision and Independence

Youth should receive levels of supervision that fit their needs and be provided with appropriate independence to practice skills needed for independent living.

- 15.0 TLP youth must have a documented assessment which supports their level of supervision.
- 15.1 The determined level of supervision must be incorporated into the ISP, which must be signed by the youth, DFCS Case Manager and Life Coach.

- 15.2 The supervision level must be re-assessed at least every three months or as often as circumstances or changes dictate by the DFCS Case Manager or Life Coach.
- 15.3 Youth in TLPs must be supervised under the same standards as general RBWO programs. However, TLP youth may be appropriate for graduated independence which outlines decreasing levels of supervision based upon the program objectives, the youth's maturity and other factors.

Standard 16: Transitional Independent Living Skill Building

TLP programs must assist youth in making progress toward achieving the goals of the TLP ISP.

- 16.0 Providers must utilize the DFCS Written Transitional Living Plan (WTLP) in the development of the youth's TLP Individual Skills Plan (TLP ISP). The TLP ISP must support the WTLP and be based upon the youth's needs, desires, Casey Life Skills Assessment (CLSA) and permanency plan. (The TLP ISP is the ISP for the TLP programs. All other standards for the ISP apply.)
- 16.1 The TLP ISP must have defined goals and objectives with timeframes established. Case documentation should reflect progress and/or efforts toward meeting goals.
- 16.2 The TLP ISP incremental steps or goals must include the following:
 - Development of Permanency Pacts or other agreements with caring adult connections;
 - Living arrangements upon discharge from Extended Youth Support Services;
 - Educational and/or vocational planning; and
 - Any other goals or objectives which will assist the youth in being successful post discharge.
- 16.3 Providers must upload via the GA SHINES Portal a monthly summary of each youth's progress to the regional Independent Living Specialist (ILS) and the DFCS case manager by the 10th of the following month. The list of ILSs is located in Appendix G.
- 16.4 TLP youth must be engaged in learning and developing "soft" and "hard" independent living skills, daily living and self-care skills. Hard skills include the teaching of areas including, but limited to banking, apartment hunting, job search, budgeting and educational planning. Soft skills include the teaching of areas including, but not limited to anger management, goal-oriented behaviors, parenting skills, problem solving skills and interpersonal communication. Daily living skills should include instruction in nutrition, menu planning, grocery shopping, meal preparation, dining decorum, kitchen cleanup, food storage, home management, and home safety. Opportunities for youth to apply these skills would include developing menus, shopping for ingredients, preparing meals, cleaning the kitchen and dishes at the conclusion of the meals, and appropriately storing leftover food. Self-care skills should include instruction about topics such as hygiene, health, alcohol, drugs, tobacco, parenting skills and responsible sexual practices. Opportunities for youth to apply these skills would include discussions as well as role playing and rehearsal of parenting and hygiene skills.

- 16.5 At a minimum, providers should document at least two efforts weekly that record the youth's engagement in independent living skills development.
- 16.6 Youth should attend county/regional IL meetings unless there is a reason why it is not possible or practicable. Provider must document the reason in the monthly summary report to the ILS and DFCS Case Manager.
- 16.7 Providers must coordinate educational services, facilitate career plan development, provide tutors, and help youth attain educational goals.
- 16.8 Providers must assist youth in developing a career plan. The plan should include the youth's interests, strengths in school, visions for career and personal life, and opportunities for career and work experience.
- 16.9 Providers must connect youth with local industries and employment programs so that youth have the opportunity to explore career opportunities and develop a plan to achieve their career aspirations.
- 16.10 Providers must offer job search training in areas such as resume writing and interviewing.

Standard 17: Permanency Planning

Providers must provide support of the youth's permanency plan.

- 17.0 Providers must document supportive activities which assist youth with achieving their DFCS permanency goal.
- 17.1 For youth with Another Planned Living Arrangement (APPLA) goals which includes emancipation, providers must include in the TLP ISP incremental steps or goals which include the following:
 - Development of Permanency Pacts or other agreements with caring adult connections:
 - Living arrangements upon discharge from foster care;
 - Consideration of extending foster care services;
 - Educational and/or vocational planning; and
 - Any other goals or objectives which will assist the youth in being successful post discharge from foster care.
- 17.2 Youth between the ages of 17 to 17 ½ must be provided with an orientation to benefits provided by the state Georgia Resilient, Youth-Centered, Stable, Empowered/Independent Living Program (GA RYSE/ILP), community resources as well as any other public assistance benefits such as food stamps, housing, or TANF.
- 17.3 Within three months prior to a youth's exit plan from foster care, in collaboration with DFCS, the provider and youth should jointly develop and sign a formal transition plan describing how the youth will successfully move from state custody to independence. A staffing must occur to discuss the transitional process. At a minimum, a plan should be

discussed at this meeting to indicate what steps the youth will take to meet his or her educational and vocational goals, identify community services the youth can turn to if he or she needs assistance, and outline individualized tasks the youth will undertake to meet specific challenges identified on his or her TLP ISP or WTLP.

Standard 18: Life Coaching

Youth are supported in achieving personal goals through a Life Coach.

18.0 Youth in TLP programs must have a Life Coach. Life Coaches must meet the same educational and experiential requirements of a Human Services Professional (HSP). Life coaching is a practice that helps people identify and achieve personal goals. Life Coaches help clients set and reach goals using a variety of tools and techniques. Life Coaches model life skills (e.g., assertiveness, communication, conflict management, problem solving and decision making) and provide activities for youth to practice life skills and provide appropriate feedback to the youth.

Note: Life Coaches serve as the HSP for TLP programs.

- 18.1 TLP Life Coaches must participate in a basic certification training provided by the state GA RYSE/IL Program Director. Training covers Independent Living policies, Casey Life Skills Assessment (CLSA) and other requirements of the program.
- 18.2 TLP Life Coaches must attend at least one county/regional/ state IL training, meeting or workshop quarterly. This requirement may also be met by meeting individually with the Regional ILS or DFCS Case Manager to staff the youth.
- 18.3 Life Coaches must have a written plan for each youth that includes at least bi-monthly face-to-face sessions with youth. The Life Coach plan may be a separate document or incorporated into the TLP ISP. Life Coaches must utilize the results of the youth's CLSA in the development of the TLP ISP and Life Coaching plan.
- 18.4 Life Coaches must participate in at least twenty-four (24) hours of annual training. At least twelve (12) hours should be directly related to work with teens including understanding developmental needs of adolescents and strength-based assessments. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.

Standard 19: TLP Outcome Measures

Providers must track outcomes of youth and overall program performance.

- 19.0 TLP providers must track outcomes for youth. Minimally, programs should compile, on an annual basis, results on the following:
 - Demographics on youth served
 - Life skills programming
 - Educational outcomes
 - Vocational outcomes

- Youth involvement with DJJ or DOC
- Housing, adult connection, employment, educational status of youth emancipating from the program

19.1 Providers must distribute reports for the contract year by July 30th annually (reports cover July 1- June 30). Reports should be provided to OPM, regional ILS and the state GA RYSE/IL Program Director.

Standard 20: TLP Housing Options

- 20.0 Transitional living placements may be offered through a variety of residential oncampus living arrangements where youth have the opportunity to practice independent living skills with decreasing degrees of care and supervision. Apartment living may also be considered when the apartments are grouped together in what is known as a "pod," and only individuals participating in the program are allowed to live within the pod. A pod must be in a specific location with a supervisor living on-site twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven days a week. Other supervisory regulations will be determined on a program by program basis.
- 20.1 Providers are prohibited from using mobile homes as the housing unit for transitional living placements.
- 20.2 Transitional living facilities must be in locations that are designated for the unique purpose of transitional living (e.g., a separate wing in a building; a freestanding building) and must allow the residents free access to the exterior (e.g. no lock-down units).

Independent Living Program Minimum Standards

RBWO providers are responsible for ensuring that their Independent Living Programs meet the following requirements. The Office of Provider Management is responsible for monitoring RBWO providers to ensure that Standards are met.

Independent Living Programs (ILP) are different from TLP in that youth may live in an alternative living arrangement (i.e., community- based housing) rather than a group home, or other residential type facility. All ILP youth must eventually transition into independent housing. This placement provides the opportunity for youth to experience decreased care and supervision as they become responsible for their own care. The goal of an independent living placement is to prepare youth to become socially and financially independent from the foster care system. Independent living placements shall begin no earlier than a youth's 18th birthday. Youth entering an independent living placement must have a high school diploma or a GED and a completed readiness assessment prior to admission. To maintain eligibility for extended foster care, youth must be:

- a. Attending high school or earning their GED; OR
- b. Enrolled in and attending college, community college, or a vocational education program; OR

- c. Participating in a program designed to help find and keep a job (for example: job search, job training, career counseling, etc.); OR
- d. Working for at least 120 hours each month; OR
- e. Working for 80 hours per month and engaged in a., b., or c. above or being unable to work for more than 80 hours per month due to a verified medical condition; OR
- f. Being unable to satisfy any of the above criteria due to a verified medical condition (documentation must be provided from medical provider)

Please note: For Independent Living scattered site placement consideration, candidates must have their high school diploma or GED, no exceptions.

Standard 21: Pre-Placement Assessment

- 21.0 Before a young person can be considered for ILP admission, GA RYSE/Chafee must complete a Scattered Site Placement Youth Readiness Assessment.
- 21.1 Youth must be in foster care for at least six (6) months before being assessed for an ILP placement. A first assessment can be completed as early as six months prior to the youth's 18th birthday and must be completed no later than the Transitional Meeting that must occur 90 days prior to the youth's 18th birthday.
- 21.2 Based on the results of this assessment, the youth may be approved or denied for ILP placement on/after the youth's 18th birthday.
- 21.3 If the youth is denied, they must wait 90 days before submitting a request for reassessment; as part of the request, the youth must provide evidence of completion of readiness activities, goals, etc. identified in the previous denial.
- 21.4 If the young person is approved, the assessors may indicate specific strengths or needs discovered during the assessment process. These items must be incorporated into the provider's Individualized Service Plan (ISP) for the young person; see Standard 21: Admissions.

Scattered Site Placement Youth Readiness Assessment

Description: The Scattered Site Placement Youth Readiness Assessment uses the following criteria:

Self-Development and Independent Functioning:

- Can the youth appropriately advocate for themselves?
- Can they take initiative in doing things for themselves (i.e., schedule their own appointments, etc.)?
- Can the youth demonstrate appropriate non-threatening conflict resolution?

Education:

- Is the youth participating or enrolled in a post-secondary education program (4yr, 2yr, trade program etc.)? If so, where and what are they studying? When is the expected date of completion?
 - Area for Additional Follow Up/Assessment:
 - *i.* If IQ is below 80 the ILS must engage the Education Specialist and Care Coordination Treatment Unit to assess the youth's capacity to function on their own in a scattered site setting.

Household Management and Life Skills:

- Does the youth know how to complete the following?
 - i. Complete basic household cleaning?
 - 1. Kitchen
 - 2. Bathroom
 - 3. Bedroom
 - 4. Floors
 - ii. Separate and wash their own laundry?
 - iii. Use a fire extinguisher?
 - iv. Identify smoke detectors and when it needs to be serviced?
 - v. Shop for groceries?
 - vi. Prepare Meals?
 - vii. Self-care?

Mental Health:

- List youth's current and historical diagnosis Last date of Evaluation
- Does the youth understand their mental health diagnosis and what it means?
- Does the youth understand their medication treatment regimen and adheres to it?
 - ii. Does the youth know how to administer their medication themselves?

Placement History:

- What is the youth's current program designation?
 - *iii.* If the youth have a current designation of Maximum Watchful Oversight (MWO) list the behaviors the youth exhibited that warranted such designation.
- Has the youth been hospitalized at a Crisis Stabilization Unit (CSU) within the last 90 days? If so, reason for hospitalization? How many times has the youth been hospitalized at a CSU within the last year?
- Has the youth been placed at a PRTF within the last six months?

- Has the youth been placed at a Psychiatric Residential Treatment Facility (PRTF) or experienced partial hospitalization within the last year? If so, reason for hospitalization?
- Does the youth have history of elopement? If so, when was the last time the youth left, and what was the length of their absence?
- Has the youth been declared a victim of sex trafficking?
 - iv. Have they been assessed by GA Cares?
 - v. Has the young person participated in treatment? If, so date of completion?
 - vi. Are there any current protective orders? If so, provide copy of existing orders.

Employment:

- Has the youth been employed previously? If so, list prior employment and dates.
- Has the youth participated in the employment program offered by GA CREW (formerly known as Teen Works)?
- Has the youth participated in job readiness training?
- Does the youth have a State ID or Driver's License?
- Does the youth have necessary citizenship documents?
 - vii. Birth certificate
 - viii. Social Security Card

Expectant or Parenting Youth:

- Is the youth currently pregnant or expecting? If so, when is the youth expected to give birth?
- Is the child placed with the youth? If not, where is the child now?
 - Is the youth's child in DFCS custody? If so, when was the child removed? What is the case plan type?
 - For youth that have children in DFCS custody, has approval been granted by the Senior Manager of Placement and Permanency Services for the child to be placed with the youth?
 - Is the youth engaged in the Teen Parent Connection Program with MAAC?
 - Has the youth participated in any parenting education programs?
 - Does the child have CAPS? If not, has the youth applied?

Physical and Reproductive Health:

- When was the youth's last physical examination?
- Does the youth have any medical conditions that require ongoing treatment? If so, list the diagnosis and treatment regimen.
- Does the youth know their treating physician(s)?
- When was the youth's last dental examination?
- Does the youth know how to schedule their own appointments?
 - viii. If the youth indicates yes, have the youth describe how they can execute this skill? (input scale)
- Does the youth know their Amerigroup Care Coordinator?
 - ix. Indicate the Care Coordinator's Name.
- Is the youth sexually active?

i. If so, does the youth utilize contraceptives? If so, what do they use now?

Financial Literacy / Understanding Credit:

- Has the youth completed a financial literacy course or Individualized Development Account (IDA) Training? If so, when?
- Does the youth have a checking or savings account?
 - i. If so, which bank?
 - ii. Is the youth actively saving?
- Describe the youth's knowledge of budgeting and managing money.
- Describe the youth's knowledge around paying bills.
- When did they retrieve their last credit report?

Criminal History:

- Has the youth ever been convicted of the following types of offenses? (if yes, indicate date of conviction and sentence):
 - iii. Crimes against children
 - iv. Drug related offenses
 - v. Sexual offenses of any nature / or Sex Trafficking (as assailant not victim)
 - vi. Crimes that are violent in nature (assault, robbery, domestic violence, etc.)
- Has the youth been arrested for any offense within the last year?
 - vii. If so, list charge and date of arrest.
- Does the youth have any pending hearings? If so, list the hearing date if scheduled/known.
- Is the youth actively on probation? What are the conditions of their probation?

Substance Abuse/Misuse:

- Does the youth have any history of substance use/misuse?
 - viii. If so, list drug(s) of choice.
 - ix. Date of last positive drug screen for which substance?
 - x. Has the youth ever received drug treatment? If so, when?

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS:

- 1. Required Signatures (Youth, ILS, DFCS CM & County Director at a minimum)
- 2. Provide the youth a copy of the assessment.
- 3. Development of action plan for readiness tasks identified as a result of the assessment that the youth needs to complete.
 - a. All action items identified must also be included in the youth's Written Transition Living Plan and Placement Provider Service Plan.
- 4. Do we wish to know who the youth's adult supporters are, and whether they have a significant other?
 - a. Indicates areas that require additional information and development of an action plan.

ILP Admissions and Discharges

Providers must admit only youth for whom the Scattered Site Placement Youth Readiness Assessment indicates that the youth is appropriate for the program. Based on the results of the assessment, the provider must concur that the young person is invested in and able to benefit from ILP and that the provider is able to meet any specific needs identified during the assessment.

- 21.5 The provider may not accept any young person who does not have a completed, signed, and approved Scattered Site Placement Youth Readiness Assessment as indicated in Standard 21.0.
- 21.6 The youth readiness assessment should be utilized by Independent Living Programs as the sole referral documentation to determine whether a potential placement match exists. The provider may not require any documentation other than the assessment to determine whether a potential placement match exists. The Universal Application is no longer required for Independent Living Placements.
- 21.7 All young people accepted into placement must be at least 18 years of age and have elected to participate in Extended Youth Support Services.
- 21.8 All young people accepted into placement must be employed at 120 hours per month, or attending post-secondary school full-time (12 or more credit hours per term), or working part-time (80 hours per month) and enrolled part-time.
- 21.9 Providers must have defined admittance criteria, which includes a youth-completed application and interview.
- 21.10 Providers must determine whether youth will be accepted or denied admission within three business days of a completed application.
- 21.11 Youth admitted into an ILP must have an orientation to the program. Youth should be provided with a handbook or other literature describing the program. The contact information for the Office of the Child Advocate must be included in the handbook or orientation packet. (See appendix)
- 21.12 Provider must ensure that youth admitted into an ILP placement participate in an orientation program and receive an explanation of their rights and responsibilities as a participant in the program. The provider will maintain records of the youths' acknowledgement of the orientation.
- 21.13 ILP Youth must sign an acknowledgement that they may be discharged from the ILP if they willingly and knowingly participate in illegal or disruptive behavior or it is determined that they are unable or unwilling to benefit from the program. All youth discharged for violating ILP rules must be given a 60-day notice and assistance with transition. Providers must create a written transition plan. A youth transition meeting must occur to discuss the youth's transition. The provider and the DFCS Case Manager will work collaboratively to identify placement options.
- 21.14 Providers must maintain an up-to-date roster on GA+SCORE that includes the current address for each ILP youth.

ILP Tier Progression

The goal of an independent living placement is to prepare youth to become socially and financially independent from the foster care system. Providers have no more than 3 years, from the age of 18, to ensure that young adults are ready for independence at age 21; therefore, it is critical that the young person is able to successfully move from less to more independence in all areas – education, employment, housing, life skills, etc. – over the course of the placement. To this end, Independent Living Programs are broken into three (3) tiers. Each young person that enters an Independent Living Program must start in Tier 1 before moving to Tier 2 and finally to Tier 3. Each tier has its own expectations and outcomes, and movement between tiers is based on assessments completed by the provider at least every 90 days. A brief overview of the tiers and progression follows.

Details of the requirements for each tier are given below with the minimum standards by topic.

Tier 1 is the entry point for a young person moving towards independence. This tier requires a higher level of supervision as the provider assesses the young person's abilities and needs. Tier 1 is designed to equip the young person with the basic skills in regard to education, employment, life, and decision making skills. It is expected that within 12 months of entering Tier 1, the young person should be ready to progress to Tier 2.

Tier 2 is ideally a 6-8-month process with 2 months extra if needed. Tier 2 involves a decreased level of supervision. Youth in Tier 2 are required to demonstrate a higher level of responsibility in all areas of their life and must be able to demonstrate more independent living skills. Between months 4 to 6 within Tier 2, youth will present to a panel comprised of the provider, ILS, permanency pact individual(s), and any other connection pertinent to youth. This presentation is designed to allow the youth an opportunity to discuss their goals for independence by age 21, the progress that has been made thus far, their next steps and demonstrate that they are ready or on track for transitioning to Tier 3. The panel meeting will be scheduled and coordinated by the provider. **The youth must be employed at least part time** (20 hrs./week).

Tier 3 is designed to prepare youth to become socially and financially independent from the foster care system. Tier 3 is most appropriate for youth aged 19-20 years. Youth must be assessed by the assessment team to be demonstrating the skills needed to live independently with minimal care and supervision as they become responsible for their own care. **The youth must be employed at least part time (20 hrs./week)**.

Standard 22: General Administrative Requirements

- 22.0 The provider is responsible for ensuring that each young person in the program is meeting the minimum standards for their tier, that the young person is making regular progress towards higher tiers, and that no young person is promoted to a higher tier without completing the requirements of the lower tier.
- 22.1 All initial placements into an ILP program should begin in Tier 1. If a young person transitions to a new ILP placement, an assessment should be completed at intake to

- determine whether the young person should remain in the same tier as their previous placement.
- 22.2 Each young person entering the ILP must have a staffing within the first 30 days of placement, which must include the youth, DFCS Case Manager, ILS, and other supports. The purpose of the staffing is to review the results of the assessment, program expectations, the WTLP and ILP ISP and to discuss the youth's eligibility for services and funding.
- 22.3 When a young person enters a tier, the provider and young person must agree to a progression plan for that tier. Action items identified in the assessment must be included in the youth's ISP along with the minimum standards for the tier (described below) and the program's own expectations for the youth.
- 22.4 For the duration of the placement, the provider must complete ongoing assessments of each youth at least every 90 days, from the day of admission, to ensure the young person is making sufficient progress towards ISP goals and completion of the current tier.
- 22.5 If as a result of the ongoing assessment it is determined that a young person is not making the expected progress, the ILP provider will work in conjunction with the DFCS CM and Independent Living Specialist (ILS) to develop an updated plan of progression.
- 22.6 A young person who is not making adequate progress may be removed from the program following the process outlined in standard 21.13. Documentation must support that all efforts have been exhausted and that there was ongoing communication with DFCS and the ILS regarding the young person's progress or lack thereof.

Outcome Measures

Providers track outcomes of youth and overall program performance.

- 22.7 ILP providers must track outcomes for youth. Minimally, programs should compile on an annual basis the following:
 - Demographics on youth served;
 - Life skills programming and service delivery;
 - Educational outcomes;
 - Vocational outcomes:
 - Youth involvement with DJJ or DOC:
 - Housing, adult connection, employment, educational status of youth discharged and continuing in the program.
- 22.8 Providers must distribute reports for the contract year by July 30th annually (reports cover July 1- June 30). Reports should be provided to OPM, regional ILS and the GA RYSE/ILP Program Director.

Significant Event Reporting

- 22.9 Providers must contact the DFCS/DJJ Case Manager immediately when significant issues or incidents occur and the issue/incident is severe enough to risk a youth's loss of the independent living placement (e.g., apartment) or the issue/incident creates a danger to the youth.
- 22.10 Providers must notify the Office of Provider Management whenever significant events occur relating to the safety or well-being of IL youth or relating to the IL program.
- 22.11 Providers must adhere to applicable general RBWO requirements.

Standard 23: Health Care Management

- 23.1 Provider must have a process in place for gaining permission to follow up with behavioral and physical healthcare providers.
- 23.2 If on medications, provider must ensure that the young person maintains a medication log.
 - Provider will ensure that youth follows up with a psychiatrist if the youth requests to stop medication.
 - The doctor and youth are to sign off on request upon complete evaluation to assess understanding and consequences of not being on medication. A Safety plan must be implemented to address the safety and well-being of the youth in these instances.
 - Provider responsibility:
 - Ensure medications are administered as prescribed until the youth is able to demonstrate their ability to self-administer.
 - o Maintain medication logs.
 - o Staff must check medication logs at a minimum of once per week.
 - Assist youth with administering medication until youth demonstrates the ability to self-administer.
- 23.3 Youth must complete annual physical and semi-annual dental appointments.
 - Youth must complete physical or dental exams within 30 days of placement or produce paperwork of completion within the last year for physical and within last 6 months for dental.
 - Staff responsibility: to support and assist youth with scheduling and attending physical and dental appointments; obtaining paperwork from doctor's office.
- 23.4 Youth must participate or be engaged in an evidence-based sexual education and pregnancy prevention program(s). Programs must place substantial emphasis on both abstinence and contraception education for the prevention of pregnancy and Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs). The following areas can also be included in selected programs:
 - 1. Healthy relationships, including marriage and family interactions.

- 2. Adolescent development, such as the development of healthy attitudes and values about adolescent growth and development, body image, racial and ethnic diversity, and other related subjects.
- 3. Financial literacy.
- 4. Parent-child communication.
- 5. Educational and career success, such as developing skills for employment preparation, job seeking, independent living, financial self-sufficiency, and workplace productivity.
- 6. Healthy life skills, such as goal-setting, decision making, negotiation, communication and interpersonal skills, and stress management.

Youth and adult supporters should identify programs within their local community that are available. Available programs can often be found within the youth's school system or the county's Health Department.

Tiers

- 23.5 If on medication, youth must demonstrate the ability to manage medication independently for up to 30 days consistently prior to moving to Tier 2.
- 23.6 Moving to tier 2 and tier 3 will be conditional upon youth's completion of annual physical and dental exams.
- 23.7 If youth has known health concerns or a medical diagnosis, youth must demonstrate an understanding of caring for their medical health needs (i.e. diet, exercise, lifestyle choices, education on managing medical diagnosis, responsible and safe sex practices, etc.) prior to moving to Tier 2.

Education

- Any young person not employed full-time (30 hours or more each week) must be attending post-secondary school. That young person may be attending post-secondary school full-time (12 or more credit hours per term) or working part-time and enrolled in school part-time.
- 23.9 If the young person is attending school (full or part-time):
 - The young person must provide a copy of their course schedule, the syllabi for all courses, as well as mid-term and final grades.
 - The young person must notify the agency of any schedule changes within 5 days of the change. If the schedule change results in a reduction of course hours from full-time to part-time status, the young person will then need to seek part-time employment to maintain their eligibility for ILP.
 - The young person should maintain at least a C average or 2.5 GPA each term/semester
 - For youth receiving the Education and Training Voucher (ETV) a GPA lower than 2.5 could result in disqualification for continued assistance through the voucher program.

- O A team meeting should be held with the youth, their case manager, Regional Independent Living Specialist, and the youth's identified support system to identify barriers to success and resources available at their institution or in their community to which they can be connected to improve their academic performance.
- A young person attending school must attend tutoring and study hall per the discretion of the Life Coach if their GPA is below 2.5, or the youth is struggling with a specific subject area.
- The young person should grant permission for the Life Coach to speak with Academic Advisors or professors when possible.
- Provider responsibility:
 - Obtain all required documents from young person to verify enrollment and monitor ongoing progress of the young person.
 - Assist with school enrollment and re-enrollment.
 - o Collaborate with the GA RYSE Independent Living Specialist (ILS) to support the young person's academic pursuits.

Employment

- 23.10 If the young person is not enrolled in school, is attending school part-time, or if the young person is in Tier 2 or Tier 3 (regardless of full or part-time school enrollment), the young person must be employed. A young person attending school part-time must be employed at least part-time: 20 hours per week, no less than 80 hours per month. A young person not attending school must be employed full-time: 30 hours per week, no less than 120 hours per month. All youth entering Tier 2 and Tier 3 must be employed at least part time, even if they are enrolled in school full time.
- 23.11 If the young person is not enrolled in school, is attending school part-time, or if the young person is in Tier 2 or Tier 3 (regardless of school enrollment), employment must be obtained within 60 days of entering the program/tier or within 60 days of losing prior employment. Note: If a young person previously enrolled in school full-time decides to leave school and become employed full-time, the young person has 60 days to obtain employment.
- 23.12 Providers must assist youth with maintaining their employment in order to remain eligible for placement in ILP. If youth is dismissed from employment or out of work for any reason, they will be given 90 days to find another job to remain eligible for placement at an independent living setting. The Life Coach must develop a plan to assist the youth with finding employment. Contacts during this time must increase to at least two (2) phone calls per week and two (2) face-to-face visits weekly to support the youth's job search. If another job is not identified within the established time frame, a staffing must be held with the ILS, DFCS Case Manager and other supports to determine next steps.
 - Provider responsibility:
 - o Every 30 days staff must follow up with the employer.
 - Staff must complete a work plan for obtaining paystubs and a record of deposits.

- o If youth is unemployed in Tier 1, staff must confirm the youth is actively participating in an employment readiness program and complete the extended foster care eligibility verification form.
- Staff must ensure that youth in Tier 1 obtain employment prior to entering Tier 2.
- Staff must confirm direct deposit and savings deposit.
- Staff must encourage and support young people in obtaining career opportunities that are congruent to their individual living arrangement, the current cost of living and maintaining financial independence.

Tiers

- 23.13 A young person employed in Tier 1 must maintain employment for at least three (3) months or more with one employer in order to transfer to Tier 2.
- 23.14 All young people entering Tier 2 or 3 must be employed at least part time, regardless of whether they are enrolled full or part-time in school.
- 23.15 A young person must have and maintain employment, congruent to their individual needs, for at least three (3) months or more with one employer in order to transition to Tier 3.

Financial Independence: Savings

Young people are supported in developing the skills needed to become financially independent.

- 23.16 Providers must support youth's development and maintenance of a savings account and Individual Development Accounts (IDA). Staff must assist the young person in developing a saving/budgeting plan and addressing deficiencies in financial budget plan on a quarterly basis.
- 23.17 The young person must complete IDA training within 90 days of admission and open a savings and IDA account. Youth should be encouraged to contribute up to \$1,000 into an IDA account and enroll into the GA/RYSE Match Savings/IDA program, which will match the young person's savings up to \$1000.
- 23.18 Once a checking/savings account is established, the young person must set up direct deposit. The young person must maintain a positive balance in their checking and savings accounts.
- 23.19 Providers must document youth's earnings (i.e., copies of pay stubs and bank statements).
- 23.20 All contributions put into savings with the provider must be signed and acknowledged by the youth each month. Providers must hold the youth's contributions toward their household expenses in an interest-bearing savings account and reimburse the full amount saved to the youth upon case closure or when the youth exits the program, within five (5) business days. Providers must maintain documentation of the

contributions and disbursements. Providers must have a separate account for youth contributions, which are not a part of the agency's account. All banking fees must be incurred by the provider and any interest drawn from the account must be given to youth upon account closure or when the youth exits the program.

Tiers

- 23.21 Minimum savings contributions per Tier are as follows:
 - For young people in Tier 1, a minimum of \$1,000 should be saved into an IDA account by the end of Tier 1.
 - For young people in Tier 2, a minimum of 20% of their income should be saved per month, with a goal of saving at least \$2,000 by the end of Tier 2.
 - For young people in Tier 3, a minimum of 20% of their income should be saved per month, with a goal of saving at least \$2,000 by the end of Tier 3.

Note: Providers should create an individualized financial contributions plan for young people. The plan must be documented in the case record. The minimum savings contributions are separate and apart from the contributions the young person makes towards household expenses, which are being saved by the provider in a separate account. The minimum savings contributions should go in the young person's savings and IDA accounts based on the individualized financial contribution plan.

- 23.22 In Tier 2, the youth must complete a Mock Financial Plan (Budgeting).
- 23.23 In Tier 2 & 3, the young person must maintain both a Checking and a Savings Account.
- 23.24 In Tier 2 & 3, the young person will complete yearly taxes and credit checks for an accurate understanding of their financial status and needs.
- 23.25 In Tier 3, Providers must assist the youth with understanding credit, checking their credit, and clearing up any discrepancies.

Financial Independence: Housing & Living Expenses

Providers must assist youth with securing and maintaining stable, affordable housing. Providers must develop a financial plan to help youth gradually take financial responsibility of their housing and other expenses.

General

- 23.26 Single occupancy housing is defined as a youth living alone or with a roommate and sharing the cost of living expenses. Single-occupancy housing is optional for young people in Tier 1 and mandatory for young people in Tiers 2 & 3.
- 23.27 Start-up cost for youth's Single Occupancy housing will be provided in accordance with DFCS Child Welfare Policy 13.11. All start-up costs must be pre-approved by the Regional ILS. Start-up costs are limited to the following:
 - 1. First month's rent, security deposits, renter's insurance, startup utility and telephone connection fees (NO cable or satellite television installation fees are allowable).
 - 2. Basic furniture items (bed, chest of drawers, table, and chairs).

- 3. Cooking and cleaning supplies.
- 23.28 Providers may not use mobile homes as the housing unit for independent living placements.
- 23.29 Locks are required on each bedroom door for ILP youth sharing common living space, whether youth are in single occupancy housing with a roommate or in group care living. Note: ILP Youth should have their own bedroom.
- 23.30 Youth must be provided with a \$300 monthly allowance for food and hygiene products. This allowance amount must be based on a documented assessment of the youth's needs. Provider must assist youth with creating a shopping plan/schedule for the purchase of said items and food. All youth are eligible to apply for food stamps, however, food stamps are supplemental and the food allowance provided should be determined based on the amount of food stamps the youth receives to ensure an adequate food supply.
- 23.31 Providers must develop a financial plan to help youth gradually take financial responsibility of their housing and other expenses. All contributions put into savings with the provider must be signed and acknowledged by the youth each month. The recommended percentages below can be modified based on the youth's needs/ability.

Tiers

- 23.32 In Tier 1, single-occupancy housing is not required. Independent living placements may be offered through a variety of living arrangements where youth have the opportunity to practice independent living skills with decreasing degrees of care and supervision.
- 23.33 In Tier 1, the provider is responsible for 100% of housing related expenses (rent, utilities, food allowance). If the youth lives in single-occupancy housing, the lease must be in the provider's name, unless approval is granted by OPM for the lease to be in youth's name.
- 23.34 When a youth has been assessed to be appropriate for Tier 2, providers must assist the youth in securing appropriate, single occupancy housing. The lease must be in the provider's name unless approval is granted by OPM for the lease to be in youth's name. Utilities should be billed in the youth's name as soon as practicable. Note: All youth in Tier 2 must be in single occupancy housing. A youth that is a parent of a child in the custody of DFCS must be approved by the Senior Manager-Placement Services prior to being placed in a single occupancy setting with their child(ren).

Youth in Tier 2 must contribute in the following manner:

- o 1st–3rd month: 100% of housing expenses will be paid by the provider.
- 4th-7th months: 70% of rent and 100 % of all other expenses will be paid by the provider. Youth must pay 30% of rent to the provider with appropriate late fees assessed as applicable.

Sth-12th month: 50% of rent and 70% of utilities will be paid by the provider. Youth must pay 50% of rent and 30% of the utilities to the provider with appropriate late fees assessed as applicable.

Note: All expenses paid by the young person are expected to be saved by the provider in an interest-bearing account and then returned to the youth within 5 business days of exiting the program.

- 23.35 In Tier 3, the young person must live in appropriate, single occupancy housing, defined as a youth living alone or with a roommate of their choice and sharing the cost of living expenses. The single occupancy housing must be in the youth's name as a primary or secondary renter to establish a rental history (the provider may need to be listed as a co-signer). Utilities should be billed in the youth's name as soon as practicable.
 - o 1st–3rd month: 40% of rent and all other expenses will be paid by the provider and 60% paid by the youth.
 - o 4th-and on-going: 100% of rent and all other expenses will be paid by the youth.

Note: All expenses paid by the young person are expected to be saved by the provider in an interest-bearing account and then returned to the youth within 5 days of the youth exiting the program.

Standard 24: ILP Supervision and Independence

Youth should receive levels of supervision that fit their needs and be provided with appropriate independence to practice skills needed for successful independent living. Tier 1 requires the highest level of supervision, with decreased levels of supervision as the youth progresses to higher tiers.

General

- 24.0 ILP youth must have a documented assessment which supports their level of independence.
- 24.1 ILP youth must have twenty-four (24) hour telephone access to the provider. The provider must have a key to the youth's housing so as to have twenty-four (24) hour access.
- 24.2 Providers must develop a schedule for providing supervision based on a specific youth's maturity, acquired skills, and abilities. The supervisory schedule will be developed in collaboration with the youth and DFCS Case Manager. Supervision must be designed so that the provider may observe that the youth is practicing healthy life skills and decision-making. Supervision schedule should not conflict with the youth's class or work schedule.
- 24.3 Supervision of ILP youth includes at a minimum the following:
 - safety, health, and overall well-being;
 - ability to manage school and work responsibilities without daily supervision;
 - ability to follow program and landlord rules;
 - ability to use good judgment in daily activities; and

- overall progress toward established goals and desired outcomes.
- 24.4 The determined level of supervision must be incorporated into the ISP, which must be signed by the youth, DFCS Case Manager and Life Coach.
- 24.5 The youth's level of independence should be re-assessed at least every three months or as often as circumstances or changes dictate. This reassessment should occur as dictated by the DFCS Case Manager, or Life Coach with consideration given to requests made by the youth.
- 24.6 The provider must have a policy surrounding youth, ages 18-21, who are missing for 48 hours or more. The policy should include the agency's procedure for reporting the youth missing, steps taken to locate the youth, and debriefing procedures after the youth has been located. Debriefing should be held with the youth and DFCS. Documentation of the debriefing should be maintained in the youth's record.
- For parenting youth in independent living, watchful oversight is the responsibility of the mother for her child (ren). The provider must take reasonable action to provide for the health, safety, and well-being of a resident and the resident's child (ren) who may or may not be in the resident's legal custody, however, under the watchful oversight of the provider. The provider is responsible for ensuring the protection from physical, emotional, social, moral, financial harm and personal exploitation of the resident and her child (ren) while in care. The provider is responsible for providing the amount of supervision and care indicated by a resident's age, developmental level, physical, emotional, and social needs, and her ability to meet the fundamental needs of her child (ren). Note: A youth that is a parent of a child in the custody of DFCS must be approved by the Senior Manager-Placement Services prior to being placed in a single occupancy setting with their child(ren).

Tiers

- 24.8 The frequency of in-person supervision may vary due to many factors (e.g., Tier the young person is in, behavioral concerns, readiness for independence; living arrangements chosen; presence or availability of other adults; other factors unforeseen until after placement). In-person supervision visits, phone calls and other contacts with the young person must be documented and approved in the SHINES portal within 72 hours of the visit or contact. The following in-person supervisory schedule, at a minimum, shall be utilized during the first 4 weeks after a younger person enters a new Tier:
 - Tier 1
 - 1st and 2nd Week: Daily face-to-face supervision. These visits should include but are not limited to an assessment of the following: the safety and cleanliness of the living space, youth's adjustment to their new living arrangement, relationship between roommates (if applicable), food and hygiene needs, education, employment, life skills development, overall wellbeing, social, emotional, progress and challenges, any issues, concerns, or red flags.

3rd through 4th Weeks: Three times a week face-to-face supervision and daily phone calls. These visits should include but are not limited to an assessment of the following: the safety and cleanliness of the living space, youth's adjustment to their new living arrangement, relationship between roommates (if applicable), food and hygiene needs, education, employment, life skills development, overall well-being, social, emotional, progress and challenges, any issues, concerns, or red flags.

• Tier 2

- For the 1st 30 days, provider will conduct two face to face visits per week with one of those visits occurring on the weekend.
- Phone calls should be made at least three times a week, on days that a face to face visit does not occur. Face to face visits in lieu of a phone call will meet the contact expectation.

• Tier 3

- For the 1st 30 days, product will conduct at least one face to face visit per week and at least one phone call per week on a day that a face to face visit does not occur.
- 24.9 After the fourth week, face-to-face supervision must occur no less than once a week based upon a documented assessment by the provider. The full supervision plan should include telephone contacts and / or other forms of check-ins or contacts. In a one-month time period, at least 50% of the face-to-face visits should be unannounced. The frequency of in-person supervision should be greater in Tier 1, with a gradual decrease as the youth moves to Tier 2 and Tier 3.
- 24.10 In Tier 3, the youth must begin to coordinate supervision meetings with the Life Coach, DFCS Case Manager and any adult the youth deemed as a support person. The Life Coach meetings must be designed so that the provider may observe that the youth is practicing healthy life skills, decision-making and mastering specific acquired skills, abilities, and youth's maturity.

Standard 25: Independent Living Skill Building

ILPs must assist youth in making progress toward achieving the goals of the ILP ISP.

- 25.0 Providers must develop an ILP Individual Service Plan (ILP-ISP). The ILP-ISP must be based upon Scattered Site Placement Youth Readiness Assessment, the youth's needs, desires, Casey Life Skills Assessment (CLSA) and future goals and objectives. All other standards for the ISP apply.
- 25.1 The ILP ISP must have defined goals and objectives with timeframes established. Case documentation should reflect progress and/or efforts toward meeting goals. The ILP ISP should be updated as needed during the required 90-day assessment.
- 25.2 The ILP ISP incremental steps or goals must include the following:

- Development of Permanency Pacts or other agreements with caring adult connections;
- Living arrangements upon discharge from Extended Youth Support Services;
- Educational and/or vocational planning; and
- Any other goals or objectives which will assist the youth in being successful post discharge.
- 25.3 If the ILP is housed in a group home or other congregate care type facility, the ILP ISP must include a goal directed at the youth obtaining and maintaining single occupancy housing. Note: This applies only to ILP programs approved prior to FY18.
- 25.4 Providers must submit a monthly summary of each youth's progress to the assigned Independent Living Specialist (ILS) and the DFCS Case Manager by the 10th of the following month. The list of ILSs is located in Appendix G.
- 25.5 ILP youth must be engaged in learning and developing "soft" and "hard" independent living skills, daily living, and self-care skills. Hard skills include teaching areas of development including, but not limited to banking, apartment hunting, job search, budgeting, tax preparation and educational planning. Soft skills include the teaching of areas including, but not limited to anger management, conflict resolution, goaloriented behaviors, parenting skills, problem solving skills and interpersonal communication. Daily living skills should include instruction in nutrition, menu planning, grocery shopping, meal preparation, dining decorum, kitchen cleanup, food storage, home management, and home safety. Opportunities for youth to apply these skills would include developing menus, shopping for ingredients, preparing meals, cleaning the kitchen and dishes at the conclusion of the meals, and appropriately storing leftover food. Self-care skills should include instruction about topics such as hygiene, health, alcohol, drugs, tobacco, parenting skills, responsible sexual practices, and other skills relevant to the youth. Opportunities for youth to apply these skills would include discussions as well as role playing and rehearsal of parenting and hygiene skills.
- 25.6 At a minimum, providers should document at least two efforts weekly that record the youth's engagement in independent living skills development.
- 25.7 Providers must coordinate educational services, facilitate career plan development, provide tutors, and help youth attain educational goals.
- 25.8 Providers must assist youth in developing a career plan. The plan should include the youth's interests, strengths in school, visions for career and personal life, and opportunities for career and work experience.
- 25.9 Providers must connect youth with local industries and employment programs so that youth have the opportunity to explore career opportunities and develop a plan to achieve their career aspirations.
- 25.10 Providers must offer job search training in areas such as resume writing and interviewing.

25.11 Providers must ensure that youth are aware of and know how to apply for available resources to support the overall health and well-being of the youth and their child(ren) if applicable. This includes but is not limited to the following: Food stamps, Women Infants and Children (WIC), Childcare Assistance Program (CAPS), Medicaid, Amerigroup, Parenting Classes, and Car Seat Safety Training.

Tiers

- 25.12 Prior to transition to Tier 2, young person must demonstrate:
 - Their ability to menu plan, grocery shop and prepare at least three nutritionally balanced meals.
- 25.13 A young person in Tier 2 must participate in one vocational life skills workshop per month (county of regional). These workshops include, but are not limited to: dressing for success, career planning, career assessments, resume building and mock interviewing.

Standard 26: Community Connections

- 26.0 Youth must complete permanency pact and complete at least one contact/activity per month with the identified permanency contact.
- 26.1 In Tier 1, Youth must be supported in obtaining a state issued ID, permit or driver's license and registering to vote.
- 26.2 In Tiers 1 and 2, youth must complete a quarterly life skills workshop on safety. (Examples: being aware of your environment, navigating public transportation, self-defense)
- 26.3 Providers must regularly assess the transportation needs of the youth and their ability to successfully transfer themselves to school and/or work.
- 26.4 Providers must support youth in participating in elections and ensuring that voter registration is updated if a placement change occurs.

Standard 27: Home Management/Personal Hygiene

- 27.0 In Tiers 1 and 2, youth must demonstrate their ability to manage the upkeep of their residence and pass all monthly inspections.
- 27.1 In Tiers 1 and 2, youth must demonstrate their ability to submit work orders.
- 27.2 Providers must complete inspections of each residence at least once a month, to include monitoring cleanliness, maintenance concerns, carbon monoxide detectors, fire extinguishers, food supply, and other safety concerns.

Standard 28: Life Coaching

Youth are supported in achieving personal goals through a Life Coach.

28.0 Youth in ILP programs must have a Life Coach. Life Coaches must meet the same educational and experiential requirements of a Human Service Professional (HSP). Life coaching is a practice that helps people identify and achieve personal goals. Life Coaches help clients set and reach goals using a variety of tools and techniques. Life Coaches model life skills (e.g., assertiveness, communication, conflict management, problem solving and decision making) and provide activities for youth to practice life skills and provide appropriate feedback to the youth.

Life Coaches are minimally responsible for the following activities:

- Assisting the youth in obtaining educational, vocational and employment opportunities;
- Providing transportation when necessary, to achieve the goals of the ILP ISP;
- •Assisting the youth in establishing and maintaining involvement in community/recreational activities;
- Assisting the youth in securing mental and medical health assistance when necessary; and monitoring youth savings and expenditures to ensure proper budgeting of income.

Note: Life Coaches serve as the HSP for ILP programs.

- 28.1 ILP Life Coaches must participate in a basic certification provided by the GA RYSE/IL Program Director. ILP Life Coaches must participate in a basic certification training provided by the state IL Program Manager. Training covers independent living policies, ACLSA and other requirements of the program.
- 28.2 ILP Life Coaches must attend at least one county/regional/state IL training, meeting, or workshop quarterly. This requirement may also be met by meeting individually with the regional ILS (or DFCS Case Manager) to staff the youth.
- 28.3 Provider will assign a Life Coach to each youth in the program. The ratio of Life Coaches to youth is no more than 1:15.
- 28.4 The Life Coach must be available to meet with DFCS and DJJ as requested.
- 28.5 Life Coaches must be trained by the provider in the following content areas within sixty (60) days of hire:
 - Appropriate relationships with youth
 - Staff boundaries
 - Knowledge of adolescents and adolescent development
 - Development of engagement skills
 - Sexuality and pregnancy of adolescent females
 - Accessing community resources
 - Infant safe sleeping guidelines
 - Competency with culturally diverse populations
 - Conflict resolution and de-escalation
 - Motor vehicle "Hot Car" Safety (Reference DFCS Policy 10.1)
 - Communicating with youth

- Developmental stages
- Trauma informed care
- Social media/internet safety
- 28.6 Life Coaches must have a written plan for each youth and have at least weekly face-to face sessions. The Life Coach plan must be incorporated into the ILP ISP.
- 28.7 At a minimum, Life Coaches should document at least two efforts weekly that record the youth's engagement in independent living skills development.
- 28.8 Provider will assign a Life Coach to each youth in the program. The ratio of Life Coaches to youth is no more than 1:15.

Maternity and Parenting Support Programs

Maternity and Parenting Support (also referred to as Second Chance Home) Programs address the needs of adolescents in foster care during and after pregnancy, and those who are parenting. A provider will supply full-time residential care, support and supervision to pregnant and parenting youth through 21 years of age and their child(ren) as applicable. Program services include parenting skills, job training, transitioning to independent living, family budgeting, health and nutrition, and other skills to promote residents' long-term independence and the well-being of youth and their child(ren).

Maternity Programs (MP) are specialized, RBWO programs established for the purpose of caring for young adolescents during pregnancy. These services can be provided in a Child Caring Institute (CCI) or Child Placement Agency (CPA). Providers of Maternity Programs who offer services for youth who are 21 years of age and younger, in a residential setting, must be licensed through the RCCL as a Maternity Home. A Maternity Home may only provide such services to pregnant youth, before, during or within two (2) weeks after childbirth through a maximum period of eight (8) weeks following delivery unless also providing Parenting Support Program (Second Chance Home) services.

Parenting Support Programs (PSP) (also called Second Chance Homes) are specialized, adult supervised RBWO programs established for young mothers and their children who cannot live at home because of abuse, neglect or other extenuating circumstances. These services can also be provided in a residential setting, supportive foster home, transitional or independent living environment. Providers of Parenting Support Programs who offer services for youth who are 21 years of age and younger, in a residential setting, must be licensed through the RCCL as a Maternity Home. A Parenting Support Program may serve no more than a total of 16 residents. Residents refer to parenting youth and their children.

Child Placing Agencies (CPA) may offer Maternity and Parenting Support Program services through their caregivers. Additional caregiver and staff training and oversight is expected to serve this unique population.

Hybrid Program Models

RBWO providers who have applied for and been approved to provide either Maternity or Parenting Support Program services exclusively may seek approval to provide both programs

under the same program/site/name. Due to the unique circumstances of the population being served, and dependent on the requested age range and housing framework, the approval process could include a Transitional or Independent Living Program component. Additions of programs may impact the overall capacity limits of the total service continuum.

Note: Currently there are no programs with the Hybrid Model. If you are interested, please contact the Provider Relations Manager within OPM.

General RBWO Standards and MP/PSP Standards

OPM has developed Minimum Standards for MP and PSP placements to help provide consistency in the development and delivery of services. All agencies desiring to provide Maternity and Parenting Support Programs must meet these special Standards as well as all other general RBWO standards as applicable.

Child Placing Agency foster homes that have placement of pregnant and/or parenting youth are also addressed in these standards.

Maternity Program Minimum Standards

RBWO providers are responsible for assuring that their Maternity Program (MP) meets the following requirements as well as all other general applicable RBWO standards and RCCL Rules and Regulations.

Standard 29: MP Admissions

Providers admit youth to a MP for whom the admissions assessment indicates that the youth is appropriate for the program.

- 29.0 Admitted youth must be at least 12 years of age with any permanency plan and have been assessed by a physician as being pregnant.
- 29.1 Providers must have defined admittance criteria, which include a youth-completed application and interview.
- 29.2 Providers must document all referrals including the reasons for admittance or denial into the MP. Providers must determine whether youth will be accepted or denied admission within three (3) business days of a completed application.
- 29.3 Youth admitted into a MP must have an orientation to the program. Youth should be provided with a handbook or other literature describing the program. The handbook must include, at a minimum, the homes rules and regulations, grievance policy, expectations of the parenting teen and the program, phase system, and services offered.
- 29.4 Youth admitted into a MP must sign an acknowledgement of having participated in an orientation to the program and an understanding of their rights and responsibilities as a participant in the program.

Standard 30: MP Supervision and Oversight

Pregnant youth receive levels of supervision that are age appropriate and a fit for their needs.

- 30.0 Watchful oversight is the responsibility of the mother for her child (ren). The provider must take reasonable action to provide for the health, safety, and well-being of a resident and the resident's child (ren) who may or may not be in the resident's legal custody, however, under the watchful oversight of the provider. The provider is responsible for ensuring the protection from physical, emotional, social, moral, financial harm and personal exploitation of the resident and her child (ren) while in care. The provider is responsible for providing the amount of supervision and care indicated by a resident's age, developmental level, physical, emotional, and social needs and her ability to meet the fundamental needs of her child (ren).
- 30.1 Providers should ascertain the youth's current program designation level in order to determine the minimum staffing ratios required. See CCI staffing ratio standards.
- 30.2 Youth in MPs must be supervised under the same standards as general RBWO programs. Youth may be assessed for graduated independence which outlines decreasing levels of supervision based upon the program objectives, the youth's maturity and other factors.
- 30.3 Providers will assist the Division with providing transportation when necessary to achieve youths' goals and providing opportunities for community connections. Providers will work in conjunction with DFCS to transport youth to court, visitations, etc.
- 30.4 Providers, in consultation with the child's doctor, must ensure that all meals follow the USDA guidelines for babies, children, adolescents and adults.
- 30.5 The provider should utilize non-violent intervention techniques to diffuse crisis situations and provide conflict resolution training to parenting teens, particularly during resident meetings
- 30.6 The following safety features must be in place and functioning:
 - Smoke detectors,
 - Carbon monoxide detectors,
 - Posted evacuation plan,
 - No exposed wires,
 - Electrical outlet covers, and
 - Child-safe environment: safety gates, safety locks, outlet guards, dangerous materials/ cleaning supplies out of reach of children based on the developmental stages of children, child mobility and any other child where risk is imminent.

Standard 31: MP Staff and Caregiver Requirements

MP programs have dedicated staff, advocates and mentors with targeted skills in working with pregnant and parenting youth in foster care. Staff is qualified to carry out the agency's program of services.

In addition to the CCI staffing standards, the following standards apply to MP programs:

- 31.0 The provider of a Maternity Program shall provide and adhere to a written plan for securing qualified professional consultation and/or referral services for health care, nutrition, and health education services as outlined by Residential Child Care Rules for Maternity Homes.
- 31.1 All staff and volunteers must be supervised to ensure that assigned duties are performed adequately and to protect the health, safety and well-being of the residents in care. There shall be sufficient relief staff to ensure adequate coverage of all functions.
- 31.2 A provider offering a Maternity Program must designate a Director who is authorized and qualified to manage the program. When the Director is temporarily absent from the facility and resident(s) are present, the Director must designate a staff person, with equivalent qualifications, as responsible for supervising the operation of the program.
- 31.3 The provider shall have a designated Life Coach/Human Services Professional (HSP) to provide oversight of services to residents. There must be at least one (1) Life Coach/HSP employed for every 15 residents in care. Note: Life Coaches serve as the HSP for MP programs.
- 31.4 When volunteers are utilized, a qualified staff member must be designated to plan, supervise, and coordinate the volunteer's duties. An appropriate training/orientation program must be conducted by a qualified staff member prior to a volunteer engaging in any activities with youth. (See Standard 13:27)

Standard 32: MP Staff Training

MP staff are qualified, well-trained and supported in carrying out the goals of the MP program.

- 32.0 Prior to working with residents, all staff must receive an orientation outlining the program's purpose, a description of all policies and procedures, a review of individual assigned duties and responsibilities.
- 32.1 At a minimum, the orientation session should also review the following policies and procedures: grievance policies and procedures, child abuse and exploitation policies and procedures, reporting requirements for suspected cases of child abuse and sexual exploitation, diseases and serious injuries, procedures for handling medical emergencies, and managing use of medications by residents in care, infection control policies and procedures, appropriate behavior management and emergency safety interventions, and privacy and confidentiality of residents.
- 32.2 All employees who provide direct care to residents should receive a minimum of twenty-four (24) hours of annual training that is targeted toward enhancing the outcomes and success of the constituent population served. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
- 32.3 Child Care Workers and Life Coach/HSP must be trained by the provider in the following content areas within sixty (60) days of hire:
 - appropriate relationships with youth
 - staff boundaries
 - knowledge of adolescents and adolescent development

- development of engagement skills
- sexuality and pregnancy of adolescent females
- accessing community resources
- infant safe sleeping guidelines
- competency with culturally diverse populations
- conflict resolution and de-escalation
- Motor vehicle "Hot Car" Safety (Reference DFCS Policy 10.1)
- Communicating with youth
- Developmental stages
- Trauma informed care
- Social media/internet safety
- 32.4 Staff who serve in the caregiving or Life Coach role must maintain up to date certification in CPR training for infants, adolescents, and adults.

Standard 33: MP Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan

As a part of the Individual Service Plan, providers ensure that youth have a Parenting Preparation and Life Skills Plan which focuses on the unique needs of pregnant youth.

- 33.0 Providers must ensure that youth are provided with Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan as a part of their ISP. The Parenting Preparation and Life Skills Plan is a plan for ensuring services and supports for the youth are designed to ensure healthy adolescent development, support overall family functioning, positive peer relationships and assist in maximizing overall healthy development and eventual independence of a young person and their child(ren). Such skills include the following:
 - Child-focused Nutrition and Wellness
 - Father Engagement
 - Information on community resources including Women, Infants & Children Supplemental Nutrition Program (WIC)
 - Life Skills Preparation
 - Coaching & Mentoring
 - Parenting Development & Support
 - Understanding & Managing "PURPLE CRYING"
 - Purple Crying is the phrase used to describe the point in a baby's life when
 they cry more than any other time. This period of increased crying is often
 described as colic, but there have been many misunderstandings about
 what "colic" really is.
 - Transportation Services
 - Car Seat Safety
 - Access to Day Care Services
 - Transition Planning
 - Community Connections
 - Discouragement of Co-sleeping (also known as bed sharing; see Appendix J: Infant Safe Sleeping Guidelines and Protocol)

The Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan component must assess the needs of the resident in the areas of health care, oversight, education, family relationships, personal, social and vocational development (where appropriate), and any behavioral areas that require close

monitoring not already covered in the ISP. Assessments, service plans, and service delivery must reflect and be tailored to the needs, strengths and resources of the youth.

- 33.1 The Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan must be incorporated into the Individualized Skills Plan and must include the following:
 - Must be updated at a minimum of every trimester and immediately following any significant change in circumstances including childbirth.
 - Pertinent progress notes and data shall be incorporated in the plan to measure attainment of stated goals and objectives.
 - Outline supportive services required during a youth's pregnancy that assist her in meeting the needs arising from the pregnancy and in developing a plan that assures both the infant's and the young parent's maximum development.
 - Outline securing the necessary supportive services that optimize any medical, nutritional, emotional, behavioral, educational and mental health needs.
 - Include counseling that covers all pregnancy options, prenatal and postpartum health care services.
 - Include postpartum transition/discharge plan to a Parenting Support Program (Second Chance Home), foster family, or an independent living parenting program.
 - Include father engagement as appropriate.
 - Include a comprehensive post-partum plan.
- 33.2 The provider will administer the Adult & Adolescent Parenting I-II (AAP I-II) assessment tool, for teens within 30 days of admission. AAPI-II results must be incorporated into teens' Individual Service Plan (ISP). DFCS will provide access and training on the AAPI-II.
- 33.3 The provider will use Ages and Stages Questionnaire (ASQ & ASQ SE) assessment tool to screen all children three months and older. Within 30 days of entry into the home complete assessments as appropriate based on child's age. The provider will complete assessment and arrange additional screening for children showing developmental delays. The results from these assessments should be utilized in development of the child's Individual Service Plan (ISP). DFCS will provide access and training on the ASQ & ASQ SE.
- 33.4 The provider must conduct weekly resident meetings to foster community living and discuss life or parenting skills. The provider will document and file all weekly meetings either in each resident's file or in a weekly meeting folder. Documentation should include case notes, meeting minutes, parenting curriculum forms, etc. It should also note the explanation for any lapse in scheduled meetings.
- 33.5 Youth must have an individual weekly meeting to address the youth's progress and Individualized Service Plan goals and discussions regarding positive parenting.

Standard 34: MP Medical Services

Youth receive quality medical care in relation to their pregnancy as well as other medical needs, supported in achieving personal goals through a Life Coach/HSP and other coordinated community services.

- 34.0 Providers must ensure that youth have access to a broad range of health care services tailored to their special circumstances. A community system of health should include:
 - Maternity counseling
 - Primary, prenatal, and postnatal health care
 - Comprehensive reproductive health care services
 - Sexual education, family planning and referral services
 - Nutritional information and counseling
 - Screening for venereal diseases
 - Provisioning of pediatric care
 - Mental/Behavioral health care and relationship counseling services.
- 34.1 In the event of a medical or mental health emergency, medical attention should be sought immediately. The provider should encourage the youth to comply with medical advice. Regardless of age, the county of custody should be notified immediately of any occurrence of treatment and/or refusal of treatment.
- 34.2 At admission, the provider shall secure a signed consent for medical treatment authorization form. The form shall be signed by the youth's guardian. The consent form should be filed in the youth's case file at the program site.
- 34.3 The provider shall have a written plan naming a general hospital, clinic, or physician, and dentist, to provide the youth with routine or emergency services on a 24-hour-a-day basis.
- 34.4 The provider shall ensure that all residents receive timely, qualified medical or psychological care in cases of medical emergencies (life-threatening, limb-threatening, or function-threatening conditions). Policies shall be in place for the emergency medical care of residents with a local hospital or other health care facility that provides emergency services or with a local physician.
- 34.5 The provider and youth (teen-parent) are responsible for keeping all immunizations up to date. The provider and youth will arrange for early and periodic screening (EPSDT) for babies through public health departments or other approved providers.
- 34.6 The provider will offer access to health education for pregnant and parenting teens and their children. Health education enhances parenting skills and child development by assisting pregnant and parenting teens with developing the knowledge to access and improve their overall health and well-being. All pregnant and parenting teens should have a thorough knowledge of their own personal health and the health of their children.
- 34.7 The provider will offer access to sex education which emphasizes abstinence but includes contraceptive use to prevent repeat teen pregnancy, HIV, and sexually transmitted infections (STIs). Allowances shall be made to accommodate spiritual, religious, and/or cultural values.

Standard 35: MP Life Coaching

Youth are supported in achieving personal goals through a Life Coach.

- 35.0 Youth in MP programs must have a life coach. Life Coaches must meet the same educational and experiential requirements of a Human Services Professional (HSP). Life Coaching is a practice that helps people identify and achieve personal goals. Life Coaches help clients set and reach goals using a variety of tools and techniques. Life Coaches model healthy life skills (e.g., assertiveness, communication, conflict resolution, problem solving and decision making) and provide activities for youth to practice life skills and provide appropriate feedback to the youth. Life Coaches are minimally responsible for the following activities:
 - Post-partum planning;
 - Father Engagement;
 - Maternal and paternal family engagement;
 - Pregnancy Health;
 - Future family planning;
 - Assisting the youth in obtaining educational, vocational and employment opportunities;
 - Assisting the youth in establishing and maintaining involvement in community/recreational activities;
 - Assisting the youth in securing mental and medical health assistance when necessary; and
 - Other activities and supports as defined by the ISP or Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan.

Note: Life Coaches serve as the HSP for MP programs.

- 35.1 MP Life Coaches must participate in a basic certification provided by the state IL Program Manager. Training covers independent living policies, ACLSA and other requirements of the program.
- 35.2 MP Life Coaches must attend at least one county/regional/ state IL training, meeting or workshop quarterly. This requirement may also be met by meeting individually with the regional ILS (or DFCS Case Manager) to staff the youth in the ILP.
- 35.3 Life coaches must have a written plan for each youth and have at least weekly face-to-face sessions. The Life Coach plan may be a separate document or incorporated into the MP ISP/ Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan.
- 35.4 At a minimum, Life Coaches should document at least two efforts weekly that record the youth's engagement in Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan goals.
- 35.5 Provider will assign a Life Coach to each youth in the program. The ratio of Life Coaches to youth is no more than 1:15.
- 35.6 Provider and youth must develop and implement a parenting contract within 48 hours from the date of admission. Parenting contract must establish clear roles and responsibilities for caring for the youth's child.

35.7 Parenting teens should be given a choice regarding child care provided around the area. The provider will offer information regarding Georgia Child Care and Parent Services (GACAPS) and ensure that the youth has a clear understanding of the program.

Standard 36: Maternity Program Outcome Measures

Providers track outcomes of youth and overall program performance.

- 36.0 Providers must track outcomes of youth and overall program performance against mission, goals, and day-to-day operations to determine effectiveness. Minimally, programs should compile, on an annual basis, results on the areas identified below:
 - Demographics on youth served
 - Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan Outcomes
 - Outreach to Fathers/Child Support
 - Adult Connections
 - Healthy Delivery

Parenting Support Program Minimum Standards

Standard 37: PSP Admissions

Providers must only admit youth to a PSP for whom the admissions assessment indicates that the youth and their child(ren) are appropriate for the program.

- 37.0 Admitted youth must be at least 12 years of age with any permanency plan and have at least one biological child they provide care for. The provider should ascertain from DFCS whether the youth or DFCS has legal custody and maintain documented evidence in the youth's record.
- 37.1 Providers must have defined admittance criteria, which include a youth-completed application and interview.
- 37.2 Providers must document all referrals including the reasons for admittance or denial into the program in GA+Score. Providers must determine whether youth will be accepted or denied admission within three (3) business days of a completed application.
- 37.3 Youth admitted into a PSP must have an orientation to the program. Youth should be provided with a handbook or other literature describing the program. The handbook must include, at a minimum, the homes rules and regulations, grievance policy, expectations of the parenting teen, phase system, and services offered.
- 37.4 Youth admitted into a PSP must sign an acknowledgement of having participated in an orientation to the program and an understanding of their rights and responsibilities as a participant in the program.

Standard 38: PSP Supervision and Oversight

Parenting youth should receive levels of supervision that are age appropriate and a fit for their needs, as well as those of their child(ren).

38.0 Supervision is the continued responsibility of the provider. The provider must take reasonable action to provide for the health, safety, and well-being of a resident,

- including protection from physical, emotional, social, moral, and personal exploitation while in care. The provider is responsible for providing the amount of supervision indicated by a resident's age, developmental level, physical, emotional, and social needs.
- 38.1 Providers should ascertain the youth's current program designation level in order to determine the minimum staffing ratios required. See CCI staffing ratio standards.
- 38.2 Youth in PSPs must be supervised under the same standards as general RBWO programs. Youth may be assessed for "Graduated Independence" which outlines decreasing levels of supervision based upon the program objectives, the youth's maturity and other factors.
- 38.3 The youth's supervision plan must include how the youth will be supported in supervising their child. The adult caregiver should work in partnership with the youth in caring for the baby.
- 38.4 Providers will assist the Division with providing transportation when necessary to achieve the youth's goals and providing opportunities for community and family connections.
- 38.5 Provider must ensure, in consultation with the child's doctor, that all meals follow the USDA guidelines for babies, children, adolescents and adults. The guidelines must be posted where they are easily accessible for reference.
- 38.6 The provider will utilize appropriate intervention techniques to diffuse crisis situations and provide conflict resolution training to parenting teens, particularly during resident meetings.
- 38.7 The provider will comply with all RCCL, state law and RBWO requirements for Child care Licensing Institutions in the State of Georgia.

Standard 39: PSP Staff and Caregiver Requirements

PSP programs have dedicated staff, advocates and mentors with targeted skills in working with pregnant and parenting youth in foster care. Staff is qualified to carry out the agency's program of services.

In addition to the CCI staffing standards, the following standards apply to MP programs:

- 39.0 The provider of a PSP shall provide and adhere to a written plan for securing qualified professional consultation and/or referral services for health care, nutrition, and health education services as outlined by the Residential Child Care Rules for Maternity Homes.
- 39.1 All staff and volunteers must be supervised to ensure that assigned duties are performed adequately and to protect the health, safety and well-being of the residents in care. There shall be sufficient relief staff to ensure adequate coverage of all functions.
- 39.2 A provider offering a PSP must designate a Director who is authorized and qualified to manage the program. When the Director is temporarily absent from the facility and resident(s) are present, the Director must designate a staff person as responsible for

- supervising the operation of the program with equivalent qualifications.
- 39.3 The provider shall have a designated Life Coach/Human Services Professional (HSP) to provide oversight of services to residents. There must be at least one (1) Life Coach/HSP employed for every 15 residents in care. The Director, if qualified by education, may perform the duties of a Life Coach/HSP.
- 39.4 When volunteers are utilized, a qualified staff member must be designated to plan, supervise, and coordinate the volunteer's duties. An appropriate training/orientation program must be conducted by a qualified staff member prior to a volunteer engaging in any activities with youth. See Standard 13.27

Standard 40: PSP Staff Training

PSP staff are qualified, well-trained and supported in carrying out the goals of the PSP program.

- 40.0 Prior to working with residents, all staff must receive an orientation outlining the program's purpose, a description of all policies and procedures, a review of individual assigned duties and responsibilities.
- 40.1 At a minimum, the orientation session should also review the following policies and procedures: grievance policies and procedures, child abuse and exploitation policies and procedures, reporting requirements for suspected cases of child abuse and sexual exploitation, diseases and serious injuries, procedures for handling medical emergencies, and managing use of medications by residents in care, infection control policies and procedures, appropriate behavior management and emergency safety interventions, privacy and confidentiality of residents and first aid guidelines. (Reference: 6.23)
- 40.2 All employees who provide direct care to residents should receive a minimum of twenty-four (24) hours of annual training that is targeted toward enhancing the outcomes and success of the constituent population served. Providers should regularly assess incidents and trends to determine when additional trainings are warranted.
- 40.3 Child Care Workers and Life Coaches must be trained by the provider in the following content areas within sixty (60) days of hire:
 - appropriate relationships with youth
 - staff boundaries
 - Post-partum depression and related topics
 - Parenting young children
 - Infant and child development
 - knowledge of adolescents and adolescent development
 - development of engagement skills
 - Infant safe sleeping guidelines
 - Motor vehicle "Hot Car" Safety (Reference Policy 10.1)
 - sexuality and pregnancy of adolescent females
 - accessing community resources
 - competency with culturally diverse populations
 - conflict resolution and de-escalation
 - Social media/internet safety

40.4 All staff who serve in a care giving or Life Coach role must maintain up to date certification in CPR training for infants, adolescents, and adults.

Standard 41: PSP Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan

As a part of the Individual Service Plan, providers ensure that youth have a Parenting Preparation and Life Skills Plan which focuses on the unique needs of parenting youth.

- 41.0 Providers must ensure that youth are provided with Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan as a part of their ISP. The Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan is a plan for ensuring services and supports for the youth are designed to ensure healthy adolescent development, support overall family functioning, positive peer relationships and assist in maximizing overall healthy development and eventual independence of a young person and their child(ren). Such skills include the following:
 - Child-focused Nutrition and Wellness
 - Father Engagement
 - Information on community resources including Women, Infants & Children Supplemental Nutrition Program (WIC)
 - Life Skills Preparation
 - Coaching & Mentoring
 - Parenting Development & Support
 - Understanding & Managing "PURPLE CRYING"
 - Purple Crying is the phrase used to describe the point in a baby's life when they cry more than any other time. This period of increased crying is often described as colic, but there have been many misunderstandings about what "colic" really is.
 - Transportation Services
 - Car Seat Safety
 - Access to Day Care Services
 - Transition Planning
 - Community Connections
 - Discouragement of Co-sleeping (also known as *bed sharing*; see Appendix J: Infant Safe Sleeping Guidelines and Protocol)

The Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan component must assess the needs of the resident in the areas of health care, oversight, education, family relationships, personal, social and vocational development (where appropriate), and any behavioral areas that require close monitoring not already covered in the ISP. Assessments, service plans, and service delivery must reflect and be tailored to the needs, strengths and resources of the youth.

- 41.1 The Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan must be updated at a minimum of every quarter and immediately following any significant change in circumstances including childbirth. Pertinent progress notes and data shall be incorporated in the plan to measure attainment of stated goals and objectives.
 - Plan should outline supportive services required to support the parenting youth.
 - Plan should outline securing the necessary supportive services that optimize any medical, nutritional, emotional, behavioral, educational and mental health needs for the youth and child(ren).

- Plan for the youth should include counseling that covers all postpartum options and health care services.
- Plan must include father engagement as appropriate.
- 41.2 The provider will administer the Ages and Stages Questionnaire (ASQ) and the Ages and Stages Questionnaire Social Emotional (ASQ SE) tool, for parenting teens within 30 days of admission. AAPI-II results must be incorporated into teens Individual Service Plan (ISP). DFCS will provide access and training for the AAPI-II.
- 41.3 The providers will use the Ages and Stages Questionnaire (ASQ) and the Ages and Stages Questionnaire Social Emotional (ASQ SE) assessment tool for youth to screen all children three months and older. Within 30 days of entry into the home complete assessments as appropriate based on child's age. The provider will complete assessments and arrange additional screening for children showing development delays. The results from these assessments should be utilized in development of the child's Individual Service Plan (ISP). DFCS will provide access and training to the ASQ & ASQ SE.
- 41.4 Providers must conduct weekly resident meetings to foster community living and discuss life or parenting skills. The provider will document and file all weekly meetings either in each resident's file or in a weekly meeting folder. Documentation should include case notes, meeting minutes, parenting curriculum forms, etc. It should also note the explanation for any lapse in meetings.
- 41.5 Youth must have an individual weekly meeting to address the youth's progress and Individualized Service Plan goals and discussions regarding positive parenting. At weekly meetings, the provider is responsible for reviewing progress and providing assistance or counseling on ISP goals.

Standard 42: PSP Medical Services

Youth receive quality medical care in relation to their post-partum status as well as other medical needs.

- 42.0 Providers must ensure that youth have access to a broad range of health care services tailored to their special circumstances. A community system of health should include:
 - Pregnancy testing and maternity counseling
 - Primary, prenatal, and postnatal health care
 - Comprehensive reproductive health care services
 - Sexual education, family planning and referral services
 - Nutritional information and counseling
 - Screening for sexually transmitted infections
 - Provisioning of pediatric care
 - Mental/Behavioral health care and relationship counseling services.
- 42.1 In the event of a medical or mental health emergency, medical attention should be sought immediately. The provider should encourage the youth to comply with medical advice. Regardless of age, the county of custody should be notified immediately of any occurrence of treatment and/or refusal of treatment.

- 42.2 At admission, the provider shall secure a signed consent for medical treatment authorization form. The form shall be signed by the youth's guardian. The consent form should be filed in the youth's case file at the program site.
- 42.3 The provider shall have a written plan naming a general hospital, clinic, or physician, and dentist, to provide the youth with routine or emergency services on a 24 hour a day basis.
- 42.4 The provider shall ensure that all residents receive timely, qualified medical or psychological care in cases of medical emergencies (i.e. conditions that threaten life, limb, or functioning). Policies shall be in place for the emergency medical care of residents with a local hospital or other health care facility that provides emergency services or with a local physician.
- 42.5 The provider must ensure that each youth is informed of the need for a postpartum examination, unless the examination is provided before her discharge from the home or facility. Provisions shall be made for all post-pregnancy residents to receive a postpartum examination within 8 weeks after giving birth if she remains in residence. Provisions shall be made to ensure the resident's return to a public health clinic or physician, physician's assistant, advanced practice registered nurse, or midwife for necessary checkups and medical instruction on postpartum care that may be indicated.
- 42.6 The provider must ensure that each resident is informed of the need for postnatal examination for her infant, unless the examination is provided before the infant's discharge from the home or facility. Provisions shall be made for a complete physical examination by a physician, physician's assistant, advanced practice registered nurse, midwife, or public health clinic within the first 24 hours or sooner if indicated. A repeat examination shall be completed within the first 10 days. The repeat physical examination shall be completed by a physician, physician's assistant, advanced practice registered nurse, registered nurse, midwife, or public health clinic.
- 42.7 The provider and youth (teen–parent) are responsible for keeping all immunizations up to date. The provider and youth will arrange for early and periodic screening (EPSDT) for babies through public health departments or other approved providers.
- 42.8 The provider will offer access to health education for pregnant and parenting teens and their children. Health education enhances parenting skills and child development by assisting pregnant and parenting teens develop the knowledge to access and improve their overall health and well-being. All pregnant and parenting teens should have a thorough knowledge of their own personal health and the health of their children.
- 42.9 The provider will provide access to sex education which emphasizes abstinence but also contraceptive use to prevent repeat pregnancy, HIV, and sexually transmitted infections (STIs). Allowances shall be made to accommodate spiritual, religious, and/or cultural values.

Standard 43: PSP Life Coaching

Youth are supported in achieving personal goals through a Life Coach.

- 43.0 Youth in Parenting Support Programs (PSP) programs must have a life coach. Life Coaches must meet the same educational and experiential requirements of a Human Services Professional (HSP). Life Coaching is a practice that helps people identify and achieve personal goals. Life Coaches help clients set and reach goals using a variety of tools and techniques. Life Coaches model healthy life skills (e.g., assertiveness, communication, conflict resolution, problem solving and decision-making) and provide activities for youth to practice life skills and provide appropriate feedback to the youth. Life Coaches are minimally responsible for the following activities:
 - Post-partum planning
 - Father engagement
 - Maternal and paternal family engagement
 - Pregnancy Health
 - Future family planning
 - Assisting the youth in obtaining educational, vocational and employment opportunities
 - Ensuring parents are practicing safe sleep habits for infants
 - Assisting the youth in establishing and maintaining involvement in community/recreational activities
 - Teach youth to plan and prepare balanced meals for themselves and their children
 - Assisting the youth in securing mental and medical health assistance when
 - Other activities and supports as defined by the ISP Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan
- 43.1 PSP Life Coaches must participate in a basic certification provided by the state GA RYSE/ILP Program Director. Training covers independent living policies, CLSA and other requirements of the program.
- 43.2 PSP Life Coaches must attend at least one county/regional/state IL training, meeting or workshop quarterly. This requirement may also be met by meeting individually with the regional ILS (or DFCS Case Manager) to staff the youth.
- 43.3 Life coaches must have a written plan for each youth and have at least weekly face-toface sessions. The Life Coach plan may be a separate document or incorporated into the PSP ISP/ Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan. Every youth's file should have case notes that accurately portray the services, treatment, parenting and life skills received in the home.
- 43.4 At a minimum, Life Coaches should document at least two efforts weekly that record the youth's engagement in Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan goals.
- 43.5 Provider will assign a Life Coach to each youth in the program. The ratio of Life Coaches to youth is no more than 1:15 (which also includes any children the youth may have in their care).

- 43.6 Based on assessments, individual sessions, and contacts with educational and other relevant providers, Life Coaches should link the residents with services in the community to enable them to meet Individualized Service Plan (ISP) goals. All linkages to services should be documented in the resident's file.
- 43.7 Provider and youth must develop and implement a parenting contract within 48 hours from the date of admission. The parenting contract must establish clear roles and responsibilities related to caring for the youth's child.
- 43.8 Parenting youth should be given a choice regarding child care located around the area. The provider will provide information regarding Georgia Child Care and Parent Services (GACAPS) and ensure that the youth have a clear understanding of the program.

Standard 44: Parenting Support Program Outcome Measures

Providers track outcomes of youth and overall program performance.

- 44.0 Providers must track outcomes of youth and overall program performance against mission, goals, and day-to-day operations to determine effectiveness. Minimally, programs should compile, on an annual basis, results on the areas identified below:
 - Demographics on youth served
 - Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan Outcomes
 - Outreach to Fathers/Child support
 - Adult Connections
 - Healthy Delivery

CPA: Pregnant and/or Parenting Youth Placement

Standard 45: Child Placing Agency Foster Homes

Foster parents are trained and supported in their care of pregnant and/or parenting youth.

- 45.0 Family foster care homes should be selected with great care and with a focus upon the pregnant or parenting adolescent's plan regarding pregnancy, parenting and permanency. The caregiver(s) should demonstrate an ability to model a healthy family lifestyle and be willing to participate as a member of the service delivery team, which includes facilitating access to prenatal care, counseling appointments, family planning and post-partum care (at a minimum).
- 45.1 The CPA must provide specialized training to foster parents who are interested in placement of pregnant or parenting youth. Suggested content areas include:
 - Healthy pregnancy—nutrition, emotional and medical support
 - Adolescent development
 - Teaching youth parenting skills
 - Post-partum depression and related topics
 - Father engagement
 - Safe sleeping guidelines for infants

- Motor vehicle/hot car safety
- Conflict resolution
- Sexuality and pregnancy of adolescents
- Accessing community resources
- Competency with culturally diverse populations.
- 45.2 The CPA must ensure that case support services address the needs of the pregnant or parenting youth. Providers must develop a Parenting Preparation and Life Skills Plan which focuses on the unique needs of pregnant or parenting youth. (See Standard 33).
- 45.3 At a minimum, the CPA must document at least two efforts monthly that record the youth's engagement in Parenting Preparation & Life Skills Plan goals.
- 45.4 The CPA should provide additional support and supervision to caregivers with placement of pregnant youth especially during latter stages of pregnancy. The provider, youth and caregiver should have an emergency plan for addressing crisis issues as well as a birthing plan.
- 45.5 Parenting or pregnant youth must be supervised under the same standards as general RBWO programs. Youth may be assessed for graduated independence which outlines decreasing levels of supervision based upon the program objectives, the youth's maturity and other factors.
- 45.6 For pregnant youth, the CPA should staff the case with DFCS following the birth of the infant to ascertain and document the custody status of the youth and initiate post-partum planning.
- 45.7 The youth's supervision plan must include how the youth will be supported in supervising their child. To the best of their ability, the provider should work in partnership with the youth in caring for the baby. This should be negotiated, discussed and be a part of the assessment process

Medically Fragile Placements

Medically Fragile placements are designed to care for children who require complex health procedures, special therapy, or specialized equipment/supplies to enhance/sustain their lives. Medically Fragile placements provide a temporary, home-like environment for medically fragile children, technology dependent children and children with special health care needs who are deemed clinically stable by a physician. These children require assistance with activities of daily living to facilitate transitions from a hospital or other facility.

Medically Fragile placements care for children with serious to severe medical conditions with a Specialty Medically-Fragile Watchful Oversight (SMFWO) program designation. Non-compliance with any prescriptive regimen of care will endanger the life or health of the child. These children require time-intensive treatments/procedures to be performed on a frequent and reoccurring basis and by a trained caregiver. Due to the severity of issues and attentiveness required in caring for a child with a specialty program designation, other children are not permitted to be placed in the foster home without the written approval from a DHS/DFCS Designee.

These are some of the characteristics which would qualify a child for Medically Fragile Programs. This list is not intended to be all inclusive:

- Has a tracheotomy
- Is oxygen dependent
- Has persistent reflux causing frequent vomiting
- Requires oral feedings that take at least 30 minutes or requires tube feedings
- Requires medications by feeding tube, injection, or suppository
- Requires ostomy care
- Has any type of body cast
- Is blind or has severe visual impairment
- Is deaf or has severe hearing impairment
- Has complete or partial paralysis (child weighing 20 pounds or more)

The following characteristics in combination with the previously listed characteristics may qualify a child for Medically Fragile Programs. This list is not intended to be all inclusive:

- Requires nebulizer treatments on a daily basis
- Has self-harming behaviors such as cutting, ingesting poisonous substances, etc.
- Depends upon medication to keep a life-threatening condition under control including, but not limited to asthma, chronic lung disease, diabetes, heart disease, HIV infection or chronic kidney disease being maintained by dialysis
- Has limited mobility
- Is several years behind in the development of age-appropriate knowledge of selfcare or life skills
- May require medical interventions while in school

RBWO Providers

RBWO providers are responsible for assuring that their Medically Fragile placements meet the following requirements as well as any applicable general RBWO standards and *RCCL rules and regulations*. The goal of these special standards is to ensure that children with severe or serious medical conditions receive the services needed to reach their full potential.

Standard 46: MF Admissions

Providers admit children into a MF placement for whom the admissions assessment indicates that the child's needs can be met.

- 46.0 The provider's staff and/or caregiver will attend a pre-placement meeting to receive appropriate training for managing the care of the medically fragile child. If a pre-placement meeting is not possible, training is provided within 24 hours of placement to ensure that the caregiver is equipped to provide adequate care to the child.
- 46.1 Providers will have a defined admittance criteria and caregivers who are skilled and prepared to take on the care of admitted children.

Standard 47: Safety and Supervision

Medically fragile children are appropriately supervised and their safety and well-being needs met.

- 47.0 Provider will complete an initial home visit within two business days of a MF placement.
- 47.1 Providers will meet with caregivers weekly for at least the first thirty (30) days of placement to ensure that the caregiver receives all needed supports and to ensure the child's safety and well-being.
- 47.2 Providers will have a process and policy for assessing the needs of a medically fragile child and identify supports to meet the needs.
- 47.3 Providers will ensure that during each home visit that the home has the child's required equipment and that there are no unaddressed issues as to maintenance and use.
- 47.4 Caregivers who are caring for a medically fragile child that requires life sustaining equipment (i.e. ventilator, tracheotomy, etc.) requiring electricity will have an emergency plan to address power outages such as having access to a generator.
- 47.5 Providers will have a grief response plan to enact in the event of a significant loss (death of a child) or crisis. Caregivers will be assessed for temporary placement holds.

Standard 48: Education

Children's educational needs are met.

- 48.0 Providers will work in conjunction with the DFCS Case Manager and school officials to develop an Individualized Education Plan (IEP) once the youth is declared eligible. The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) provides children the right to a "free appropriate public education" in the "least restrictive environment" appropriate to their needs. "Least restrictive environment" is defined as when: "to the maximum extent appropriate, children with disabilities are educated with children who are not disabled and special classes, separate schooling or other removal of children with disabilities from the regular educational environment occurs only when the nature or severity of the disability is such that education in regular classes with the use of supplementary aids and services cannot be achieved satisfactorily." To be considered IDEA-eligible, a student must be diagnosed with one or more of the disabilities listed in the federal statute and must require special education instruction and/or related services as a result of that disability. This list is not intended to be all inclusive:
 - Autism
 - Deaf-Blindness
 - Deafness
 - Emotional Disturbance
 - Hearing Impairment
- 48.1 Foster parents who care for school-aged medically fragile children will be trained/certified as educational surrogates by the local school system. Note: If the school system does not require training or certification, that should be noted in the caregiver's

record.

Standard 49: Training

Caregivers and staff have the skills to meet children's needs.

- 49.0 Providers will ensure that all staff and foster parents have documented training by the appropriate personnel on new equipment and assistive devices.
- 49.1 Foster Parents working with medically fragile children should receive training on specific issues related to medically fragile placements including but are not limited to:
 - Universal precautions, preventing exposure and transmission to communicable diseases
 - Appropriate hand washing
 - Basic first aid
 - IEPs
 - Cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and automated external defibrillation (AED)
 - Proper techniques for lifting and moving medically fragile children
 - Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS)
 - Developmental Delays
 - Crib and car seat safety
 - Childhood Disorders/Issues, i.e. Asthma, Seizures, Diabetes, Sickle Cell Anemia, Injections, Feeding tubes etc.
 - DFCS Discipline Standards
- 49.2 Caregivers will have 1st Aid and CPR training prior to any medically fragile placements and maintain their certifications.

Program Designations

There are 14 types of R.B.W.O. care for all children whether they are served in residential care with Child Caring Institutions or Child Placing Agencies. The types of care and the children served are described as follows:

СРА	CCI
Traditional Care	BASE Care-BWO
BASE Care-BWO	Additional Watchful Oversight- AWO
Maximum Watchful Oversight- MWO	Maximum Watchful Oversight- MWO
Specialty Base Watchful Oversight- SBWO	

Specialty Maximum Watchful Oversight-SMWO	
Specialty Medically Fragile Watchful	
Oversight- SMFWO	
	Maternity Home
	Parenting Support Program (Second
	Chance Homes)
	Transitional Living Program
	Independent Living Program
	Specialty Camp

Traditional (CPA) or BASE-BWO (CCI) Care:

A child served in Traditional Care or Base Care will have **mild to occasionally moderate** emotional and/or behavioral management problems that interfere with the child's ability to function in the family, school and/or community without guidance and supervision. The behaviors identified for Traditional Care children placed in a CPA are identified as **mild**. The behaviors identified for BWO children placed in a CCI are identified as **mild to moderate**.

The following are the child characteristics and operational impact on children in Traditional Care or BWO according to the Difficulty of Care Factors:

- May be learning disabled requiring supports such as Student Support Team and tutoring services
- May have poor concentration at school and home
- May have occasional disruptive or disobedient behaviors resulting in In-School Suspension
- May have behaviors that are managed by medications
- Disregard for others' property minor property damage
- Non-compliance with curfew and/or limits set by adults
- Difficulty in adjusting to new environments
- May lack age-appropriate knowledge of self-care or life skills
- May have behavioral outbursts inclusive of profane and/or provocative language
- May exhibit "annoying" behaviors to include excessive teasing, horseplay, and language taunting
- May exhibit shyness, fear, anxiety, and nervousness in group/community settings
- May exhibit irritability and/or hostility toward peers
- May exhibit impulsive behaviors that create mild risk inappropriate verbal outbursts, wanders away from the group
- May be easily frustrated; temper tantrums

• May have difficulty making friends

A child served in Base or Traditional programs will have **minimal to mild** medical needs and can have a mild developmental delay that does not coexist with any medical condition.

BASE-BWO (CPA) or Additional Watchful Oversight- AWO (CCI):

A child served in the Base with Watchful Oversight or Additional Watchful Oversight will have **moderate** to **occasionally serious** emotional and/or behavioral management problems. In the CCI program, the behaviors exhibited by a child interfere with his or her ability to function in the family, school, and/or community outside of a supervised and structured setting. The behaviors identified for BWO children placed in a CPA are identified as **moderate**. The behaviors identified for AWO children placed in a CCI are identified as more frequent and **serious**.

The following are the child characteristics and operational impact on children in BWO or AWO according to the Difficulty of Care Factors:

- Performance is not in accordance with ability
- Learning disability requiring IEP services
- Disruptive and/or disobedient to school rules, could result in suspension
- Frequent attendance and truancy problems
- Oppositional and defiant in the home and school setting
- Use of vulgar and/or provocative language
- Annoying behaviors picks on peers, repetitive actions or language, and taunting
- Demanding and threatening
- Lacks age-appropriate knowledge of self-care or life skills
- Occasionally assaultive without causing major injuries
- Disregard for the property of others; intentional property damage
- Occasionally runs away and/or refuses to abide by curfews
- Self-harming behaviors, eraser burns, repeatedly picking at sores, biting fingernails until they bleed, and head banging
- Does not engage in typical peer interactions or recreational activities because of tendency to be picked on or bullied by others
- Often fearful, anxious, or sad
- Difficulty identifying and/or expressing emotions, emotionally blunted
- Easily annoyed, frequent and intense irritability
- Possible delinquent behaviors and Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ) involvement
- Child has engaged in substance use, but use does not interfere with daily activities
- Impulsive actions that create risk (inappropriate outbursts, plays with fire and/or wanders away)

A child served in Base or Additional programs will have **minimal to mild** medical needs and can have a mild developmental delay that does not coexist with any medical condition.

Maximum Watchful Oversight- MWO (CPA & CCI)

A child served in the Maximum Watchful Oversight Program will have **serious** to **severe** emotional and/or behavioral management problems. In the CCI program, the behaviors exhibited by a child interfere with his or her ability to function in the family, school, and/or

community outside of a supervised and structured setting. The behaviors identified for MWO children placed in a CPA are identified as **serious**. The behaviors identified for MWO children placed in a CCI are identified as more frequent and **severe**.

The following are the child characteristics and operational impact on children in MWO according to the Difficulty of Care Factors:

- School attendance is poor, grades are poor, concentration is poor when in school; requires oversight from teachers, family and/or caregiver
- Multiple school suspensions and disciplinary actions
- History of explosive outburst in schools
- Failure and/or inability to learn
- IEP with placement in specialized classes for behavioral or learning disabilities
- May require adaptive learning tools
- Refuses help with school work or tutoring
- Several years behind in the development of age-appropriate knowledge of self-care or life skills
- Verbal aggression (Use of vulgar and/or provocative language)
- Oppositional and defiant in the home and school setting
- Demanding and/or threatening
- Smearing and/or throwing of feces
- Bedwetting graduating to intentional urination in places other than the toilet
- Hiding soiled clothing/bed linens
- Limited ability to perform routine tasks of daily living such as chores and laundry
- Deliberately or impulsively destroying property while in a structured setting breaking windows, pictures, mirrors, damage to furniture, appliances, clothing, electronics, and vehicles
- Preoccupation with fire
- History of cruelty to animals
- Sexual acting out with or without aggression that may be opportunistic, situational or planned
- Highly sexualized behaviors, promiscuity, seeking inappropriate relationships with older persons, poor physical boundaries, often with history of sexual abuse and poor self-esteem
- Recurrent and/or severe self-injurious behaviors and/or suicidal behaviors that are under control
- Homicidal and/or suicidal threats
- Physical aggression and/or assault (hitting, kicking, spitting, attacking with or without a weapon, throwing objects) toward adults and/or other children with and/or without injuries
- Withdrawn behavior, attention seeking behaviors that are excessive, constant complaining about physical ailments, nightmares, difficulty going to bed and/or refusal to stay in bedroom
- Fears, worries, and anxieties that affect daily activities; frequent and severe headaches, stomach aches and/or refusal to get out of bed
- Serious problems with personal hygiene
- Impulsive behaviors that present barrier to maintaining physical safety

- Chaotic and poor control of anger toward self and others with frequency and intensity that needs attention
- Inflexibly adheres to routines or rituals and has difficulty with transitions, which may lead to serious harm to self or others or extremely aggressive behaviors
- Difficulties with social interactions and/or communication (failure to speak, make eye contact, shake hands, hiding, standing too close, revealing personal information inappropriately to strangers, etc.)
- Odd, bizarre or explosive actions, which pose a significant risk of harm to self or others
- Hearing voices and/or seeing things that are not there
- Frequent and/or uncontrollable behavioral outbursts and mood swings
- Seems unable to form any meaningful friendships, is socially isolated and unable to enjoy activities with peers
- Delinquent behaviors stealing, burglary, assault and/or battery
- Recurring involvement with Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ)
- Fire setting with intent to destroy property or injure others and/or preoccupation with fire
- Intentionally and/or maliciously cruel to animals
- Runs away with involvement in situations where high risk activities are likely to occur
- Drinking and/or drug use which may have resulted in disciplinary actions and/or affect daily function
- Involvement with gangs and/or gang-like activities
- Poorly prepared for and lacking skills necessary for independent living

A child served in this group may have **moderate** medical needs requiring specialized services. Child generally sees 2 or more physicians at least on a quarterly basis for medical needs, requires routine lab work to assess the effectiveness of medications. Medical needs in this group could include two-three of the following:

- Global developmental delay as the primary diagnosis
- Mild Cerebral Palsy
- Fetal Alcohol Syndrome
- Recovering from head injury
- Cancer in remission
- Diabetes managed with insulin and follow up with Endocrinologist
- Ordered to have physical, occupational, and/or speech therapy 1-2 times weekly
- Infant with sucking difficulty and/or on a monitor
- Reflux that is controlled with 1-2 medications
- HIV exposure with medications
- Severe visual impairment to include a diagnosis of legal blindness
- Seizure disorder requiring medication
- Episodes of enuresis or encopresis or a history of one or both
- Autism (high functioning)
- Deafness or severe hearing impairment
- May have self-harming behaviors such as cutting or ingesting harmful substances.

• Children that are developmentally delayed may not be able to follow simple one and/or two-step directions and frequently have difficulty with three step directives.

Children with the identified medical needs can either be served in an MWO CPA or CCI program. However, there are children in the MWO category through selected CCI or Children's Transition Care Center (CTCC) programs whose medical needs are **serious to severe**. These children are deemed clinically stable by a physician but are dependent on life-sustaining medications, treatment/procedures and equipment. Children ages 0-12 are not permitted to be placed in a group care setting without approval of a DFCS Director. However, under special circumstances with an exclusive contract a provider may be approved to place medically fragile children ages 0-18 in a group setting.

Some of the characteristics in which a child would qualify for a medically fragile approved MWO CCI/ CTCC provider are as follows but not limited to:

- A medical condition which requires management with medications
- Child has a tracheotomy
- Child is oxygen and feeding tube dependent
- Complete or partial paralysis (child weighing 20 pounds or more)
- Depends upon medication to keep a life-threatening condition under control including, but not limited to asthma, chronic lung disease, diabetes, heart disease, HIV infection, or chronic kidney disease being maintained by dialysis
- Limited mobility

Specialty Base Watchful Oversight- SBWO (CPA)

A child served in this specialty program will have **serious** emotional and/or behavioral management problems that interfere with the child's ability to function normally within the family, school, and community. Due to the severity and required attentiveness in caring for a child approved with a specialty program designation, other children are not permitted to be placed in the home without the written approval from a DHS/DFCS Designee. The child characteristics on children in SBWO are the same as MWO; however, the severity and frequency are increased.

Specialty Maximum Watchful Oversight- SMWO (CPA)

A child served in the Specialty with Maximum Oversight Program will have **severe** emotional and/or behavioral management problems that interfere with the child's ability to function in the family, school, and/or community. Due to the severity and required attentiveness in caring for a child approved with a specialty program designation, other children are not permitted to be placed in the home without the written approval from a DHS/DFCS Designee. The child characteristics on children in SMWO are the same as SBWO; however, the severity and frequency are increased.

Specialty Medically Fragile Watchful Oversight- SMFWO (CPA)

A child served in the Specialty Medically Fragile program has **serious to severe** medical conditions. Non-compliance with any prescriptive regimen of care will endanger the life or health of the child. These children require time-intensive treatments/procedures to be performed daily by a trained caregiver. Due to the severity and required attentiveness in

caring for a child approval with a specialty program designation, other children are not permitted to be placed in the home without the written approval from a DHS/DFCS Designee.

These are some of the characteristics in which a child would qualify for SMFWO but are not limited to:

- A medical condition which requires management with medications
- Child has a tracheotomy
- Child is oxygen dependent
- Persistent reflux causing frequent vomiting
- Requires oral feedings that take at least 30 minutes or requires tube feedings
- Requires nebulizer treatments on a daily basis
- Requires medications by feeding tube, injection or suppository
- Requires ostomy care
- Has any type body cast
- Blindness
- Deafness or severe hearing impairment
- Complete or partial paralysis (child weighing 20 pounds or more)
- Has self-harming behaviors such as cutting, ingesting poisonous substances, etc.
- Depends upon medication to keep a life-threatening condition under control including, but not limited to asthma, chronic lung disease, diabetes, heart disease, HIV infection, or chronic kidney disease being maintained by dialysis
- Limited mobility
- Bedwetting and urination in places other than the toilet
- Several years behind in the development of age-appropriate knowledge of self-care or life skills
- Medical interventions may be required while in school

Maternity Homes & Parent Support Programs (Second Chance Homes:

A child served in the Maternity Homes and Parenting Support Programs (Second Chance Homes) is preparing for motherhood or receiving hands on parenting training. The premise of these program designations are to support an adolescent who is either pregnant or have a child/children with the skills and knowledge to care for their child(ren). Their emotional and/or behavioral management problems are **mild**.

The following are the child characteristics and operational impact on children according to the Difficulty of Care Factors:

- May be learning disabled requiring supports such as Student Support Team and tutoring services
- May have poor concentration at school and home
- May have occasional disruptive or disobedient behaviors resulting in In-School Suspension
- May have behaviors that are managed by medications
- Non-compliance with curfew and/or limits set by adults
- Difficulty in adjusting to new environments
- May have behavioral outbursts inclusive of profane and/or provocative language

- May exhibit "annoying" behaviors to include excessive teasing, horseplay, and language taunting
- May exhibit impulsive behaviors that create mild risk inappropriate verbal outbursts and wanders away from the group
- May be easily frustrated; temper tantrums
- May have difficulty making friends

A child under Maternity and Parenting Support (Second Chance Homes have minimal to mild medical needs and can have a mild developmental delay that does not coexist with any medical condition.

The Parenting Support (Second Chance Homes not only serves the mother but also the mother's child(ren). The following are the program designations codes for Second Chance Homes in GA SCORE:

- 2CMB1- Second Chance Mother with one (1) child
- 2CB1- Second Chance one (1) child
- 2CMB2- Second Chance Mother with two (2) children
- 2CB2- Second Chance two (2) children

Camp:

A child served in the Camp will have **moderate to severe** emotional and/or behavioral management problems that interfere with the child's ability to function in the family, school, and/or community outside of a supervised and structured setting. The child characteristics on children approved for the Camp are the same as AWO and MWO.

A child under, Camp has minimal to mild medical needs and can have a mild developmental delay that does not coexist with any medical condition.

Transitional Living:

A child served in the Transitional Living/ Independent Living Program greatly benefits from life skills training to be more self-sufficient and preparing them for adulthood. The premise of this program designation assignment is not behavioral based as the BWO, AWO and MWO are. Behaviors may be considered in the placement of a child, based on each approved provider admission criteria. This program designation can serve adolescents as young as 16 years.

DESCRIPTION OF PROGRAM TYPES

Child Caring Institution (CCI)

• Any child-welfare facility that provides full-time room, board and watchful oversight to six or more children through 18 years of age (the exception would be if an emancipated child signed himself/herself back into the care of the Division of Family and Children Services, then 21 years of age or under). The children in CCI's are residing outside of their own home environment. These facilities provide care, supervision, and oversight in a residential setting, including neighborhood - based group homes, campus - based arrangements, and self-contained facilities. The facility Director, Human Service Professional, and Child Care Worker work as a team to provide a stabilizing and nurturing environment that promotes, safety, well-being and

permanency, and it allows the children to be stepped down to the least restrictive environment.

Parenting Support Program (Second Chance Home) PSP

o The PSP is a Child Caring Institution by definition; however, this type of CCI serves between four and eight adolescents and their child or children. PSPs help adolescent mothers to become self-sufficient by providing them with a safe living environment, support for long-term economic independence, child development, parenting and life skills.

Maternity Home (MH)

Maternity Programs (MP) are specialized, RBWO programs established for the purpose of caring for young adolescents during pregnancy. These services can be provided in a Child Caring Institution (CCI) or Child Placement Agency (CPA). Providers of Maternity Programs who offer services for youth who are 21 years of age and younger, in a residential setting, must be licensed through the RCCL as a Maternity Home. A Maternity Home may only provide such services to pregnant youth, before, during or within two (2) weeks after childbirth through a maximum period of eight (8) weeks following delivery unless also providing Parenting Support Program (Second Chance Home) services.

This facility offers a group living experience to pregnant adolescents or young mothers. Professional staff assists the young women before and after giving birth to address individual problems and help them plan for living arrangements, employment and/or school, and caring for their new infants. The Director, Human Service Professional, resident staff, and medical staff work together as a team to promote the safety, permanency and well-being of the children that they serve.

Children's Transition Care Center (CTCC)

CTCC is a Child Caring Institution by definition, but this type of CCI provides a temporary, home-like environment for medically fragile children, technology dependent children, and children with special health care needs, who are deemed clinically stable by a physician but are dependent on life-sustaining medications, treatments, and equipment. These children require assistance with activities of daily living to facilitate transitions from a hospital or other facility. The Director, Human Service Professional, Registered Nurse Staff, and the Child Care Worker work together as a team to promote the safety, permanency and well-being of the children that they serve.

Outdoor Child Caring Program - "Specialty" Camp (OCCP)

OCCP is a Child Caring Institution by definition, however this type of CCI provides room, board and watchful oversight in a wilderness or camp environment that is designed to improve the emotional and behavioral adjustment of the children in care. The use of physical, environmental, athletic and other challenging activities are designed to improve the functioning of the children and to teach them pro-social and adaptive skills.

Independent Living Program:

O Specialized RBWO program for youth who are at least 18 years of age through 21 years. ILP is different from transitional living in that youth may live in an alternative living arrangement (i.e., community-based housing) rather than a group home, or other residential type facility. Independent living placements shall begin no earlier than a youth's 18th birthday. Youth in ILP will experience graduated independence regarding program expectations, skill development and levels or types of supervision provided. The goal of an independent living placement is to prepare youth to become socially, emotionally and personally independent of social services while connecting them to life-long permanency connections and laying the foundation for the pursuit of educational and career opportunities.

Transitional Living Program:

Specialized RBWO program for youth at least 16 years of age. Youth may be older than 18 years old if they have agreed to Extended Youth Support Services. Transitional living is designed for youth who are ready to enter a phase of care that will eventually transition them to independent living. Transitional living affords youth an opportunity to practice basic independent living skills in a variety of settings with decreasing degrees of supervision. This specialized RBWO placement provides youth the opportunity to experience increased personal responsibility so youth can become responsible for their own care when they exit foster care. The goal of a transitional living placement is to prepare youth to become socially, emotionally and personally independent of social services while connecting them to life-long permanency connections and laying the foundation for the pursuit of educational and career opportunities.

Child Placing Agency (CPA)

Any child welfare agency which places children in foster homes for temporary individualized care, supervision and oversight, and are provided in a resource family setting. These agencies that arrange for children to receive care in foster homes must make arrangements to assess the placement regarding the appropriateness of the room, board and watchful oversight that the prospective foster family will provide. The agency's Director, Case Support Staff, and the foster parents work as a team to provide a stabilizing and nurturing environment that promotes safety, well-being and permanency.

CPA Staffing Standards

These requirements build on CPA rules and regulations and reflect the increasing needs and service requirements.

The R.B.W.O. CPA provider shall have the administrative and professional staff necessary to oversee and provide R.B.W.O. services to children and families. No person having an unsatisfactory determination based on his/her criminal record shall be employed by the agency. Each provider of R.B.W.O. shall employ or contract with an adequate number of qualified staff to provide the necessary services. Staff shall not be assigned more than one

position except in rare situations based on the work assignment and responsibilities at the discretion of the agency's director.

Role of the Director

When providing services for the following R.B.W.O. youth, the provider must designate an individual responsible for its administrative services. Based on the qualifications outlined below, this individual assumes final responsibility for the day to day operations and the provision and oversight of all essential tasks and services described in these standards.

Director

- Director must have a master's degree from an accredited college or university in the area of behavioral or social sciences, social work, or childhood education, business or public administration or related field and two (2) years of paid work experience in the field of social services or human service delivery and at least one of which has been in an administrative or supervisory capacity; or a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the same areas of study and four (4) years of paid work experience in a human services delivery capacity or a related field and at least two of which have been in an administrative or supervisory capacity.
- A Director shall not serve in the capacity of any RBWO role for more than one agency, site or location that is under contract with the Department of Human Services as an RBWO provider. The Director should not serve in any other capacity unless it is in an emergency situation (loss of a Case Support Supervisor (CSS) or Case Support Worker (CSW)). If this occurs, the Director may act in the capacity of the CSS or CSW, for no longer than 90 days and must notify OPM in writing when the position is vacated, with the plan to replace the CSS or CSW within the 90 day timeframe. The Director must meet the qualifications of a CSS or CSW in order to temporarily serve in that capacity.

Case Support Supervisor

The role of the Case Support Supervisor is to plan, provide, arrange, coordinate and document services to children and families. The Case Support Supervisor is a person employed by the agency who is responsible for the supervision of the placement services offered by the agency and for the designation of approval for the prospective adoptive and foster families and for assessing the appropriateness of the placement's Room, Board and Watchful Oversight capacity. There shall be at least one Case Support Supervisor employed by the agency. Case Support Supervisor must have a master's degree from an accredited college or university in the area of behavioral or social sciences, social work, psychology, childhood education, special education, guidance counseling, or related field with one (1) year experience in the field of child care or a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the same areas of study with two (2) years of paid work experience in a human services delivery capacity or a related field.

Role of Case Support Supervisor (CSS)

• Responsible for ensuring that the case support worker is meeting the needs of the child and foster parent.

Case Support Worker

The Case Support Worker (CSW) is a person employed by the agency who provides direct placement services and supervision following placements. The Case Support Workers (CSW) maximum allowed caseload is determined by children's program designations.

Maximum caseload numbers follow:

- Traditional Care Only---20 children per CSW
- Base Care Only--- 18 children per CSW
- MWO Only --- 15 children per CSW
- Specialty Designations Only-- (SBWO, SMWO and SMFWO) 12 children per CSW
- For combined caseloads of Traditional, Base and Maximum Watchful Oversight, the following criteria must be followed:
 - Base and Traditional Only: The CSW caseload number must not exceed 18 children.
 - Base, Traditional and MWO in any combination: The CSW caseload number must not exceed 15 children.
 - Specialty plus Base, Traditional and MWO in any combination: The CSW caseload number must not exceed 12 children.

Providers should give consideration to the level of experience of the Case Support Worker in determining actual caseload size and type.

Case Support Worker must have a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the area of behavioral or social sciences, social work, psychology, childhood education, special education, guidance counseling, or related field.

Role of Case Support Worker (CSW)

- Responsible for ensuring that the educational, medical, emotional and social needs of the child are met.
- Responsible for ensuring that the foster parent's needs are met to enable them to care for the child.

DFCS will not place children with CPA foster parents who are also employees of the CPA agency.

*Any existing foster homes where foster parents are also CPA staff must be reported to the Director of the Office of Provider Management within 14 days from July 1, 2014.

CCI Staffing Standards

The following Requirements are for Child Caring Institutions, "Specialty" Camps, and Maternity Homes providing Room, Board, and Watchful Oversight (R.B.W.O.) services to children. The Staffing Requirements for R.B.W.O. described below build on the RCCL

rules and regulations and reflect the increasing needs and service requirements of the children.

ADMINISTRATION AND ORGANIZATION

Each provider of R.B.W.O. shall employ or contract with an adequate number of qualified staff to provide the necessary services. Staff shall not be assigned more than one position except in rare situations based on the work assignment and responsibilities at the discretion of the agency's director.

• A Director shall not serve in the capacity of any RBWO role for more than one agency, site, or location that is under contract with the Department of Human Services as an R.B.W.O. provider. However, the Director may serve as the Human Services Professional (H.S.P.) for their agency when the position is vacated, if the Director meets the educational qualifications of the H. S. P. The Director may act in the capacity of the H.S.P. for no longer than 90 days, and must notify the Department in writing when the position is vacated and of its plan to replace the H.S.P.

No person having an unsatisfactory determination as to his or her criminal record shall be employed by the facility.

The director may not rely on out of state staff to meet any of the staffing needs.

Director

When providing services for the following R.B.W.O. programs and designations, Base Watchful Oversight (BWO), Additional Watchful Oversight (AWO), 2nd Chance, Maternity, Teen Development, Camp and Maximum Watchful Oversight (MWO), the provider must designate an individual responsible for its administrative services. Based on the qualifications outlined below, this individual assumes final responsibility for the day to day operations and the provision and oversight of all essential tasks and services described in these standards.

- A Director must have a master's degree from an accredited college or university in the area of behavioral or social sciences, social work, childhood education, business or public administration or related field and two (2) years of paid work experience in the field of social services or human service delivery and at least one of which has been in an administrative or supervisory capacity; or a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the same areas of study and four (4) years of paid work experience in a human services delivery capacity or a related field and at least two of which have been in an administrative or supervisory capacity.
- The Director should not serve in any other capacity unless it is in an emergency situation (loss of an HSP, Life Coach, or Child Care Worker). If this occurs, the Director may act in the capacity of the HSP, Life Coach or Child Care Worker, for no longer than 90 days and must notify the Division of the situation and its plan to replace the staff. The director must meet the qualifications of an HSP or Life Coach in order to temporarily serve in this capacity.

Note: Some directors were grandfathered in and may not meet the current qualifications for serving as an HSP or Life Coach.

Note: Those who were not grandfathered in may be required to attend RBWO Foundations Classroom Components to gain basic knowledge of RBWO programming.

Human Services Professional

When providing services for the following programs and designations: Basic Watchful Oversight (BWO), Additional Watchful Oversight (AWO) and Maximum Watchful Oversight (MWO), Specialty Camps and Maternity Homes the provider must designate staff to assume the responsibilities of a Human Services Professional (HSP) to plan, provide, arrange, coordinate and document services to children and their families.

• The HSP is responsible for providing and/or coordinating services for no more than 16 children. If the HSP serves in a case management role for more than one agency, then the maximum shared case load cannot exceed 16 children.

The HSP must have a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the area of behavioral or social sciences, social work, or psychology, childhood education and (2) years of paid work experience in the field of social services or human service delivery.

Role of Human Services Professional (HSP)

- Responsible for ensuring that the educational, medical, emotional and social needs of the child are met.
- Responsible for providing and/or coordinating ancillary and social services for the child.

Child Care Workers

The provider shall have designated Child Care Workers responsible for the daily care and supervision of children in the living unit. The Child Care Worker must be at least 21 years of age and possess at least a high school diploma or GED. New Child Care Workers must log at least 40 hours of work with the provider before working unsupervised with children.

Child-Staff Ratios

- When providing services for children with a program designation of Base Watchful Oversight (BWO), Child Care Workers shall be available to provide a staff to child ratio of 1:10 (staff to child ratio is subject to change when the safety is in question). Programs that offer Base Watchful Oversight services only, are not required to have awake staff, unless the agency has residents who require constant supervision, e.g. children with histories of sexual offending or chronic runaway behavior.
- If only one Child Care Worker is required to be on duty, day or night, there must be a designated, proximate back-up person on-call at all times in case of an emergency. The back-up person must be listed on the daily schedule. When a Child Care Worker is required to be on duty, the Child Care Worker shall monitor sleeping children every 15 minutes and document in writing.

- When providing services for children with a program designation of Additional Watchful Oversight (AWO), Child Care Workers shall be available to provide a staff to child ratio of 1:8 (staff to child ratio is subject to change when the safety is in question) during the day and night. The Child Care Worker shall monitor sleeping children every 15 minutes and document in writing.
- When providing services for children with a program designation of Maximum Watchful Oversight (MWO), Child Care Workers shall be available to provide a staff to child ratio of 1:5 (staff to child ratio is subject to change when the safety is in question) during the day and night. The Child Care Worker shall monitor sleeping children every 15 minutes and document in writing.
- When providing services for children with mixed program designations (AWO and MWO) and the number of MWO children is higher than 25% of the population in the facility, the MWO staff ratio standards apply.

Note: Staff must be present in the facility at all times when youth are present in the home. Providers may request in writing a review of their child-staff ratio needs. The request to OPM should include a detailed explanation with supporting facts as to why an exception to the expected staffing standards should be granted. OPM will review the request and make an appropriate determination in writing. Until the written determination is made, providers must maintain expected staffing standards.

House Parent Model

- This model may be utilized for programs that accept Base Watchful Oversight designations only. The programs must have a process in place to ensure that children are asleep before the house parent goes to sleep and can be reasonably assured that children will be safe and secure overnight. Agencies must utilize awake staff if serving children who require constant supervision, e.g. children with histories of sexual offending or chronic runaway behavior. CCI Programs serving Additional Watchful Oversight (AWO) and Maximum Watchful Oversight designations shall not use the House Parent Model.
- Relief staff must have the same qualifications and training as regular child care staff.

Life Coach (LC)

When providing services for the following programs and designations: Independent Living Program (ILP), Maternity or Parent Support Programs (Second Chance) the provider must designate staff to assume the responsibilities of a Life Coach to plan, provide, arrange, coordinate and document services to children and their families.

- The Life Coach is responsible for providing and/or coordinating services for no more than 15 youth. If the Life Coach serves in a case management role for more than one agency, then the maximum shared case load cannot exceed 15 youth.
- The Life Coach must have a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the area of behavioral or social sciences, social work, or psychology, childhood education and (2) years of paid work experience in the field of social services or human service delivery.

Role of Life Coach (LC)

- Responsible for ensuring that the educational, medical, emotional and social needs of the child are met through day to day operations.
- Responsible for documenting/maintaining youth's file.
- Responsible for providing and/or coordinating ancillary and social services for the child.

ILP Staffing Standards

The following Requirements are for Independent Living Programs providing Room, Board, and Watchful Oversight (R.B.W.O.) services to young adults. The Staffing Requirements for R.B.W.O. described below build on the Division's Social Services Child Welfare policies.

ADMINISTRATION AND ORGANIZATION

Each provider of R.B.W.O. shall employ or contract with an adequate number of qualified staff to provide the necessary services. Staff shall not be assigned more than one position based on the work assignment and responsibilities.

• A Director shall not serve in the capacity of any RBWO role for more than one agency, site, or location that is under contract with the Department of Human Services as an R.B.W.O. provider. However, the Director may serve as the Life Coach for their agency when the position is vacated if the Director meets the educational qualifications of the Life Coach. The Director may act in the capacity of the Life Coach for no longer than 90 days and must notify the Department in writing when the position is vacated and of its plan to replace the Life Coach.

No person having an unsatisfactory determination as to his or her criminal record shall be employed by the facility.

The director may not rely on out of state staff to meet any of the staffing needs.

Director

When providing Independent Living Program services, the provider must designate an individual responsible for its administrative services. Based on the qualifications outlined below, this individual assumes final responsibility for the day to day operations and the provision and oversight of all essential tasks and services described in these standards.

• A Director must have a master's degree from an accredited college or university in the area of behavioral or social sciences, social work, childhood education, business or public administration or related field and two (2) years of paid work experience in the field of social services or human service delivery and at least one of which has been in an administrative or supervisory capacity; or a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the same areas of study and four (4) years of paid work experience in a human services delivery capacity or a related field and at least two of which have been in an administrative or supervisory capacity. Ideally, the Director should possess experience working with young adults in the area of life skills development and/or preparation.

• Ideally, the Director should not serve in any other capacity unless it is in an emergency situation (loss of Life Coach). If this occurs, the Director may act in the capacity of the Life Coach for no longer than 90 days and must notify the Division of the situation with a written plan to replace the staff. The director must meet the qualifications of a Life Coach in order to temporarily serve in this capacity. Note: Some directors were grandfathered in and may not meet the current qualifications for serving as the Life Coach. Those who were not grandfathered in may be required to attend RBWO Foundations Classroom Components to gain basic knowledge of RBWO programming.

Life Coach (LC)

When providing services for the following programs and designations: Independent Living Program (ILP), Maternity or Parent Support Programs (Second Chance) the provider must designate staff to assume the responsibilities of a Life Coach to plan, provide, arrange, coordinate and document services to children and their families.

- The Life Coach is responsible for providing and/or coordinating services for no more than 15 youth. If the Life Coach serves in a case management role for more than one agency, then the maximum shared case load cannot exceed 15 youth.
- The Life Coach must have a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in
 the area of behavioral or social sciences, social work, or psychology, childhood education
 and (2) years of paid work experience in the field of social services or human service
 delivery.

Role of Life Coach (LC)

- Responsible for ensuring that the educational, medical, emotional and social needs of the child are met through day to day operations.
- Responsible for documenting/maintaining youth's file.
- Responsible for providing and/or coordinating ancillary and social services for the child.

Appendix

Definitions

Individual Service Plan Checklist

Internet Resources

Waivers and Program Designation Request Information

Grievances and Appeals

OPM Staff Contact List and Care Coordination Team Specialist List

GA RYSE Contacts

Office of the Child Advocate Contact Information

DFCS Field Operations Directories

Minimum Standards Change Guide

Infant Safe Sleeping Guidelines and Protocol

Staff Training Recommendations

Sexual Harassment Policy

Progressive Compliance Policy

Social Media F.A.Q.

Appendix A – DEFINITIONS

Academic Support- an educational activity, service, or resource that assists the child with meeting learning standards, accelerates their learning process, and/or encourages and promotes the child's overall academic success. Some examples include, but are not limited to:

- Tutoring
- Attendance at school meetings (IEP, PTA, conference, etc.)
- Digital and online learning applications
- Community/volunteer based learning programs
- Summer bridge programs

Bullying - Deliberately hurtful behavior, usually repeated over a period of time, where it is difficult for those bullied to defend themselves. It can take many forms, but the three main types are physical (e.g. hitting, kicking, theft), verbal (e.g. racist or homophobic remarks, threats, name calling) and emotional (e.g. isolating an individual from the activities and social acceptance of their peer group). The damage inflicted by bullying can frequently be underestimated. It can cause considerable distress to children, to the extent that it affects their health and development or, at the extreme, causes them significant harm (including selfharm). All settings in which children are provided with services or are living away from home should have in place rigorously enforced anti-bullying strategies.

Casey Life Skills Assessment (CLSA) - A free assessment that the Georgia's Independent Living Program has adopted as a standard part of case planning. Youth will have their Independent Living Strengths and Needs assessed through the appropriate Ansell-Casey Life Skills Assessment (ACLSA).

Chemical Restraints - Drugs that that are administered to manage a youth's behavior in a way that reduces the safety risk to the youth or others; that have the temporary effect of restricting the youth's freedom of movement; and that are not being used as part of a standard regimen, as specified in the youth's treatment plan, to treat current symptoms of a medical or psychiatric condition.

Child Abuse - (O.C.G.A.19-7-5):

- Physical injury or death inflicted upon a child by a parent or caretaker by other than accidental means; provided however, physical forms of discipline may be used as long as there is no physical injury to the child;
- Neglect or exploitation of a child by a parent or caretaker;
- Sexual abuse of a child; or
- Sexual exploitation of a child.

Child/Youth - A person less than 18 years of age or considered to be a minor under State law.

Corporal Punishment - This is any physical punishment of a child to inflict pain as a deterrent to wrong doing. It may produce transitory pain and potential bruising. If pain and bruising are not excessive or unduly severe and result only in short-term discomfort, this is not considered maltreatment.

Criminal Records Check - Statement regarding results of criminal records check by way of GCIC and NCIC fingerprint screenings for all adult household members eighteen (18) years and older residing temporarily or permanently in the home and having access to the children. If an adult residing in the home has a criminal record history and the home is being recommended for approval, discussion of the offense and justification for approval are required (Refer to Child Welfare Policy Manual Chapter 19.08). Live Scan results of GBI and NCIC reports must be kept in a locked file.

Emergency Safety Intervention (E.S.I.) - Those behavior management techniques that are authorized by an approved individualized emergency safety intervention plan; emergency safety interventions are only utilized by properly trained staff in an urgent situation to prevent a consumer from doing immediate harm to self or others.

Every Child Every Month (ECEM) - Purposeful contacts with the child monthly.

Every Parent Every Month (EPEM) – Purposeful contacts with child's parents or other permanency person monthly.

Family Team Meeting – Is a task oriented, facilitated, structured meeting which exist to craft, implement or change the individualized child and family plan; or to make critical case decisions regarding child safety, permanency and well-being.

Foster Care - A Federal-State program that provides financial support to a person, family, or institution that is raising a child or children that are not their own.

GaDOE – Georgia Department of Education www.doe.k12.ga.us

Individualized Service Plan – Provider's service plan for the child.

Individual Skills Plan – Provider's service plan for youth age 14 years and up focusing on independent living skills.

LEA – Local education agency.

Maltreatment - This refers to one or more forms of neglect, abuse or exploitation. It may be used as a general term or in reference to a specific category such as neglect, physical abuse, emotional neglect, medical neglect, emotional abuse, sexual abuse, exploitation or exposure to family violence.

Mandated Reporter - This is a person required to report known or suspected child abuse, neglect or exploitation under penalty of law for failure to report. Mandated reporters include physicians, osteopathic physicians, interns, residents and other hospital personnel, dentists, psychologists, podiatrists, nursing personnel, social work personnel (including all DFCS professional staff), school teachers and administrators, school guidance counselors, child care personnel, day care personnel, law enforcement personnel, child counseling and child service organization personnel.

Medical Neglect - This is a form of neglect involving the absence or omission of essential medical care or services, causing harm or seriously threatening harm to the physical or emotional health of a child younger than eighteen years. It includes the withholding of medically indicated treatment for disabled infants with life-threatening conditions.

Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) Meeting - Multiple disciplines meets to review all relevant aspects of the child's case information. It is the team's responsibility to make the best and most appropriate recommendations for services and placement (if appropriate) that meets the needs of the child and family. The team will select reasonable, achievable goals/objectives that are positively stated, measurable, clear, concise, and address the specific behaviors or conditions that must be corrected for the child to be safely returned to the parent and incorporated into the initial case plan.

Neglect - Failure of a parent/caretaker to provide adequate food, clothing, shelter, medical care, supervision or emotional care for child to whom they are responsible. Physical injury to a child may occur when appropriate actions by a parent/caretaker are not taken.

Permanency - Is assessed on a case-by-case basis and takes into consideration the safety and best interests of the child. In the order of preference, the permanent outcomes for children in care are: (1) reunification; (2) adoption; (3) guardianship; (4) permanent placement with a fit and willing relative; or (5) another planned permanent living arrangement; e.g., long-term foster care or emancipation.

Physical Abuse - This is physical injury or death inflicted or permitted to be inflicted, upon a child, by a parent/caretaker by other than accidental means (O.C.G.A. 19-7-5). It is the willful infliction of physical injury or suffering which often occurs in the name of discipline or punishment and may range from the use of the hand to the use of objects.

Physical Injury - This is bodily harm or hurt such as bruises, welts, fractures, burns, cuts or internal injuries but excluding mental distress, fright or emotional disturbance. When corporal punishment is involved, the severity of injuries will determine whether the situation is deemed physical abuse.

Placement Disruption – Unplanned placement changes not resulting in permanency or step-down.

Protective Capacities - Family strengths or resources that reduce control and/or prevent threats of serious harm from arising or having an unsafe impact on a child and enable a caregiver to meet the child's basic needs.

PREP: Georgia's Personal Responsibility Education Program (GA-PREP) is administered by the Georgia Division of Family and Children Services (DFCS). Through community engagement and training, Georgia PREP provides funding to public agencies and non-profit organizations to provide training and education to youth in the areas of healthy relationships, abstinence and contraception for the prevention of unintended pregnancy and sexually transmitted infections (STI's), including HIV and AIDS. The program targets youth, ages 10-19, who are in foster care, live in rural areas or in geographic areas with high teen birth rates, or who represent diverse racial or ethnic minority groups. The program also supports pregnant and parenting teens under the age of 21.

In addition to reducing and preventing teen pregnancy and STI infection, GA-PREP provides the opportunity for youth to learn the skills and tools necessary to become healthy, responsible and self-sufficient adults by educating them on healthy relationships, adolescent development, financial literacy, parent-child communication, educational and career preparation, and healthy life skills.

PRTF – Psychiatric Residential Treatment Facility (PRTF) services provide comprehensive mental health and substance abuse treatment services to children and adolescents who, due to severe emotional disturbance, are in need of quality active treatment that can only be provided in a psychiatric residential treatment facility and for whom alternative, less restrictive forms of treatment have been unsuccessful or are not medically indicated. PRTF programs are designed to offer intensive, focused treatment to promote a successful return of the child or adolescent to the community. The PRTF is not a placement, but a temporary hospitalization.

Psychotropic medications – Are drugs that affect the mind / perception, behavior and mood. Common types of psychotropic medications include:

- Antidepressants
- Anti-anxiety agents
- Antipsychotics
- Mood stabilizers

Respite - A support service to allow foster parents "time away" from their parenting responsibilities, and the foster children are pre-approved to stay with another approved foster family.

Safe - There are no imminent threats of serious harm stemming from caretakers' actions or inactions or the accessible protective capacities of the family are able to prevent these actions or inactions.

Safety - This is the absence of immediate risk of harm to a child, based on current conditions.

Safety Assessment - A decision-making and documentation process conducted in response to a child abuse and/or neglect report or any other instances in which safety needs to be assessed throughout the life of the case to help evaluate safety threats, present danger, child vulnerability, family protective capacities, and to determine the safety response.

Safety Threat - Acts of conditions that have the capacity to seriously harm any child.

Serious Injury - This is an injury such as bodily injury that involves substantial risk of death, extreme physical pain, disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a body part, organ or mental capability. Examples include head trauma, blunt trauma, internal bleeding, multiple bruising and contusions, laceration of organs and amputation.

Sexual Abuse - This is a form of child abuse in which any of nine specific behaviors occur between a child under the age of eighteen years and the parent or caretaker and during which the child is being used for the sexual stimulation of that adult or another person. Sexual abuse shall not include consensual sex acts involving persons of the opposite sex when the sex acts are between minors or between a minor and an adult who is not more than three years older than the minor. However, sexual abuse may be committed by a person under the age of eighteen years when that person is either significantly older than the victim or when the abuser is in a position of power or control over another child. Alleged sexual abuse by an extra-familial perpetrator must be evaluated on the basis of parental approval or the lack of parental supervision.

Significant Events - Serious events relating to the care or protection of children. Including but not limited to:

- Automobile Accident
- Caregiver to Child Sexual
- Caregiver to Child- Physical
- Child on Child Sexual acting out
- Child on Child Physical confrontation
- CPS involvement
- Death
- Emergency Discharge
- Emergency Safety Intervention (10+) more than 10 times in one month for all children
- Emergency Safety Intervention (3+) 3 or more times in one month on the same child
- Emergency Safety Intervention (Injury) any ESI resulting in injury
- Environmental Safety/Physical Plant
- Fire Department Involvement
- Good News
- Impact from Natural Disaster, Fire, or Flood
- Inappropriate Discipline/Corporal Punishment
- Legal Action Federal, state, or local litigation against agency or staff member
- Media Coverage
- Medical Care, Emergency Hospitalization, Emergency Room visit, Serious injury
- Medical Care, Emergency Resulting from a medication administration error
- Medical Care, Planned Hospitalization, outpatient invasive procedure
- Medication Refusal
- Neglect
- RCCL Investigation Initiated
- Police Intervention (To include: Assault, Community/school issues, Drugs, Other, Runaway, Theft, etc.)
- Psychiatric Emergency (1013)
- Staff to Child (To include: Physical confrontation, sexual, other, etc.)
- Suicide/Homicide (Attempt/Threat)
- Temporary Closure of Living Unit
- Other

Note: The list should not be considered an all-inclusive list of the types of significant events that should be reported.

Transition Services Plan - The purpose of a Transition Service Plan is to assist children with their IEP team and natural supports, build the skills and support they need to reach their post-school goals. The successful transition of children with disabilities from school to post school

environments should be a priority of every IEP team. The purpose of the Individuals with Disabilities Act (1997) was "to ensure that all children with disabilities have available to them a free appropriate public education (FAPE) that emphasizes special education and related services designed to meet their unique needs and prepare them for employment and independent living," (20 U.S.C. ~ 140 (d) (1) (A).

Transitional Round Table-- Transition Roundtable (TRT) is a youth-centered, teaming process that generates an action plan for expediting permanency and permanent connections for youth while also addressing their well-being needs. The target population is adolescents in custody between the ages of 14 and 18. The meeting is mandatory for all youth in care who reached age 17. Partners in the process include youth-selected allies, Independent Living Specialist (ILS), Regional Adoption Coordinators (RAC), Education Support Monitors (ESM), Caregivers and Court Appointed Special Advocates (CASA).

Trauma-Informed Knowledge - A "trauma-informed" system is one in which all components of a given service system have been reconsidered and evaluated in the light of a basic understanding of the role that violence plays in the lives of people seeking mental health and addictions services. This model accommodates the vulnerabilities of trauma survivors and allows services to be delivered in a way that will avoid inadvertent retraumatization and will facilitate consumer participation in treatment.

Vulnerable child - Is defenseless, exposed to behavior, conditions or circumstances that he or she is powerless to manage, and is susceptible and accessible to a threatening parent or caregiver. Vulnerability is judged according to the child's physical and emotional development, ability to communicate needs, mobility, size and dependence.

Written Transitional Living Plan (WTLP) - A DFCS plan that is developed by and for youth in foster care upon turning 14 years old (and every six months thereafter). The WTLP has individualized goals that are specific to youth's strengths and needs as growth & development occur.

Appendix B – Individual Service Plan (ISP) Checklist

Safety	
	Behavior support and intervention plan (Reference 2.1).
	Identification of child's triggers, coping behaviors, and calming measures and have a crisis plan in place (Reference 2.2).
	Behavior management strategies to avoid (Reference 2.8).
	Emergency safety interventions must be limited to least restrictive appropriate method
	(Reference 2.18).
Qualit	y of Care (See Standard 3.0 – 3.9)
	Must be strength based and reflective of assessment findings (Reference 3.0).
	ISP must addresses permanency (Reference 3.0)
	Address emotional and psychological needs (Reference 3.0).
	Assessments, service plans, and service delivery must be tailored to the needs, strengths, and resources of the child and family (Reference 3.0).
	Must promote the welfare, education, interest, and health needs of child (Reference

	3.0)
	Take cultural, ethnic, or religious identity into account (Reference 3.3).
	Goals and outcomes, with input from the custody holder (Reference 3.3).
	Steps and measures to meet the needs of child (Reference 3.3)
	Plan must be tailored towards the needs of child (Reference 3.3).
	Must include DFCS or courts recommendations (Reference 3.3).
	Family members are included in review of ISP (Reference 3.3).
	Copy of ISP given to child (if age appropriate) and family members (Reference 3.6).
	Must ensure that all services to child and family are identified (Reference 3.7).
	Managed by a case support worker or HSP to ensure requirements of ISP are met (Reference 3.9).
	Health plan component, which covers health history and needs (Reference 6.1).
	Must include provisions for routine medical and dental services according to
	Medicaid's Early Prevention and Screening Diagnostic Test (EPSDT). standards (Reference 6.2).
Perma	nency Support
	Every Parent Every Month (EPEM) must be updated when ISP is updated (Reference 8.4).
	EPEM must be updated whenever assessments needs warrant a change (Reference 8.4).
	Discharge plan begins at admissions and should be reflective in ISP (Reference 9.0).
	Initial ISP must clearly indicate the assessed needs of the child (Reference 12.10).
<u>Timeli</u>	
	ISP must be developed within 7 days of admission and submitted within 5 days of completion. (Reference 3.1)
	Submit ISP to DFCS by the 30 th day of child's placement (Reference 3.2)
	ISP must be updated every 6 months (Reference 3.2)

Appendix C – Internet Resources

DFCS Child Welfare Policy Manual

http://odis.dhs.ga.gov/ChooseCategory.aspx?cid=1029

Department of Education

The following links are provided by The State of Georgia Department of Education Title I, Part D – Neglected and Delinquent Children, to offer additional information regarding services designed to improve educational services for children in institutions for neglected or delinquent children so that children have the opportunity to meet the same challenging State academic content standards and challenging State student academic achievement standards that all children in the State are expected to meet.

http://www.doe.k12.ga.us/tss_title_grant.aspx?PageReq=TSSTitleID

http://www2.ed.gov/programs/titleipartd/applicant.html

Kenny A Consent Decree & Infrastructure Standards

https://www.gascore.com/documents/KennyA_ModifiedConsentDecree_ExitPlan.pdf https://www.gascore.com/documents/KennyA_FinalizedInfrastructureStandards.pdf

United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Guidelines

http://www.fns.usda.gov/fns/regulations.htm

Residential Child Care Licensing (RCCL) Food Consumption Policy

http://rules.sos.state.ga.us/docs/290/2/6/21.pdf

Appendix D – RBWO Program Designation and Waiver Applications

The process below describes the process for applying for child program designations and/or CPA foster parent waivers. Applications are posted on www.gascore.com.

- 1.) DFCS Case Managers or providers may initiate the applications to assign/assess children for program designations. The Universal Application along with supporting documentation must be submitted via www.gascore.com
 - Email address: cctusupport@dhs.ga.gov
 - Fax #: (770) 359-5335
- 2.) A completed packet should include the following documents:
 - Universal Application (required);
 - Caregiver Efforts Statement (foster homes only)
 - Current Psychological Evaluation or Trauma Assessment
 - Other supporting documentation (i.e. medical records, therapeutic notes, RBWO monthly summaries, etc.)
 - If a provider initiated the application a statement (email or other documentation) indicating that the county concurs with the application musts be included.
- 3.) Failure to submit a complete packet will result in an automatic denial.
- 4.) A decision on the application will be provided to the requestor (DFCS case manager and/or the provider) within five (5) business days unless the application involves a pending adoption.
- 5.) After a final signing/acceptance, the original submitter gets an email with a download link that is available for 3 days, after which the file is removed from the system.
- 6.) In the case of an emergency, (child is in need of permanent placement within 24 hours from the day of the request, not to include respite) waivers will be processed **on the same business day or within one** (1) **business day** in writing. When needed, verbal approval can be obtained from the OPM Director, CCT Director and/or designee. Failure to obtain approval for the placement of a child when a waiver is required may result in agency office conference, a letter of concern, a temporary hold on agency admissions and/or termination of provider contract

Appendix-E – Grievance and Appeals Process

Provider Grievance, Appeal & Dispute Process

The DFCS Office of Provider Management (OPM) is committed to an effective partnership with Providers. Providers are encouraged to contact OPM when they have concerns regarding monitoring results, program designation decisions, or performance-based scoring. OPM will work with the Provider to resolve any concerns as expeditiously as possible.

I. Provider Performance Based Placement (PBP) Score Report Disputes

A. PBP Score Report Dispute Procedure

OPM will notify Providers of quarterly PBP score results by email.

Note: Unless there is a noted exception, each Provider <u>must</u> enter all data reported to GA+SCORE by the 10th of the following month to receive credit for PBP compliance. Accuracy and timeliness in monthly reporting are major contributors to the overall accuracy of the quarterly PBP score report.

A Provider has 10 calendar days from the date of receipt of the PBP score report to submit an appeal request, by mail or email, to the Department of Human Services (DHS) Appeals Coordinator with any dispute related to the quarterly PBP score report. Each appeal request must include:

- a short and plain statement that identifies what the Provider disagrees with, explains why the Provider disagrees, and describes the resolution the Provider seeks, and
- relevant, mitigating information related to the disputed PBP score, including any
 official documentation such as case records, submitted monthly reports (e.g., ECEM
 reports, monthly summary reports), treatment records, clinical assessment results,
 physician statements, and financial invoices.

Within 10 calendar days of receipt of the Provider's appeal request, DHS will coordinate a dispute resolution meeting between OPM and the Provider. Such dispute resolution meeting may be continued if OPM determines that further review is necessary for OPM to reach a decision confirming or revising the disputed PBP score report.

Within 30 calendar days of such dispute resolution meeting, DHS will send to the Provider, via email or mail, a notice confirming or revising the disputed PBP score report. If the disputed PBP score report is revised, the notice will outline OPM's changes to the score report. If the disputed PBP score report is confirmed, the notice will outline the OPM's rationale confirming the score report.

If applicable, OPM will issue a revised score report within 30 calendar days of the conclusion of any appeal. Any revisions to the scoring will be incorporated into the overall results for the Provider's performance results.

B. PBP Score Report Appeal Delivery Options

Acceptable methods of submitting an appeal request for a PBP score report include mail or email. The appeal request must be made using a PBP Provider Score Dispute Notification Form—available at https://www.gascore.com/current_providers.cfm —and include any mitigating information related to the disputed PBP score report. The Provider must ensure a copy of all submitted documentation is maintained by the sender; no packets will be returned. Limit the number of pages submitted to 10 pages.

Mailing Address: Scorecard Appeals Coordinator

Department of Human Services, Office of General Counsel

47 Trinity Avenue SW Atlanta, GA 30334

Email Address: <u>CWPscores@dhs.ga.gov</u>

II. Provider Annual Comprehensive Review Disputes

A. Annual Comprehensive Review Dispute Procedures

OPM will notify Providers in writing of annual comprehensive review results by email. A Provider has 10 calendar days from the date of receipt of the annual comprehensive review results to submit an appeal request, by mail or email, to the DHS Appeals Coordinator with any dispute related to the annual comprehensive review results. Each appeal request must include:

- a short and plain statement that identifies what the Provider disagrees with, explains why the Provider disagrees, and describes the resolution the Provider seeks, and
- relevant, mitigating information related to each specific category of the disputed annual comprehensive review results, including any official documentation such as case records, submitted monthly reports (e.g., ECEM reports, monthly summary reports), treatment records, clinical assessment results, physician statements, and financial invoices.

Within 10 calendar days of receipt of the Provider's appeal request, DHS will coordinate a dispute resolution meeting between OPM and the Provider. Such dispute resolution meeting may be continued if OPM determines that further review is necessary for OPM to reach a decision confirming or revising the disputed annual comprehensive review results.

Within 30 calendar days of such dispute resolution meeting, DHS will send to the Provider, via email or mail, a notice confirming or revising the disputed annual comprehensive review results. If the disputed annual comprehensive review results are revised, the notice will outline OPM's changes to the score. If the disputed annual comprehensive review results are confirmed, the notice will outline OPM's rationale confirming the score.

The decision reached after this meeting is final.

If applicable, OPM will issue revised annual comprehensive review results within 30 calendar days of the conclusion of the dispute resolution meeting. Any revisions to the scoring will be incorporated into the overall results for the Provider's performance results.

B. Annual Comprehensive Review Appeal Delivery Options

Acceptable methods of submitting an appeal request for an annual comprehensive review report include mail or email. The appeal request must be made using an PBP Provider Score Dispute Notification Form—available at

https://www.gascore.com/current_providers.cfm —and include any mitigating information related to the disputed annual comprehensive review report. The Provider must ensure a copy of all submitted documentation is maintained by the sender; no packets will be returned. Limit the number of pages submitted to 10 pages.

Mailing Address: Scorecard Appeals Coordinator

Department of Human Services, Office of General Counsel

47 Trinity Avenue SW Atlanta, GA 30334

Email Address: CWPscores@dhs.ga.gov

III. General Grievances/Constituent Complaints

A. General Grievances/Constituent Complaints Procedure

A grievance is any area of complaint that is outside the scope of specific PBP scoring results or annual comprehensive review results but related to administrative operations and the Provider's interface with the Department of Family and Children Services. All grievances should be documented on the PBP Provider Score Dispute Notification Form and submitted to OPM.

If the grievance is related to the interpretation of minimum standards, policy or contract deliverables, please be specific about the area in question.

OPM will acknowledge receipt of the grievance within 10 business days of its receipt and respond within 30 days.

B. General Grievances/Constituent Complaints Appeal Delivery Options

Acceptable methods of submitting a grievance include mail or email. The grievance must be made using an PBP Provider Score Dispute Notification Form—available at https://www.gascore.com/current_providers.cfm —and include any relevant documentation. The Provider must ensure a copy of all submitted documentation is maintained by the sender; no packets will be returned. Limit the number of pages submitted to 10 pages.

Mailing Address: DFCS Office of Provider Management

Attn: Tiffany Cutliff, Director

47 Trinity Avenue SW Atlanta, Georgia 30334

Email Address: opmleadership@dhs.ga.gov

Alternatively, grievances can always be submitted to DFCS Constituent Services within 30 days of the event if event specific. The DFCS - Constituent Services Unit contact information is:

Attn: Brooke Shaddix, Unit Manager

47 Trinity Avenue SW Atlanta, Georgia 30334 Brooke.Shaddix@dhs.ga.gov

Appendix F - OPM Staff Contact List

Name	Title	Office Number	Mobile Number	Email
Tiffany Cutliff	OPM Director	N/A	(229) 733-1110	tiffany.cutliff@dhs.ga.gov
Nancy Holden	Training and Curriculum Specialist	N/A	(470) 717-0536	nancy.holden@dhs.ga.gov
Whitney Stinson	Training and Curriculum Specialist	N/A	(404) 534-8328	whitney.stinson1@dhs.ga.gov
Andria Bolton	Provider Relations Manager	N/A	(404) 895-7135	andria.bolton@dhs.ga.gov
Brenda Jones	Operations Analyst	(404) 232-7860	(404) 596-3216	brenda.jones@dhs.ga.gov
Blake Boyer	Resource Developer	N/A	(706) 525-1130	blake.boyer@dhs.ga.gov
Angela Butts	Resource Developer	N/A	(470) 217-7631	Angela.butts@dhs.ga.gov
Tomeka Branscomb	Resource Developer	N/A	(404) 796-5053	tomeka.branscomb1@dhs.ga.gov
Azure McCollough	Resource Developer	N/A	(404) 357-3569	azure.mccollough@dhs.ga.gov
Amy Hill	Resource Developer	N/A	(478) 244-6379	amy.hill1@dhs.ga.gov
Shanise Wooten	Resource Developer	N/A	(404) 548-6756	shanise.wooten1@dhs.ga.gov

Raven Newton	Monitoring Team Manager (South)	N/A	(404) 561-9070	raven.newton@dhs.ga.gov
Samuel Pittman	Monitoring Team Manager (Metro)	N/A	(404) 354-2518	samuel.pittman@dhs.ga.gov
Derek Mouzon	Monitoring Team Manager (North)	N/A	(404) 387-0896	derek.mouzon@dhs.ga.gov
Kenya Farley	North Monitoring Specialist	N/A	(706) 977-5871	kenya.farley2@dhs.ga.gov
Vivian Mann	South Monitoring Specialist	N/A	(678-572-9519	Vivian.mann1@dhs.ga.gov
Lisa Brown	North Monitoring Specialist	N/A	(678) 603-3553	<u>lisa.brown2@dhs.ga.gov</u>
Keyauna Hopkins	South Monitoring Specialist	N/A	(478) 874-5201	Keyauna.hopkins@dhs.ga.gov
Codie Williams	Metro Monitoring Specialist	N/A	(470) 322-0591	Codie.williams@dhs.ga.gov
Barrett Askew	North Monitoring Specialist	N/A	(678) 516-3200	Barrett.askew@dhs.ga.gov
Juanitka Acree	South Monitoring Specialist	N/A	(404) 227-2977	juanitka.acree@dhs.ga.gov
Yuvondrea Tremble	Metro Monitoring Specialist	N/A	(678) 603-7496	Yuvondrea.tremble2@dhs.ga.gov
Harline Jean-Jacques	Metro Monitoring Specialist	N/A	(470) 389-0680	Harline.jean-jacques@dhs.ga.gov
Bianca McKenzie Vacant	Risk Management Specialist	N/A	(478) 214-4358	bianca.mckenzie@dhs.ga.gov
China Glaze	Metro Monitoring Specialist	N/A	(470) 597-5891	china.glaze@dhs.ga.gov
Channel Simon	South Monitoring Specialist	N/A	(706) 445-8505	channel.simon4@dhs.ga.gov
Sandra Washington	Risk Management Specialist	N/A	(404) 859-7072	Sandra.washington1@dhs.ga.gov

Appendix G -Care Coordination Treatment Unit (formerly PRO) Staff Contact List

Name	Title	Number	reatment Unit (formerly PRO) Sta Email	00
James Kizer	Director	404.387.1304		Assignment(s) NA
James Kizer	Director	404.387.1304	James.kizer@dhs.ga.gov	NA NA
Shirlyn	Program	NA	Shirlyn.george@dhs.ga.gov	NA
George	Assistant			
Hadley	Complex Care	470.484.1981	Hadley.white@dhs.ga.gov	R8 & R10
White				
	T		oral Support Specialists	
Becky Kane	Behavioral Support Supervisor	912.432.8782	Becky.kane@dhs.ga.gov	Placement Guidance, RBWO Program Designations and Specialty Waivers
Donna Wall	Behavioral Support Specialist	404.801.9961	Donna.wall@dhs.ga.gov	Triage
William	Behavioral	678.733.2089	William.wynn@dhs.ga.gov	R1 & R9
Wynn	Support Specialist			
Bridgett	Behavioral	404.821.9061	Bridgett.miller@dhs.ga.gov	R13 & R14
Miller	Support Specialist			
Brian	Behavioral	706.914.7913	Brian.hutchinson@dhs.ga.gov	R7 & R10
Hutchinson	Support Specialist			
Wendy	Behavioral	404.971.2676	Wendy.howard@dhs.ga.gov	R5 & R11
Howard	Support Specialist			
Elise Dale	Behavioral Support Specialist	404.938.4930	Elise.dale@dhs.ga.gov	R2 & R4
Lasheena	Behavioral	229.375.1549	Lasheena.littleton@dhs.ga.gov	R3 R12
Littleton	Support Specialist			
	The	erapeutic Suppo	ort Specialists (Care Coordination)	
Matashia	Therapeutic	404.276.6870	Matashia.collier2@dhs.ga.gov	Regions 3, 5, 9, 11 &
Collier	Support Supervisor/ Care Coordination			PRTFs
Latoya	Therapeutic	404.998.1146	Latoya.jackson@dhs.ga.gov	Lighthouse &
Jackson-	Support			Youth Villages
Evans	Specialist/Care Coordination			
Deshanda	Therapeutic	404.998.1244	Deshanda.dow-ester@dhs.ga.gov	Laurel Heights & Coastal
Dow-Ester	Support Specialist/Care Coordination	70 112 17	2 Samuel Carlonguigov	Harbor
Ann Levine	Therapeutic Support Specialist/Care	404.308.0414	Anne.levine@dhs.ga.gov	R3

470.633.5783	Kayla.farabauigh@dhs.ga.gov	R11
, 1.1222.3703		
678.266.8522	Monica.ellington@dhs.ga.gov	R5 & Devereux
470.633.5424	Alace.bentley2@dhs.ga.gov	R9
404.987.4910	Sandra.wimbush@dhs.ga.gov	Regions 1, 2, 4, 6,
		12 – 14 & CHOA
404 000 1102	A 1 1 🗇 11	DC 0 D12
404.998.1193	Assada.sanders@dns.ga.gov	R6 & R12
470 025 2250	N: 1 1 @ 41	D2 0 D1-f1
470.925.2259	<u>Ma.meadows1@dns.ga.gov</u>	R2 & Peachford
404 009 1210	Julia advianda@dha ga gay	R1 & CHOA
404.998.1219	Julie.edwards@dils.ga.gov	KI & CHOA
470 390 7233	Otis chandler@dhs ga gov	R4 & Hillside
T10.370.1433	Otto.chandici @ diio.ga.guv	NT & HIIISIGC
706.936.7915	Natalie.williams@dhs.ga.gov	Utilization Reviews
404.304.4495	Toneshia.webber@dhs.ga.gov	R7 & R14
470.715.6097	Reva.bowers@dhs.ga.gov	R13
	678.266.8522 470.633.5424 apeutic Suppo 404.987.4910 404.998.1193 470.925.2259 470.925.2259 470.390.7233 706.936.7915	470.633.5424 Alace.bentley2@dhs.ga.gov apeutic Support Specialists (Care Coordination) 404.987.4910 Sandra.wimbush@dhs.ga.gov 404.998.1193 Assada.sanders@dhs.ga.gov 470.925.2259 Nia.meadows1@dhs.ga.gov 404.998.1219 Julie.edwards@dhs.ga.gov 470.390.7233 Otis.chandler@dhs.ga.gov 706.936.7915 Natalie.williams@dhs.ga.gov

Appendix H - Independent Living Program (ILP) Staff Directory

Candis Jones, GA RYSE Chafee Director

candis.jones@dhs.ga.gov (404) 640-2611 (Mobile) Amanda Foster, Program Manager

Amanda.foster@dhs.ga.gov (470) 371-7570 (Mobile)

Jershaun Roberts, North District ILP Supervisor

<u>Jershaun.roberts@dhs.ga.gov</u> (404) 357-9132 (Mobile)

Andraelya Moody, South District ILP Supervisor

Andraelya.moody@dhs.ga.gov (470) 831-4808 (Mobile)

Antoine Roberson, Metro District ILP Supervisor

Antoine.roberson@dhs.ga.gov (404) 807-2274 (Mobile)

Devin Martin, ILP Credit Report Specialist

Devin.Martin@dhs.ga.gov (404) 772-2275 (Mobile)

Please visit www.garys-ilp.org to locate the Independent Living Specialist in your area.

Appendix I – The Office of the Child Advocate

Georgia's Office of Child Advocate 7 Martin Luther King Jr. Drive Suite 347 Atlanta, GA 30334

404-656-4200 404-656-5200 (fax)

https://oca.georgia.gov

Appendix J – DFCS Field Operations Directory

Please visit www.gascore.com for the most recently updated DFCS Field and County **Directories**

Region/ District	Counties	Regional Director	Administrative Assistant	Mailing Address	Contact Information
1/North	Catoosa, Chattooga, Cherokee, Dade, Fannin, Gilmer, Gordon, Murray, Pickens, Walker, Whitfield	Danny Nuckolls Danny.Nuckolls@dhs.ga.gov	Schoni Curl 706-264-8197	Murray County DFCS 830 G.I.Maddox Pkwy Chatsworth, GA 30705 P.O. Box 1044 Dalton, GA 30722	O) 706-517-0129 M) 706-581-0669 F) 877-697-2075
2/North	Banks, Dawson, Forsyth, Franklin, Habersham, Hall, Hart, Lumpkin, Rabun, Stephens, Towns, Union, White	Latisha Flesher Latisha.Flesher@dhs.ga.gov	Merissa Mashburn 404-984-9693	Hall County DFCS 970 McEver Road Ext. Gainesville, GA 30504	O) 770-532-5361 M) 470-248-6428 F) 678-222-4878
3/North	Bartow, Douglas, Floyd, Haralson, Paulding, Polk	Jennifer Brogdon <u>Jennifer.Brogdon@dhs.ga.g</u> <u>ov</u>	Shanita Wells 706-295-6193	Region 3 Field Office 450 Riverside Parkway, Suite 220 Rome, GA 30161	O) 706-295-6192 M) 706-889-4800 F) 706-314-7001
4/North	Butts, Carroll, Coweta, Fayette, Heard, Henry, Lamar, Meriwether, Pike, Spalding, Troup, Upson	Dawn Criss, Interim <u>Dawn.Criss@dhs.ga.gov</u>	Yvette Denson 404- 276-2020	Henry County DFCS 125 Henry Parkway, McDonough, GA 30253	O) 770.954.2326 M) 706-621-1505 F) 770-357-5744
5/North	Barrow, Clarke, Elbert, Greene, Jackson, Madison, Morgan, Newton, Oconee, Oglethorpe, Rockdale, Walton	Dawn Criss <u>Dawn.Criss@dhs.ga.gov</u>	Rebecca Clack 404-433-9773	Barrow County DFCS 63 Lays Dr. Suite 200 Winder, GA 30680	O) 706-310-3446 M) 706-621-1505
6/South	Baldwin, Bibb, Crawford, Houston, Jasper, Jones, Monroe, Peach, Putnam, Twiggs, Wilkinson	Shay Thornton Shay.Thornton@dhs.ga.gov	Natalie Bagley 706-302-7607	Crawford County DFCS 360 N. Dugger Ave. P.O. Box 97 Roberta Ga. 31078	O) 478-751-3039 M) 404-387-1448 F) 478-314-9892
7/South	Burke, Columbia, Glascock, Hancock, Jefferson,	Kelly Beasley Kelly.Beasley@dhs.ga.gov	Sylvia Rucker 706-401-0689	Wilkes County DFCS 48 Lexington Avenue Washington, GA 30673	O) 706-678-4591 M) 706-621-1430 F) 706-678-5325

	Jenkins, Lincoln, McDuffie, Richmond, Screven, Taliaferro, Warren, Washington, Wilkes				
8/South	Chattahoochee , Clay, Crisp, Dooly, Harris, Macon, Marion, Muscogee, Quitman, Randolph, Schley, Stewart, Sumter, Talbot, Taylor, Webster	Shannon Fields Shannon.Fields@dhs.ga.gov	Kimberly Watts 229-931-2512	Region 8 Field Office 1601 N. MLK Jr. Blvd Suite 120 Americus, GA 31719	O) 229-931-2512 M) 478-319-7328 F) 229-931-2428
9/South	Appling, Bleckley, Candler, Dodge, Emanuel, Evans, Jeff Davis, Johnson, Laurens, Montgomery, Pulaski, Tattnall, Telfair, Toombs, Treutlen, Wayne, Wheeler, Wilcox	Shay Thornton, Interim Shay.Thornton@dhs.ga.gov	Tina Moore 229-406-4886	Region 9 Field Office Wilcox County DFCS 453 Second Avenue PO Box 246 Rochelle, GA 31079	O) 229-406-4886 M) 404-387-1448 F) 229-365-2575
10/South	Baker, Calhoun, Colquitt, Decatur, Dougherty, Early, Grady, Lee, Miller, Mitchell, Seminole, Terrell, Thomas, Worth	Kimberly Denson Kimberly.Denson@dhs.ga.go <u>Y</u>	Cindy Wortham 229-584-0756	Thomas County DFCS 460 Smith Avenue Thomasville, GA 31792	M) 478-297-9949 F) 229-931-2428

Region/ District	Counties	Regional Director	Administrative Assistant	Mailing Address	Contact Information
11/South	Atkinson, Bacon, Ben Hill, Berrien, Brantley, Brooks, Charlton, Clinch, Coffee, Cook, Echols, Irwin, Lanier, Lowndes, Pierce, Tift, Turner, Ware	Rhonda Wheeler Rhonda.Wheeler@dhs.ga.g <u>ov</u>	Pearl Fore 229-326-2145	Tift County DFCS 410 West 2 nd Street Tifton, GA 31794	O) 229-386-3089 M) 229-356-2951 F) 229-386-7035
12/South	Bryan, Bulloch, Camden, Chatham,	Shelia Dease-Dinkins Shelia.Dease-	Larreka Woodgett 912- 655-1425	Glynn County DFCS 823 Scranton Road	O) 912-280-6856 M) 912-324-9732

	Effingham, Glynn, Liberty,	<u>Dinkins@dhs.ga.gov</u>		P.O. Box 1535 Brunswick, GA 31521	F) 912-544-9137
13/Metro	Clayton, Cobb, Gwinnett	Holly Campolong Holly.Campolong@dhs.ga.g ov	Jennifer Chambers 470-720-8588	Gwinnett County DFCS 95 Constitution Blvd. Lawrenceville GA 30046	O) 470-720-8588 M) 706-621-2184
14/Metro	DeKalb, Fulton	Kristen Toliver Kristen.Toliver@dhs.ga.gov	Shemik Barber 678-215-1385	Fulton County DFCS 1249 Donald Lee Hollowell Pkwy. NW, Floor 3 Atlanta, GA 30318	O) 404-206-5670 M) 678-727-3172

Regions 1-5	North District Director	Assistant	Address	Phones/Fax
	Ashley Parham <u>Ashley.Parham@</u> <u>dhs.ga.gov</u>	Bridget VanMeter 706-517-0219	Whitfield County DFCS 1142 N. Thornton Ave. P.O. Box 1044 Dalton, GA 30722	O) 706-517-0219 M) 706-618-1840 F) 877-697-2075
Regions 6-12	South District Director	Assistant	Address	Phones/Fax
	LaCharn Dennard LaCharn.Dennar d@dhs.ga.gov	Bradley Jackson 478-214-4834	Houston Co DFCS 92 Cohen Walker Drive Warner Robins, GA 31088	O)478-214-4834 M) 478-957-4403 F) 478-993-3035
Regions 13-14	Metro District Director	Assistant	Address	Phones/Fax
	James Binnicker <u>James Binnicker</u> <u>@dhs.ga.gov</u>	Wendy Clement 423-443-9323	Walker Co DFCS 10056 N Hwy 27 Rock Spring, GA 30739	O) 423-443-9323 M) 678-918-0911
CICC, SIU, Emerge ncy Mgmt.	Special Operations Director	Assistant	Address	Phones/Fax
	Marva Reed Marva.Reed@dh s.ga.gov	Crystal Massey 706-330-7586	1160 W. Parker St. Baxley, GA 31513	O) 706-649-7474 M) 404-291-3341 F) 706-256-7377

Deputy Commissioner, Child Welfare	Assistant	Address	Contact
Mary Havick Mary.Havick@dhs.ga.gov	Star Allen 770-207-4191	300 Georgia Ave P.O. Box 927 Monroe, GA 30655	O) 770-207-4191 M) 706-248-9777
Field Operations Planning & Performance Coordinator	Assistant	Address	Contact
Shannon Stokes Shannon.Stokes@dhs.ga.gov		456 Oglethorpe St. Macon, GA 31201	O) 478-751-3111 M) 478-319-6880
Assistant Deputy Commissioner, Child Welfare	Assistant	Address	Contact
Lon Roberts Lon.Roberts@dhs.ga.gov		8473 Duralee Lane Suite 100 Douglasville, GA 31034	M) 404-217-6603

Appendix K- FY 2024 RBWO Minimum Standards Change Guide

The following list indicates standards that are new or revised in the FY 2024 Minimum Standards. Every effort has been made to ensure that all changes have been included in this list; however, this list should only be considered as a helpful guide. Providers should review the entire document for changes. An asterisk (*) denotes a newly created Standard.

- 1.3
- 1.9
- 1.20
- 2.1
- 2.13
- 2.19
- 6.0
- 6.5
- 6.6
- 6.22
- 6.24
- 6.27
- 9.2
- 10.2
- 11.3 11.4
- 11.4
- 11.15a
- 11.23
- 11.35
- 13.23
- 13.29
- 13.33
- 13.42
- 18.4
- 32.2 40.2

Appendix L - Infant Safe Sleeping Guidelines and Protocol

Georgia Division of Family and Children **Services**

Infant Safe to Sleep Guidelines and **Protocol**





Table of Contents

Definitions	124
Purpose	124
Introduction	125
Infant Safe to Sleep Practices	126
Practice Guidance	128
Other Recommendations for Infant Well-being	131
What Does a Safe Sleep Environment Look Like?	132
Safe Sleeping Practices in Group Settings	132
Links to Useful Resources	133
References	133

Definitions

AAP - American Academy of Pediatrics

Caregiver - This term is used to refer any person providing care, watchful oversight and supervision of a child (e.g., parent, guardian, relative, foster parent, child care provider, baby-sitter, etc.).

DFCS - Georgia Division of Family and Children Services

Infant - This term is used to refer to any child under the age of 12 months.

Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (**SIDS**) ¹ is a cause assigned to infant deaths that cannot be explained after a thorough investigation, including a scene investigation, autopsy and review of the clinical history.

Sudden Unexpected Infant Death (SUID)², also known as sudden unexpected death in infancy, is a term used to describe any sudden and unexpected death, whether explained or unexplained (including SIDS), that occurs in infancy.

Swaddling - This term refers to the practice of wrapping an infant firmly in clothing, a blanket, etc. in such a manner that the infant is bound and unable to room-share and co-sleep.

Co-Sleeping - There are two main types of co-sleeping - room-sharing and bed-sharing:

Bed-sharing or surface-sharing - where the child shares the same sleep surface (adult bed, couch, chair, etc.) with another child or an adult. It is associated with a higher risk of suffocation, entrapment, other sleep-related injuries and death. It is not recommended.

Room-sharing - where a child is provided his or her own separate sleep space within the same room as the caregivers, within sensory distance of each other, but not on the same sleep surface. Room-sharing is useful for promoting breastfeeding and is associated with a reduced risk of sleep-related death.

Positional Plagiocephaly (also known as "flat head syndrome") - The most common cause of a flattened head is a baby's sleep position. Because infants sleep for so many hours on their backs, the head sometimes flattens in one spot. Placing babies in devices where they lie down often during the day (e.g., infant car seats, carriers, strollers, swings, bouncy seats, etc.) also adds to this condition.

Purpose

The purpose of this protocol is to increase the awareness of infants sleeping safely according to the recommendations provide by the American Academy of Pediatrics. Training and use of the recommendations will assist with preventing the occurrence of sleep-related infant deaths, provide written practice guidance on caregiver education and infant sleep related death

prevention efforts to DFCS staff including both direct and non-direct services staff and contractors and providers.

Introduction

According to the Georgia Child Fatality Review Panel, sleep-related deaths have been the leading cause of preventable infant deaths for the past four years within the state of Georgia. From 2009 to 2013, there were **929** infant sleep-related deaths reported to Georgia the Child Fatality Review Panel. The average is **154** infant deaths each year, an average of **3** infant deaths per week due to sleep-related causes alone.

There are many conditions and practices related to sleeping that are dangerous and have been associated with fatalities of infants, either from SIDS (Sudden Infant Death Syndrome) or SUID (Sudden Unexplained Infant Death). Unsafe sleeping practices may include:

- Wedging Where an infant's face when sleeping is wedged between two adjacent surfaces, such as on a couch, chair, or bed with a headboard or in a crib in which there are spaces between the mattress and frame.
- **Soft Surfaces** Placing the infant to sleep on a soft surface or with soft bedding (such as pillows, blankets and crib bumpers) or soft objects (such as stuffed animals) or using an infant positioner. This includes placing an infant on a bed or crib with a soft mattress and, especially, on a couch, armchair, cushion, waterbed, etc.
- Sleep Position Placing an infant to sleep in any position other than on the back.
- Overheating Allowing an infant to get too hot because of high room temperature (the temperature should be comfortable for a lightly clothed adult) or overdressing.
- Smoking Smoking in a room where an infant sleep, or maternal smoking during or after pregnancy.
- **Bed-sharing** An infant and one or more adults or children sleeping together on any surface, not necessarily a bed; bed-sharing also refers to an infant and another person sharing a surface such as a couch, chair or futon while sleeping.

Distinguishing between the types of sleep-related deaths (SIDS and SUID) can be somewhat challenging. Since the risk factors for both are very similar, it is imperative that caregivers learn and apply safe infant sleeping practices that may reduce the risk of both SIDS and

SUID. To promote safe sleeping practices for infants, the Division of Family and Children Services (DFCS) has collaborated with the Division of Public Health and the Georgia Child Fatality Review Panel to actively engage in efforts to reduce sleep-related deaths to infants. DFCS will utilize the recommendations as provided by the American Academy of Pediatrics (October 2011).

The DFCS Infant Safe to Sleep Guidelines and Protocol will focus on the issue of prevention, with recognition that unsafe sleeping conditions may occur anywhere in the range of child welfare cases: child protective services, preventive services, foster care, financial

independence or adoptive placements; therefore, this protocol applies to all categories of child welfare work. By providing parents and caregivers with information on infant safe to sleep environments, DFCS staff members can enable them to make informed choices concerning their children's sleep environments.

Infant Safe to Sleep Practices

The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) Task Force on Sudden Infant Death expanded its recommendations on the promotion of safe sleep environments in October of 2011. The three primary safe sleep recommendations are as follows:

Alone - Room-sharing without bed-sharing is recommended

Back - Back to sleep for every sleep

Crib - In a sleep setting such as a crib, to include a firm sleep surface, without soft objects, toys or stuffed animals and loose bedding.



For purposes of this protocol, details regarding the AAP recommendations and guidance when discussing infant safe to sleep practices with caregivers are as follows:

- 1. Back to sleep for every sleep. Place infants on their backs for every nap or sleep time, unless the infant's primary care physician provides a written statement indicating that the infant requires an alternate sleeping position. The written statement must include instructions for how the infant shall be placed to sleep and the timeframe for which the instructions are to be followed.
- 2. Use a **firm sleep surface**. Examples include a firm crib mattress covered by a tightly fitted sheet or a safety approved bassinet with a tightly fitted sheet.
 - a. Use only a crib, bassinette or portable crib/play yard that conforms to the safety standards of the Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC) and ASTM International (formerly the American Society for Testing and Materials) safety standards. Ensure the product is maintained in good repair and is free from hazards or recalls.
 - b. Move infants who fall asleep on the floor or elsewhere (e.g., carrier, car seat, swing, stroller, chair, highchair, etc.) to a safety- approved sleep surface for sleep as soon as possible.

- c. Allow only one infant at a time to sleep in a crib.
- 3. Room-sharing without bed-sharing is recommended. Sharing the same room with an infant provides the opportunity for a caregiver to remain in close proximity of the infant while also providing a firm, safe sleep environment for the child. Bed-sharing and other same surface-sharing of any kind is not recommended, especially during the first four to six months. Infants should not sleep in an adult bed, on a couch, in a chair or in any other adult sleep place alone or with another person including another child.
- 4. **Keep soft objects and loose bedding out of the crib.** Place no objects in or on a crib with a sleeping infant. This includes, but is not limited to, covers, blankets, toys, pillows, quilts, comforters, bumper pads, sheepskins, stuffed toys (or other soft items), crib gyms, mirrors, or mobiles. Make sure nothing covers the infant's head. Ensure all bibs, necklaces and garments with ties or hoods are removed from a sleeping infant. Dress the baby in sleep attire not requiring blankets or covers such as using a sleep sack (see additional information below).
- 5. Pregnant women should receive regular prenatal care.
- 6. **Avoid smoke exposure during pregnancy and after birth**. Always place the crib in an area that is smoke-free.
- 7. Avoid alcohol and illicit drug use during pregnancy and after birth.
- 8. **Breastfeeding is recommended**. Breastfeeding is considered a protective factor against SIDS and is recommended for at least the first six months of infant life.
- 9. Consider offering a pacifier at nap time and bedtime (after breastfeeding is established). At sleep time, only offer an infant a clean, dry pacifier that does not attach to the infant's clothing. Attaching mechanisms such as cords and strings pose a strangulation risk. The pacifier does not need to be reinserted once the infant falls asleep. If an infant refuse the pacifier, do not force him or her to take it. If you are breastfeeding, wait until your baby is used to breastfeeding before trying a pacifier.
- 10. Avoid overheating the infant. For an infant's warmth and comfort, use only sleepers, sleep sacks and wearable blankets that fit according to the commercial manufacturer's guidelines and will not slip up around the infant's face. Avoid overheating and overdressing the infant throughout the day as well as the night. Infants typically only need one more layer of clothing than an adult would need in order to be comfortable. There is not enough conclusive evidence to recommend for or against swaddling; however, if parents swaddle their infant, they should be advised of the proper method, continue to avoid overheating and should typically discontinue the practice no later than 3 to 4 months of age.

11. Do not use home cardiorespiratory monitors as a strategy for reducing the risk of SIDS. Do not use home heart or breathing monitors or infant positioning devices (i.e., wedges) unless the infant's primary care physician provides a written statement authorizing such use. The written statement must include instructions on how to use the device and a timeframe for use.

Practice Guidance for Direct Services Staff and Non-Direct Services Staff

Direct services and non-direct services staff within the Division of Family and Children's Services have significant opportunities to interact and provide education and awareness with current and prospective parents and caregivers on infant safe to sleep practices. It should be

noted that parents are not the only people to receive guidance on safe to sleep practices because infants are often cared for by other caregivers such as family members and friends as well. Therefore, it is necessary that **all infant caregivers** are aware of the safe sleep recommendations and follow the parents' decisions regarding safe sleep for their

child. The following steps will assist you when discussing infant safe to sleep strategies with families:

Step 1: Understand why some parents may not follow the recommendations

Understanding the parent's/caregiver's behaviors and knowledge and the barriers for either following or not following the recommendations is critical to addressing this issue. Case study demonstration: "In the case of a 3-month-old boy found dead while sleeping alone in an adult bed, despite a bassinet noted in the same room, his father had surrounded him with pillows to prevent him from rolling.

Moreover, he was placed in prone position, and it was noted that the father had "placed baby on stomach because he had just fed him and 'he did not want the baby to spit up and choke' if he placed him face up."

(Hackett et al., 2014)

In the instance of the case study as noted above, the father was trying to protect his child. The pillows, however, caused an unsafe situation due to the possibility of suffocation. Laying the baby on his stomach and on an adult bed added additional risks. It is also common for caregivers to lay their baby back to sleep and in a crib only at nighttime. The baby is frequently laid on other surfaces for naptime, and often, due to the perception of better comfort, the baby is laid on his stomach. Caregivers should be reminded that it is back to sleep for every sleep.

The chart below helps to conceptualize some of the reasons parents and caregivers choose unsafe sleep behaviors that do not follow the AAP recommendations.

Behaviors & Knowledge SITUATIONAL CARE PREFERENCE Convenient for breastfeeding Infant "doesn't like" the crib Fear of "crib death" Excess bedding & positioners to "protect" infant in bed

A parent's/caregiver's behavior is influenced by his or her knowledge but also by other factors, including situational care, preference, and safety misconceptions, which are all of value when discussing safe to sleep practices. Parents or caregivers would like to be treated as if they are capable of making appropriate decisions regarding their child especially with an issue such as sleep. The recommendations are not mandated, but are suggested and recommended, and ultimately remain entirely the choice of the parent/caregiver.

Acknowledging their fears and misconceptions allows the parents/caregivers to understand the situation which then helps to empower them in making healthy decisions for their child (ren).

Another area of importance to remind parents/caregivers is that the recommendations are not necessarily forever. The most vital time for vigilance is the first four to six months. Once an infant is able to roll over back to front and front to back, studies show that there is no need to reposition the baby. Additionally, the majority of SIDS/SUIDS deaths occur in infants under 6 months.

Step 2: Increase your awareness

Become familiar with the current AAP recommendations (listed above) and infant safe sleeping practices before engaging caregivers. Understand how to explain the recommendations to parents and caregivers in a manner that promotes acceptance of protective behaviors by completing the following:

- 1. Participate in training as provided by the DFCS Education and Training website on Safe to Sleep for Infants.
- 2. Review available materials for additional educational information (e.g., brochures and websites such as the National Institute of Child and Health Development website at http://www.nichd.nih.gov/sts/materials/Pages/default.aspx.)

3. Learn about local resources to assist parents/caregivers with newborn care (e.g., parenting classes, crib distribution, etc.)

Step 3: Share what you have learned

- 1. Discuss safe infant sleep practices with parents/caregivers during all contacts of a parent/caregiver of a child under the age of 1 with the agency (e.g., direct services staff during home visits, etc. and Office of Family Independent staff (OFI) during applications, renewals, etc.).
 - a. Respectfully engage parents/caregivers in a conversation about the connection between sleeping practices and sleep-related infant death.
 - b. Share videos and written material on the subject of safe infant sleep practices and how they help reduce SIDS and SUID.
- 2. Refresh the parent's/caregivers' memory of safe to sleep practices during any interaction to promote retention.
- 3. Ask parents/caregivers to describe specific steps they will take (starting today) to create a safe sleeping environment for their infant(s).
- 4. Ask parents/caregivers if any assistance or resources are needed to implement their plan of action.
- 5. Provide caregivers with links to community and national resources that may provide helpful information and support (e.g., Department of Public Health's Safe Sleep Liaison or Child Injury Prevention Program, DFCS Safe Sleep Liaison, Department of Early Care and Learning for child care and safe care for home visitation services, etc.).
- 6. Advise parents/caregivers to ensure that everyone who cares for their infant is aware of safe to sleep practices for infants and is committed to following them during all sleep times.
- 7. Discuss any issues or concerns regarding parent/caregiver responses with a supervisor to determine the appropriate intervention.

Step 4: Document and monitor how parents/caregivers respond

Social Services, Direct Services Staff:

- 1. Document in the case record when and where discussions regarding safe infant sleep practices are conducted.
- 2. Document in the case record how the parents/caregivers respond to the information shared, including but not limited to:

- a. The parent's/caregiver's prior knowledge of safe infant sleep practices;
- b. Expressions or signs of disagreement with any of the recommendations for creating a safe sleep environment for their infant(s);
- c. The parent's/caregiver's willingness to implement any of the infant safe to sleep recommendations; and
- d. Are the parents/caregivers able to demonstrate an understanding of the recommendations by being able to explain how each recommendation supports a safe sleeping environment for their infant?
- 3. Discuss any issues or concerns regarding parent/caregiver responses with a supervisor to determine the appropriate intervention.

Step 5: Other recommendations to share on infant well-being to share with caretakers:

Social Services, Direct Services Staff and Non-Direct Services Staff:

- 1. Place infants on their stomachs when they are awake and being supervised. This helps the infant's head, neck and shoulder muscles become stronger and helps prevent Positional Plagiocephaly or flat spots from developing on the infant's head.
- 2. Monitor recommended immunizations which may help protect against sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS).
- 3. Smoking should not occur by anyone near an infant.
- 4. Support parents who want to breastfeed or feed their children breast milk.
- 5. Have a plan to respond if there is an infant medical emergency.

What Does a Safe Sleep Environment Look Like?



Source: http://www.nichd.nih.gov/sts/about/environment/Pages/look.aspx

Safe Sleeping Practices in Group Settings

The aforementioned infant safe to sleep practices are universal and may be applied in any setting. However, there are specific guidelines that are applicable in group settings such Family Child Care and Group Child Care centers. Below are links to access the specific guidelines for these types of licensed facilities and the page number on which the Safe Infant Sleep and Resting Requirements begin.

- Family Day Care Home
 - http://www.decal.ga.gov/documents/attachments/FDCHRulesAndRegulations.pdf
- Group Day Care Home
 http://www.decal.ga.gov/documents/attachments/GDCHRulesandRegulations.pdf

Links to Useful Resources

For more information about the prevention of sleep related deaths, please visit the following websites:

- Division of Family and Children Services http://dph.georgia.gov/safetosleep
- Department of Public Health http://dph.georgia.gov/safetosleep
- The U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission: http://www.cpsc.gov/en/Safety-Education/Safety-Guides/Kids-and-Babies/Cribs/
- American Academy of Pediatrics: http://www.aappolicy.org
- 2011 AAP Expanded Recommendations: www.pediatrics.org/cgi/doi/10.1542/peds.2011-2284
- Georgia Department of Early Care & Learning (DECAL): http://www.decal.ga.gov/
- Georgia Department of Public Health (DPH): http://dph.georgia.gov/safetosleep
- National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD) Safe to Sleep Campaign: http://www.nichd.nih.gov/sts/Pages/default.aspx

References

- Willinger, M., James, L.S., & Catz, C. (1991). Defining the sudden Infant death syndrome (SIDS): deliberations of an expert panel convened by the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. *Pediatr Pathol*, 11(5), 677-684.
- SIDS and Other Sleep-Related Infant Deaths: Expansion of Recommendations for a Safe Infant Sleeping Environment. Task Force on Sudden Infant Death Syndrome. *Pediatrics*.
 Originally published online October 17, 2011. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2011-2284. Retrieved March 10, 2015, from http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/128/5/e1341.full
- New York State Office of Children and Family Services; Administrative Directive Safe Sleeping of Children in Child Welfare Cases, February 2013.
- Moon, R., & Fu, L. (2012). Sudden Infant Death Syndrome: An Update=.*Pediatrics in Review*, *33*, 314-314.
- Mosley, J., Stokes, S., & Ulmer, A. (2007). Infant Sleep Position: Discerning Knowledge From Practice. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 31(6), 573-582.
- Moro reflex. (2013). Retrieved from http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/003293.htm
- Ostfeld, B., Esposito, L., Perl, H., & Hegyi, T. (2010). Concurrent Risks In Sudden Infant Death Syndrome. *Pediatrics*, 125, 447-453.

Appendix M - Staff Training Recommendations

GA+Score options based on availability: ECEM, etc.

- Appropriate staff/child relationships
- What is Safe Sleep for Babies? (DFCS Webinar)

CPR/First Aid

IMPACT Pre-Service Training (new staff attend along with foster parents)

Foster Parent Manual Training (including RPPS)

Mindset Training Curriculum for Principles and Communication

Trauma 101 & Brain Development 101 (free – CWCT) https://georgiacenterforchildadvocacyorg.presencehost.net/learn-more/attend-training.html

Parent to Parent – Free topics on Education/IEP training http://p2pga.org/index.php/education/training-topics

Medical trainings: G-Tube feeding, Trach & Vent, Oxygen, etc. and both Marcus Center & CHOA have great low cost options

https://www.choa.org/medical-professionals/professional-events/2017-rehab-education-day http://www.marcus.org/workshops

GALAA Conference on adoption offered annually every Feb

- Staff Boundaries
- Knowledge of adolescents and adolescent development
- Development of engagement skills
- Sexuality and pregnancy of adolescent females
- Accessing community resources
- Infant safe sleeping guidelines
- Competency with culturally diverse populations
- Conflict resolution and de-escalation
- Motor vehicle "Hot Car" Safety (Reference DFCS Policy 10.1)
- Transformational Relationships: http://www.cssp.org/pages/body/Transformational-Relationships-for-Youth-Success-Report.pdf
- Safe Home environments for children: https://www.healthychildren.org/English/safety-prevention/at-home/Pages/Childproofing-Your-Home.aspx

Appendix N - Sexual Harassment

POLICY



MEMORANDUM

SUBJECT: Statewide Sexual Harassment Prevention Policy EFFECTIVE: March 1, 2019

ISSUED BY: DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
OFFICE OF THE STATE INSPECTOR GENERAL

I. Introduction

While there are multiple types of workplace harassment, as Executive Order 01.14.19.02 recognizes, incidents of sexual harassment present unique challenges which warrant special emphasis and the implementation of a particularized approach to the prevention, detection and elimination of sexual harassment from the State workplace.

II. Purpose

The State of Georgia promotes respect and dignity and does not tolerate sexual harassment in the workplace. The State is committed to providing a workplace and environment free from sexual harassment for its employees and for all persons who interact with state government. All State of Georgia employees are expected and required to interact with all persons including other employees, contractors, and customers in a professional manner that contributes to a respectful work environment free from sexual harassment.

This Policy is intended to set standards for Executive Branch agencies and employees in furtherance of this commitment and to protect individuals from sexual harassment and retaliation.

III. Authority

Executive Order 01.14.19.02 directs the Georgia Department of Administrative Services Human Resources Administration Division (HRA), in consultation with the Executive Counsel to the Governor, to promulgate a uniform sexual harassment prevention policy that shall apply to all Executive Branch agencies.

In addition, pursuant to O.C.G.A § 45-20-4, the Georgia Department of Administrative Services is responsible for ensuring compliance with all applicable federal and state statutes and regulations concerning personnel administration and related matters. This includes, but is not limited to, the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, U.S. Const. amend. XIV., the Equal Protection Clause of the Georgia Constitution, Ga. Const. Art. 1, Sec. I, Para. II., Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e, et seq., and the Fair

Page 1 of 7

Employment Practices Act of 1978, O.C.G.A §§ 45-19-20, et seq., which prohibit employment discrimination and harassment on the basis of sex.

IV. Applicability

The provisions of this Policy apply to all Executive Branch agencies. This Policy does not apply to the Board of Regents of the University System of Georgia, the Legislative Branch, or the Judicial Branch.

V. Definitions

For purposes of this Policy, the following definitions apply:

- (a) "Agency" or "Agencies" means any Executive Branch agency, authority, board, bureau, commission, council, department, office, unit, entity, or instrumentality of any kind, and others as may be designated by the Governor, or to the extent that such designation does not conflict with state law.
- (b) "Employee" is a person who is hired to provide services to the State on a regular basis in exchange for compensation and who does not provide these services as part of an independent business. "Covered Employee" is a person who is hired to provide services to an Agency on a regular basis in exchange for compensation and who does not provide these services as part of an independent business.
- (c) "Investigator" is a person designated by his or her Agency head to conduct investigations related to sexual harassment complaints or reports.
- (d) "Retaliation" is an act or omission intended to, or having the reasonably foreseeable effect of, punishing or otherwise negatively impacting an individual for submitting (or assisting with submitting) a complaint of or reporting sexual harassment, for participating in a sexual harassment investigation or proceeding, or for otherwise opposing sexual harassment.
- (e) "Sexual harassment" is physical, verbal, or non-verbal/visual conduct that is either (i) directed toward an individual or (ii) reasonably offensive to an individual because of his or her sex. Therefore, for purpose of this Policy, "Sexual harassment" includes physical, verbal, or non-verbal/visual conduct constituting:
 - Unwanted sexual attention, sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, sexually explicit comments, and other conduct of an expressed or obviously implied sexual nature, by an individual who knows, or reasonably should know, that such conduct is unwanted and offensive; and

Page 2 of 7

 Conduct that is hostile, threatening, derogatory, demeaning, or abusive or intended to insult, embarrass, belittle, or humiliate an individual because of his or her sex – regardless of whether the underlying reason for the conduct is apparent.

This Policy purposefully prohibits all sexual harassment and is not limited to conduct that would rise to the level of unlawful conduct under state or federal anti-harassment laws.

(f) "Supervisor" or "Manager" is a Covered Employee who has the authority to oversee, hire, fire, demote, or to effectively recommend hiring, firing, or demotion, or to make or effectively recommend other material changes to the working conditions of at least one employee.

VI. Prohibited Conduct

- (a) All Covered Employees are strictly prohibited from engaging in sexual harassment as defined herein. This prohibition applies to conduct occurring in or otherwise affecting the workplace. As such, it includes conduct occurring both on and off the work premises and during or outside of work hours. While sexual harassment encompasses a wide range of conduct, some examples of conduct specifically prohibited by this Policy include, but are not limited to:
 - Denying (directly or indirectly) an employment benefit or employment-related opportunity to an employee for refusing to comply with a sexually-oriented request;
 - Threatening (directly or indirectly) to deny an employment benefit or an employment-related opportunity to an employee for refusing to comply with a sexually-oriented request;
 - Providing or promising (directly or indirectly) to provide an employment benefit
 or employment-related opportunity to an employee in exchange for complying
 with a sexually-oriented request;
 - 4. Engaging in sexually-explicit or suggestive physical contact, including touching another employee in a way that is unwelcome or restricting an employee's movement;
 - Displaying or transmitting pornographic or sexually-oriented materials (such as photographs, posters, cartoons, drawings, or other images) or storing or accessing such materials on State-owned equipment for personal use or consumption;
 - 6. Engaging in indecent exposure;
 - 7. Making obscene gestures (i.e., hand or bodily gestures);
 - 8. Making romantic advances and persisting despite rejection of the advances;
 - Using sexually-oriented language or making sexually-related propositions, jokes, or remarks, including graphic verbal commentary about an individual's body or clothing; and,

Page **3** of **7**

- Sending sexually suggestive or obscene messages by mail, in person, by telephone, or by electronic communication.
- (b) Agencies and Covered Employees are further prohibited from engaging in retaliation against an employee for submitting (or assisting with submitting) a complaint of or reporting sexual harassment, for participating in a sexual harassment investigation or proceeding, or for otherwise opposing sexual harassment.
- (c) A Covered Employee found to have engaged in sexual harassment and/or retaliation in violation of this Policy will be subject to corrective and/or disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.
- (d) A third party found to have engaged in sexual harassment and/or retaliation may be subject to appropriate corrective action. Such action may include, but is not limited to, termination of contract, removal from Agency premises, restricted access to Agency premises and/or personnel, or notification to the third party's employer.
- (e) Agencies shall immediately refer any reported criminal conduct the appropriate law enforcement agency. Such referral shall not prohibit an Agency from pursing its own investigation of the complaint or report. If criminal activity is suspected the Agency shall confer with the Office of the State Inspector General (OIG) regarding how to proceed with the Agency investigation.

VII. Training

- (a) Agencies shall require all Covered Employees, including part-time, temporary, seasonal employees, and independent contractors who are regularly on Agency premises and/or regularly interact with Agency personnel to complete employee sexual harassment prevention training on an annual basis. An independent contractor may waive state-mandated training upon acknowledgement of this Policy and documentation that he/she has completed sexual harassment prevention training offered by his/her employer within the last year.
- (b) Agencies shall provide sexual harassment prevention training to all new or transferred Covered Employees within thirty (30) calendar days of hire.
- (c) Agencies shall require sexual harassment prevention training for supervisors and managers on an annual basis. New supervisors and managers must complete this training within thirty (30) calendar days of employment or promotion to a supervisory or managerial position.
- (d) Agencies shall utilize the standardized training provided by HRA to fulfill the obligations under this Policy for employee and manager training.

Page 4 of 7

RBWO Minimum Standards: FY 2024 OPM

(e) Agencies shall track and maintain records pursuant to the statewide record retention schedule documenting attendance of employee and manager training. Such records are subject to audit by the OIG.

(f) Agencies shall require designated investigators (see Section IX. Investigations) to complete statewide investigator training provided by the OIG to ensure consistency in sexual harassment investigations across the State. Agencies shall require designated investigators to complete the statewide training within thirty (30) calendar days of the effective date of this Policy. Designated investigators appointed subsequent to the effective date of this Policy shall complete such training as soon as practicable.

VIII. Complaint Procedure

- (a) Covered Employees who believe they have been subjected to sexual harassment or retaliation in violation of this Policy are strongly encouraged to promptly submit a complaint regarding the incident(s) to one of the following officials:
 - 1. The Covered Employee's supervisor or manager;
 - 2. The Covered Employee's division director;
 - 3. The Agency's Human Resources Director; or,
 - 4. Other Agency designee.
- (b) Covered Employees who have witnessed or otherwise have reason to believe that another employee is being or has been subjected to sexual harassment or retaliation shall promptly report the same to one of the Agency officials listed above.
- (c) To the extent that any of the above officials are the alleged harasser or retaliator, or if a Covered Employee has a reasonable fear of retaliation by one of the above officials, a Covered Employee may submit a complaint or report of sexual harassment or retaliation directly to the OIG.
- (d) While written complaints and reports of sexual harassment or retaliation are preferred, Agencies shall accept all complaints and reports, whether written, verbal, or anonymous, and will ensure that each complaint or report is promptly and appropriately investigated and resolved.
- (e) Agencies shall review all complaints and reports of sexual harassment and retaliation they receive and shall notify the OIG of the same within two (2) business days of receipt.

IX. Investigations

Page 5 of 7

- (a) Each Agency shall designate at least two of its employees, not of the same gender, to conduct investigations under this Policy. Agencies must ensure that employees directly supervised by designated investigators have the ability to submit complaints or reports of sexual harassment to an individual other than their direct supervisor or manager.
- (b) Agencies shall report to the OIG the names and contact information for the designated investigators and a HR contact via the OIG's online portal within seven (7) business days of the effective date of this Policy. Should a vacancy in an investigator or HR contact role occur, a replacement shall be designated and reported to the OIG within seven (7) business days of the vacancy via the OIG online portal.
- (c) Agencies shall cooperate with any determination by the OIG that a complaint or report cannot be handled internally at the Agency from which it originated. Agencies shall cooperate fully with the impartial investigator assigned by the OIG to handle the complaint or report.
- (d) The assigned investigator shall complete the investigation and issue a report of findings as promptly as possible but at least within forty-five (45) calendar days of assignment. An Agency Head may consider an extension of time due to extenuating circumstances.

X. Resolution

- (a) Agencies shall make a final determination, and if necessary, implement appropriate corrective or disciplinary action and remedial measures depending upon the nature of the policy violation, as soon as possible but in no event more than twenty-one (21) calendar days of receipt of the investigative report.
- (b) Agencies shall consult with and provide updates to the OIG as requested and promptly produce any information related to a sexual harassment or retaliation complaint or report or the investigation upon the OIG's request.
- (c) Agencies shall, to the extent consistent with thorough investigation and with procedures outlined in this Policy, maintain confidentiality of information reported to the Agency. Complaints and reports of sexual harassment or retaliation, investigative reports, final determinations, and other related documents will be subject to disclosure under the Open Records Act upon completion of the investigation.

XI. Acknowledgement and Recordkeeping

(a) Agencies shall make this Policy available to all Covered Employees and retain documentation of each Covered Employee's acknowledgment of receipt of the Policy in his or her personnel file.

Page **6** of **7**

(b) All complaints and reports, investigative documents, policy acknowledgements, and records of training attendance shall be retained pursuant to the statewide record retention schedule and as otherwise required by law pursuant to specific requests for preservation.

Effective Date

This Policy becomes effective March 1, 2019 and may be revised as necessary.

Revision History

Version	Date
1.0	March 1, 2019

Appendix O - Progressive Compliance Policy

The following protocol outlined will be implemented to address any policy violation infractions that may result due to the non-compliance or non-adherence to the RBWO Minimum Standards, the Division's Child Welfare policies and other contractual obligations. The Progressive Compliance Policy process comprises of three phases.

Disclaimer: The Office of Provider Management maintains the exclusive right to move through or bypass various components of Phase One, Two or Three and/or any other components of the Progressive Compliance process as needed dependent on the severity of the non-compliance issue or concern at hand.

Phase One:

Phase one of the Progressive Compliance process is to provide our RBWO providers with the support and resources needed to identify and subsequently address any deficiencies or noncompliance issues that may arise while providing RBWO services to our children and youth in care.

<u>Technical Assistance</u> - When any deficiencies or policy violation infractions occur that indicate a need for intervention to circumvent further non-compliance with the RBWO Minimum Standards in any capacity, technical assistance will be provided:

- Technical assistance can include, but is not limited to, conducting a telephone conference to address any underlying issues and provide assistance in the form of resources, teaching, technical support, etc. in the area of concern to ensure the provider's progress and improvement in the identified area of need. Technical assistance may also include the completion of a site visit to provide hands on technical assistance with staff as needed to ensure a greater understanding and awareness of methods of decreasing the likeliness of further identified non-compliance concerns or issues.
- Technical assistance can be completed by any member or section of the Office of Provider Management team including the Monitoring, Risk Management, Resource Development or Training teams. Once a recurring non-compliance issue is identified and technical assistance has been provided, the type of technical assistance and what RBWO Minimum Standard violation issue that was addressed will be documented accordingly into GA+SCORE. This step will initiate Phase One of the Progressive Compliance process and will become a part of the RBWO provider's internal OPM History file.

Quality Improvement Plan (QIP) - A Quality Improvement Plan is a detailed work plan intended to enhance an organization's quality in a specific area. It includes essential information about how your organization will design, implement, and manage and assess quality. This plan should be developed by the utilization of S.M.A.R.T. goals and should result in the reduction of occurrence of further non-compliance in the specified area of concern.

- Once technical assistance pertaining to any identified deficiency, policy violation
 infraction or non-compliance issue is completed and documented in the provider's
 OPM History file, if the documented non-compliance issue arises again, a Quality
 Improvement Plan (QIP) will be requested for completion by the provider via
 GA+SCORE. The must be submitted via GA+SCORE.
- A QIP can only be requested when technical assistance has already been completed
 and documented in the provider's OPM History file for a given RBWO Minimum
 Standards non-compliance issue. Any occurrence of a newly identified compliance
 issue that does not pertain to the previous compliance issue will result in technical
 assistance being provided. A separate QIP will be requested for the newly identified
 compliance issue.
- If there is a re-occurrence and/or continuance of the identified RBWO non-compliance issue in which a Quality Improvement Plan has previously been completed and documented, the provider will enter Phase Two of the Progressive Compliance process to address the ongoing concern.
- The completion of all tasks outlined in the QIP will be monitored and tracked for progress by the Office of Provider Management every 30 days until the final completion of the QIP.

Phase Two:

Phase Two of the Progressive Compliance process is to assist providers with ensuring compliance with the Minimum Standards, the Division's Child Welfare policies and other contractual obligations through the utilization of corrective measures. This phase of the Progressive Compliance process serves as a means of decreasing the likelihood and reoccurrence of previously identified Minimum Standard non-compliance deficiencies while partnering to provide the necessary support in ensuring the understanding and comprehension of the Office of Provider Management's expectations and requirements.

<u>Telephone Conference</u> - The purpose of the telephone conference is to provide collaboration with the Office of Provider Management and the provider in providing the opportunity to collectively discuss the identified deficiencies and concerns, mitigate and discuss areas of improvement, and for the provider to provide suggestions and feedback on how they plan to address the identified concerns to prevent further re-occurrence.

- Depending on the severity of the identified non-compliance issue or concern, a
 telephone conference may be conducted following a repeat occurrence of an identified
 noncompliance issue which has already been addressed through the utilization of a
 Quality Improvement Plan.
- If a telephone conference is deemed to be warranted in lieu of an office conference, the telephone conference will be documented in the GA+SCORE database and incorporated into the provider's internal OPM History file.

Office Conference - The purpose of the office conference is to provide collaboration with the Office of Provider Management and the provider in providing the opportunity to collectively discuss the identified deficiencies and concerns, mitigate and discuss areas of improvement, and for the provider to provide suggestions and feedback on how they plan to address the identified concerns to prevent further re-occurrence.

- If the severity of the RBWO non-compliance issue arises immediate concerns regarding the safety, well-being and/or permanency of the services being rendered to care for our children and youth, an office conference will be scheduled in lieu of a telephone conference to further discuss the identified concerns.
- The office conference will be documented and become a part of the provider's internal OPM History file. A Letter of Concern will be issued and a Corrective Action Plan (CAP) will be requested for completion.
- Depending on the nature of the concerns identified and discussed during the office conference, OPM reserves the exclusive right to request changes to the provider's contract to remedy or address the identified non-compliance concerns including, but not limited to: a decrease in the provider's capacity, changes to the provider's program designation approvals, recommended trainings to be completed by the provider's staff as needed, an admission suspension or any other measures as deemed warranted to reduce the likelihood of further non-compliance to the Minimum Standards, the Division's Child Welfare policy and other contractual obligations.

<u>Letter of Concern</u> - The Letter of Concern (LOC) comprises of a summarization of the various events that occurred leading up to the office conference. The Letter of Concern will also include a summary of the deficiencies found and a formalized request for the completion of a Corrective Action Plan (CAP) to address the identified non-compliance issues and concerns in a means of reducing and minimizing issues pertaining to the safety, well-being and permanency of our children and youth in care.

- The Letter of Concern will be submitted to the provider by the provider's corresponding Monitoring Manager or Provider Relations Manager via email on certified letterhead.
- The Letter of Concern will also be documented and uploaded into the GA+SCORE database and will be incorporated into the provider's internal OPM History file.

<u>Corrective Action Plan</u> - The Corrective Action Plan (CAP) serves as a means for the provider to develop a highly detailed and thorough plan regarding their strategy to address and minimize the occurrence of the identified concern or non-compliance issue found. This plan should be developed by the utilization of S.M.A.R.T. goals and should result in the reduction of occurrence of further non-compliance in the specified area of concern.

- The Corrective Action Plan must be submitted by the provider by the requested deadline via GA+SCORE. Once approved, the Corrective Action Plan will be uploaded into the GA+SCORE database and will become a part of the RBWO provider's internal OPM History file.
- The duration of a CAP that is implemented due to ongoing non-compliance to the Minimum Standards and/or contractual obligations as a part of the Progressive Discipline process is up to a duration of six months.
- During the time period in which the provider is under the CAP, the monitoring and supervision of the provider will be increased to ensure the ongoing progression of resolving of the identified non-compliance deficiencies in order to reduce the likelihood of further re-occurrence. The completion of all tasks outlined in the CAP

- will be monitored and tracked for progress by OPM every 30 days until the final completion of the CAP.
- Dependent upon the nature and severity of the identified concerns, the provider may be placed on an admission suspension (the inability to accept any new placements) in addition to CAP completion.

<u>Involuntary Admission Suspension</u> – An admission suspension consists of the inability of the provider of accepting any new additional placements. An admission suspension may or may not include a request to remove all placements at the time of request dependent on the severity.

- During a provider admission suspension, no new child(ren) or youth admissions can be made with the provider until the suspension is authorized for release. If it is found that further placements or admissions of children and youth into a provider program has been made at any time throughout the implemented admissions suspension period, further corrective measures may be taken by OPM including or up to the removal of placements.
- Any suspension on the admission of children and youth into a provider program will be documented in the GA+SCORE database and will be incorporated into the provider's internal OPM History file.

Disclaimer: The Office of Provider Management maintains the exclusive right to recommend the immediate removal of any children or youth placed at a given RBWO provider program as a part of the suspension request if deemed warranted due to the severity or nature of a RBWO noncompliance issue or concern at hand.

Contract Termination:

- At any point, the Office of Provider Management maintains the exclusive right to recommend and proceed with contract termination dependent upon the severity and/or nature of any given violation of the Minimum Standards, the Division's Child Welfare policy, contractual obligations or other non-compliance issue or concern.
- Once a provider has been placed on an involuntary admissions suspension due to an
 identified non-compliance concern and have been placed on an admissions suspension
 for six months or more, OPM will consider contract termination with the provider if
 the ongoing suspension is due to continued failure to resolve or address identified
 noncompliance issues or failure to comply or adhere to the provider's proposed
 Corrective Action Plan.

Phase Three:

- A S.B.A.R. (Situation, Background, Assessment, Recommendation) will be completed once OPM determines that a provider's contract will be terminated.
- The SBAR will consist of a summarization of the history of the provider's deficiency issues including, but not limited to, a history of all technical assistance provided, letter of concerns, summary of policy violations, PBP scores, staffing concerns, physical plant concerns, and any past involuntary admission suspensions.

• The S.B.A.R. will be staffed with the Caregiver Coordination Section Director and legal team prior to contract termination finalization.

APPENDIX P

1.1.SOCIAL MEDIA FAQ

Can I post pictures of my child in care on social media? Children in foster care cannot be photographed for newspaper articles, Facebook or any other social media outlet, or a publication where their identities may be publicized. It is the policy of the Division of Family and Children Services (DFCS) that foster parents/relative caregivers do not post any pictures of a foster child in their care online. It is important to never reveal personal information about your foster child on the internet as you risk jeopardizing his/her identity, safety and right to privacy.

Can I talk about my child in care to another parent (foster or other) who is seeking advice online? You can share advice, but discussing confidential information about your foster child is a violation of policy. When you need input from other parents, or vice versa, please only describe the situation in general terms. Discussing information beyond that is a breach of the child's confidentiality and could put him/her at risk.

How can I protect my child in care's privacy if I have to send an email to his teacher about his behavior, for example? Respecting the confidentiality of your foster child is vital. It is important to communicate with your foster child's teacher(s) so they can address his/her immediate needs while still keeping their information confidential.

Why should I monitor my child in care's activities on the internet? While the internet is a great source of information and an integral part of your child's education and development, it also has many risks. As a parent, being aware of the dangers of the internet is necessary.

How do I help my child in care use the internet safely? Cable and mobile phone providers offer the option of setting up parental controls. With these, you are able to restrict the sites your child can browse. This will prohibit him/her from viewing inappropriate content. For additional information, please refer to the guidance provided on this tip sheet: https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubPDFs/smtips_parent.pdf.

What can I do at home to encourage positive behavior on the internet? It is recommended that you model positive behavior when using social media. Some examples include: browsing the internet with your child to teach him/her about what is and isn't appropriate; talking with your child about various websites, just as you would talk about TV shows, video games and movies that are/aren't allowed; establishing boundaries by designating a family computer, tablet or mobile phone with rules to follow and scheduled times for use; setting up computers in common areas where activity can be easily monitored.

How to support youth while promoting positive social media opportunities:

Today, allowing youth in foster care to use social media is important as it provides a sense of normalcy for them and allows them to grow relationships with their peers (most of whom use social media daily, too). It is important to model appropriate social media use – including etiquette, language and post content. Sharing this tip sheet with your youth https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubPDFs/smtips_youth.pdf provides guidance on how they can stay safe while using social media.

LAST UPDATE – MARCH 2017 STATE OF GEORGIA FOSTER PARENT MANUAL

101